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The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) is intended to assist readers in understanding
Altus Group Limited (the “Company” or “Altus”), its business environment, strategies, performance and the risk
factors of Altus. It should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes
(the “financial statements”) of Altus for the year ended December 31, 2011, which have been prepared on the basis
of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and reported in Canadian dollars. Unless otherwise
indicated herein, references to “$” are to Canadian dollars.
The amounts in this MD&A and the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2011 reflect the adoption of IFRS, effective from January 1, 2010 (the “transition date”). Periods prior to
January 1, 2010 have not been restated and are prepared in accordance with Canadian Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles (“Canadian GAAP”). Refer to Note 5 of the consolidated financial statements for a summary
and reconciliation of the differences between the consolidated financial statements previously prepared under
Canadian GAAP and those under IFRS for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Unless the context indicates otherwise, all references to “Altus”, the “Company”, “we”, “us”, “our” or similar
terms refer to Altus Group Limited and, as applicable, its predecessor, Altus Group Income Fund (the ”Fund”).
On January 1, 2011, the Fund completed a plan of arrangement which converted the Fund from an income trust
structure into a corporation. The figures and commentary for the comparative periods prior to January 1, 2011 are
those of the Fund.
This MD&A is dated as of March 14, 2012.

Forward‐Looking Information
Certain information in this MD&A may constitute “forward‐looking information” within the meaning of
applicable securities legislation. Generally, forward‐looking information can be identified by use of
words such as “may”, “will”, “expect”, “believe”, “plan”, “would”, “could” and other similar
terminology. Inherent in the forward‐looking information are known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other factors which could cause actual results, performance or achievements of the Company, or
industry results, to differ materially from any results, performance or achievements expressed or implied
by such forward‐looking information. Those risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the forward‐looking information include: general state of the economy;
competition in the industry; ability to attract and retain professionals; integration of acquisitions;
dependence on oil and gas sector; dependence on Canadian multi‐residential market; customer
concentration; currency risk; interest rate risk; reliance on larger software transactions with longer and
less predictable sales cycles; success of new product introductions; ability to respond to technological
change and develop products on a timely basis; ability to maintain profitability and manage growth;
revenue and cash flow volatility; credit risk; protection of intellectual property or defending against
claims of intellectual property rights of others; weather; fixed‐price and contingency engagements;
operating risks; performance of obligations/maintenance of client satisfaction; appraisal mandates;
legislative and regulatory changes; risk of future legal proceedings; insurance limits; income tax matters;
ability to meet solvency requirements to pay dividends; leverage and restrictive covenants;
unpredictability and volatility of common share price; capital investment; and issuance of additional
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common shares diluting existing shareholders’ interests, as well as those described in Altus’ publicly filed
documents, including the Annual Information Form (which are available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com)
and in this document under “Key Factors Affecting the Business”. Given these risks, uncertainties and
other factors, investors should not place undue reliance on forward‐looking information as a prediction
of actual results. The forward‐looking information reflects the Company’s and management’s current
expectations and beliefs regarding future events and operating performance and is based on information
currently available to management. Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward‐looking information contained
herein, there are other factors that could cause results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. The
forward‐looking information contained herein is current as of the date of this MD&A and, except as
required under applicable law, Altus does not undertake to update or revise it to reflect new events or
circumstances. Additionally, Altus undertakes no obligation to comment on analyses, expectations or
statements made by third parties in respect of Altus, its financial or operating results, or its securities.

Non‐IFRS Measures
The Company uses certain non‐IFRS measures as indicators of financial performance. Readers are
cautioned that they are not defined performance measures under IFRS and may differ from similar
computations as reported by other similar entities and, accordingly, may not be comparable to financial
measures as reported by those entities. The Company believes that these measures are useful
supplemental measures that may assist investors in assessing an investment in shares of the Company
and provides more insight into our performance.
Adjusted Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization, (“Adjusted EBITDA”),
represents operating profit (loss) adjusted for the effect of amortization of intangibles, depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, acquisition related expenses (income), restructuring costs, corporation
conversion and legal reorganization costs, share of profit or loss of associate, unrealized foreign exchange
gains (losses), gains (losses) on sale of property, plant and equipment, asset impairments, the effect of
stock options and other equity‐settled performance plans, gains (losses) on hedging transactions and
other expenses or income of a non‐operating and/or non‐recurring nature. Refer to pages 15 and 21 for
reconciliations of Adjusted EBITDA.
Adjusted Earnings (Loss) per Share/Unit, (“Adjusted EPS”), represents basic earnings per share/unit
adjusted for the effect of amortization of intangibles acquired as part of business acquisitions, non‐cash
finance costs (income) related to the revaluation of unitholders’ liabilities, distributions on unitholders’
liabilities, acquisition related expenses (income), restructuring costs, corporate conversion and legal
reorganization costs, share of profit or loss of associate, unrealized foreign exchange gains (losses), gains
(losses) on sale of property, plant and equipment, interest accretion on vendor payables, asset
impairments, the effect of stock options and other equity‐settled performance plans, gains (losses) on
hedging transactions and other expenses or income of a non‐operating and/or non‐recurring nature. All
of the adjustments are made net of tax. Refer to pages 18 and 22 for reconciliations of Adjusted EPS.
Management’s definition of Adjusted EPS has been modified in the fourth quarter of 2011 to include
adjustments relating to share of profit or loss of associate, unrealized foreign exchange gains (losses),
gains (losses) on sale of property, plant and equipment and to adjust for the effect of amortization on
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intangibles acquired as part of business acquisitions only. These modifications were made to align the
Adjusted EPS definition with that of Adjusted EBITDA.
Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation, Amortization and Non‐Controlling Interest,
(“EBITDA”), represents revenue less disbursements, salaries, general and administrative expenses but
before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, non‐controlling interest and equity accounted earnings
(loss). This non‐GAAP measure was used in 2009.

Overview of the Business
Altus is a leading multidisciplinary provider of independent real estate consulting, professional advisory
services, technical services and front‐office and back‐office commercial real estate software applications
and e‐business solutions. The Company conducts its business through five business units: Research,
Valuation & Advisory; Cost Consulting & Project Management; Realty Tax Consulting; Geomatics; and
Argus Software. Each business unit is considered a leader within its specific market. The Company
operates in four geographic regions: Canada, the United States (the “US”), the United Kingdom (the
“UK”) and the Asia Pacific region (“Asia Pacific”).
Altus Group Limited was formed by way of a plan of arrangement under the Business Corporations Act
(Ontario) pursuant to an information circular dated November 8, 2010, whereby Altus Group Income
Fund was converted from an unincorporated open‐ended limited purpose trust into a corporate structure
(the “Corporate Conversion”). The Corporate Conversion through a series of transactions involved the
exchange, on a one‐for‐one basis, of the units of the Fund (the “Fund Units”) and the Class B limited
partnership units of Altus Group Limited Partnership (“Altus LP”) for common shares of the Company.
As a result of this reorganization, Altus LP, Altus Operating Trust and the Fund were liquidated and
dissolved. The effective date of the Corporate Conversion was January 1, 2011. The Company continues
to operate the business of the Fund.
Research, Valuation & Advisory (“RVA”)
The valuation of office, retail, industrial and multi‐residential properties occurs on a regular basis in the
real estate industry as a result of acquisitions, dispositions, new financings, covenants of existing
financings, expropriation and/or litigation, IFRS requirements and general portfolio management.
Research is central to the valuation process and research‐based product offerings are becoming
significant complements to our service portfolio. RVA offers database management, analysis of lease and
sale transaction data and provision of customized services, such as impact analysis of mergers on office
space demand, consolidation of tenant rosters and lease expiry schedules, feasibility analysis, occupancy
strategies, asset benchmarking and vacancy forecasts.
Cost Consulting & Project Management (“Cost”)
Accurate and reliable cost consulting and project management is integral to the financial success of a
capital development project. Given the significant fluctuation in construction and development costs,
property developers and owners rely on cost consulting specialists to obtain the most efficient cost
structure for their property development projects and to understand and manage the risks associated
with the development cost side of real estate. In addition, within the cost consulting group, services such

3

Altus Group Limited
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2011
as capital planning, physical condition assessments and infrastructure services assist clients with ongoing
solutions to develop and maintain the long‐term financial stability of their assets, both vertical and linear.
Project Management covers the four main phases of a development project: initiation and concept;
planning and development; implementation and execution; and handover and evaluation.
Realty Tax Consulting (“Realty Tax”)
Property tax is typically the largest cost in property ownership after debt‐service. Realty tax regimes vary
significantly between provincial, state and local jurisdictions. Given the magnitude and complexity of this
expense, property managers and owners are increasingly seeking professional expertise to manage and
help reduce operating costs across multiple jurisdictions. Equipped with a full spectrum of real estate tax
consulting services, this unit includes assessment appeal (including expert witness) services, tax due
diligence, vacancy rebate counsel, new construction/preliminary property assessment studies as well as
on‐going property tax management and budgeting.
Geomatics
Geomatics is the practice of recording and managing spatially referenced information, including land
surveying, geographic information systems (“GIS”), global positioning systems (“GPS”) and light
detection and ranging (“LIDAR”). Land surveys and geomatics services are fundamental to the
ownership and management of land: setting property boundaries, confirming route and corridor
selection, land settlement surveys, mapping, construction and well site surveys, and oilfield surveys. This
team of professionals, based in Western Canada, is engaged primarily in the exploration and
development activity in the oil and gas sector, as well as in pipeline and utility corridors, land
development and municipal sectors.
Argus Software
Argus Software offers software and solutions for analysis and management of commercial real estate
investments. Clients depend on Argus software to support critical business processes and decisions,
including real estate asset management, valuation, portfolio management, budgeting, forecasting,
reporting and lease management solutions.
Geographic Coverage
As at December 31, 2011, Altus had operations in over 60 cities across Canada, the US, the UK and Asia
Pacific. Consultants included: 365 advisory staff members in RVA; 486 consultants in Cost; 289 advisory
staff members in Realty Tax; and 423 professional and technical staff members in Geomatics. Argus
Software had a total of 112 staff members.
Clients
Altus’ clients include banking institutions, pension funds, insurance companies, accounting firms, public
real estate organizations (including real estate investment trusts) and industrial companies, as well as
foreign and domestic private investors, asset and fund managers, real estate developers, governmental
institutions and firms in the oil and gas sector.
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Business Focus
The decision by Altus to acquire Realm Solutions Inc. (“Realm”) and its related technology products
under the Argus brand (the “Argus acquisition”) represented a transformative strategic acquisition for
Altus. Altus expects this investment to complement and expand its portfolio of existing services with
state‐of‐the‐art software solutions and data‐based analytics.
Having completed the Argus acquisition during the second quarter of 2011, Altus management is now
focused on:





integrating client‐facing capabilities and products of Argus in order to broaden Altus’ range of
data and analytic services;
internally utilizing Argus Software solutions within Altus’ business units to better service its
clients;
generating more revenue and improving operating margins in its existing businesses; and
aggressively paying down debt and solidifying Altus’ capital structure.

Operating Highlights
Revenue from professional services is fee‐based and Altus is typically engaged on either an hourly‐based,
fixed‐price or contingency‐based arrangement. Altus is usually retained on a project‐by‐project basis,
although some clients have annual or multi‐year arrangements for the provision of services. Revenue
generated from software sales is based on license fees, support and maintenance fees and/or related
training and consulting services.
The Company’s largest operating expense is compensation, including salaries, performance‐based
bonuses, benefits and payroll taxes.
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Selected Financial Information

For the year ended December 31,

In thousands of dollars, except for per share/unit amounts

2011

2010

2009 (1)

(audited)

(audited)

(audited)

Operations
Revenues

$

Adjusted EBITDA

$

39,205

EBITDA

252,457

$

219,766

36,909

‐

‐

‐

33,234

(8,561)

1,138

‐

(18,310)

(9,272)

3,388

$(0.80)
$(0.80)
$0.52

$(0.46)
$(0.46)
$1.17

$0.18
$0.18
‐

$0.75

$1.20

$1.20

At December 31,
2011
(audited)

At December 31,
2010
(audited)

At December 31,
2009 (1)
(audited)

$

$

$

Operating profit (loss)
Profit (loss)
Earnings (loss) per share/unit:
Basic
Diluted
Adjusted
Dividends/distributions declared per share/unit
(1)

301,158

Amounts are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

Balance sheet
Total assets
Long‐term liabilities (excluding deferred income taxes)
(1)

466,470
236,419

364,089
180,606

339,448
83,602

Amounts are presented in accordance with Canadian GAAP.

2009
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2009 increased 4.9% compared to 2008, of which approximately
16.1% is attributable to revenue from acquisitions in 2009 and a full 12 months of revenue from the 2008
acquisitions. EBITDA for this period was $33.2 million, a margin of 15.1%, and profit (loss) was $3.4
million. Distributions to unitholders, on a diluted basis, were $25.8 million or $1.20 per unit for an
adjusted payout ratio of 84.4%.
All business acquisitions that took place in 2009 have been accounted for under Canadian GAAP and
have not been restated under IFRS. Total consideration for the 2009 acquisitions was $39.7 million
including the issue of 758,144 Fund Units and 130,909 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units:


On May 1, 2009, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Suvius Inc. (“Suvius”) for
approximately $5.1 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the Fund
issued 130,909 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. Suvius provided administrative
and field services support to Lennon Trilogy Professional Land Surveyors (“Lennon Trilogy”).
Geomatics will continue to provide administrative and field services support to Lennon Trilogy.



On July 31, 2009, the Fund indirectly acquired shares in certain businesses carried on by the Page
Kirkland Group (“Page Kirkland”) for approximately $34.6 million, subject to adjustments. As partial
consideration for such shares, the Fund issued 758,144 Fund Units. A holdback of $14.3 million
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Australian Dollars is due within a two to three year period subject to certain performance targets
being achieved. At the acquisition date, the discounted Canadian Dollar amount of the holdback was
$9.5 million. Page Kirkland operated in eight countries across Asia Pacific and in Hawaii, providing
services including cost management, project management, asset and facilities management and
development management.
On April 30, 2009, the Fund increased its investment in Solidifi Inc. (“Solidifi”) by $3.0 million to achieve
19.55% interest in the company. Solidifi is a leading provider of single family residential appraisals,
collateral risk management and data analytic services to the North American financial services industry.
Solidifi provides customers with a flexible service platform for procuring collateral valuation, data
solutions, and other real estate services from marketplace vendors and appraisers, with complete
transparency and data to make “incredibly smart decisions”.
Effective July 31, 2009, the Fund amended its bank credit facilities, increasing the total amount of the bank
credit facilities from $82.5 million to $100.4 million over the remaining term. The Revolving Operating
Facility increased from $7.5 million to $12.5 million and the Revolving Term Facility increased from $75.0
million to $87.9 million. The amendment also resulted in an increase in the applicable margin over the
floating rate, with margins ranging from 0.5% to 2.75% depending on the funded debt to EBITDA ratio
and facility used.
2010
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2010 increased 14.9% compared to 2009, of which
approximately 13.1% is attributable to revenue from acquisitions in 2010 and a full 12 months of revenue
from the 2009 acquisitions. Adjusted EBITDA for this period was $36.9 million, a margin of 14.6%, and
profit (loss) was $(9.3) million. Distributions declared to unitholders were $26.8 million or $1.20 per unit.
Total net consideration for the three acquisitions in 2010 was $18.8 million including the issue of 175,778
Fund Units and 9,868 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units:


On June 1, 2010, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Brazos Tax Group LLP
(“Brazos”) for approximately $1.7 million, subject to adjustments. Two holdbacks of US$0.1 million
each are due on the first and second anniversary of the acquisition. Another holdback of US$0.4
million is due on the second anniversary of the acquisition subject to certain performance targets
being achieved. Additionally, the Fund entered into non‐compete arrangements with certain key
employees for a consideration of $0.3 million, which was settled through the issuance of 20,886 Fund
Units and a holdback amounting to US$0.1 million, subject to certain performance targets being
achieved. Brazos was a US‐based property tax company providing services such as business and
personal property tax compliance and appeals, real estate valuation appeals and property tax
payment administration and due diligence.



On July 2, 2010, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of Peters Surveys Ltd. (“Peters”)
for approximately $0.7 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the
Fund issued 9,868 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. The asset purchase agreement
with Peters provided for a maximum contingent consideration of $1.0 million payable, subject to
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certain performance targets being achieved. At the acquisition date, the Fund determined the fair
value of the contingent consideration to be paid and included $0.6 million in the purchase price. The
discounted amount of this contingent consideration was $0.5 million. Additionally, the Company
entered into non‐compete arrangements with certain key employees for consideration of $0.3 million,
which was settled in cash. Peters was a professional land surveying and planning firm, providing a
broad range of geomatic services within the province of Saskatchewan, Canada.


On July 30, 2010, the Fund indirectly acquired certain business assets of PricewaterhouseCoopersʹ US‐
based Real Estate Appraisal Management Practice (“PwC Appraisal Management Practice”) for
approximately $16.4 million, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the
Fund issued 175,778 Fund Units. The agreement provides for an additional purchase payment if the
average annual EBITDA over three years exceeds a threshold of US$3.475 million. A multiple of four
times is payable on the first excess amount of US$3.525 million and four and half times thereafter.
The Company has estimated the contingent consideration to be US$6.8 million based on an average
annual EBITDA of US$5.2 million. The Canadian Dollar equivalent that has been included in the
purchase price as contingent consideration on a discounted basis is $5.3 million. The agreement also
provides for a downward adjustment to the purchase price if the average annual EBITDA falls below
US$3.475 million in which case the adjustment will be determined by multiplying the shortfall by
four to a maximum value equivalent to the 236,204 shares held in escrow. Additionally, the Company
entered into non‐compete arrangements with certain key employees for consideration of $0.8 million,
which was settled by the issuance of 60,426 Fund Units. The PwC Appraisal Management Practice
provided comprehensive valuation consulting and analytic services to a roster of global clients
through a national practice operated from offices in Jersey City, Houston, Irvine and Atlanta in the
US.

Included in the total consideration for the Page Kirkland acquisition was a holdback of $9.5 million,
which would only be paid to the vendors if certain performance targets were achieved over a two to three
year period. During the fourth quarter of 2010, the carrying amount was reversed with a corresponding
adjustment to acquisition related expenses (income) as it was determined that the performance targets
were not likely to be achieved.
On July 23, 2010, the Fund increased its investment in Solidifi to approximately 23.6% of the outstanding
shares. On July 29, 2010, Solidifi changed its name to Real Matters Inc. (“Real Matters”) which has
Solidifi, the appraisal management solutions business, as one of its wholly owned subsidiaries. Real
Matters is the leading provider of property information services in North America. It fuses unique data
gathered from a network of more than 17,000 field agents with the technological power of its cloud‐based
redihiveTM environment to propel the next generation of businesses that provide insight into residential
and commercial properties. Real Matters currently serves leading global financial institutions and is
located in Chicago, Toronto, Montreal and Calgary.
Effective October 28, 2010, the Fund amended its bank credit facilities, increasing the Revolving Term
Facility from $87.9 million to $97.9 million over the remaining term.
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On December 1, 2010, the Fund completed the issuance of $50.0 million convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures (“Canadian convertible debentures”) with a maturity date of December 31,
2017. The Canadian convertible debentures bear interest at a rate of 5.75% per annum, and are payable
semi‐annually on June 30 and December 31 each year. Each Canadian convertible debenture is
convertible into Fund Units at the option of the holder at a conversion price of $18.60 per Fund Unit at
any time after January 3, 2011 and prior to the close of business on the earlier of December 31, 2017 and
the business day immediately preceding the date fixed for redemption. In connection with the Corporate
Conversion, the Company assumed all of the obligations of the Fund relating to the outstanding
Canadian convertible debentures. The Canadian convertible debentures have become convertible
unsecured subordinated debentures of the Company and holders are entitled to receive common shares
of the Company, rather than Fund Units, at the same conversion price at which the Units were previously
issuable upon conversion.
2011
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2011 increased 19.3% compared to 2010, of which
approximately 10.9% is attributable to revenue from the acquisition in 2011 and a full 12 months of
revenue from the 2010 acquisitions. Adjusted EBITDA for this period was $39.2 million, a margin of
13.0%, and profit (loss) was $(18.3) million. Dividends declared to shareholders were $0.75 per share.
On June 1, 2011, the Company indirectly acquired 100% of the shares of Realm, owner of Argus software,
for aggregate consideration of approximately $126.4 million, subject to adjustments. The consideration
paid to the vendors included a cash payment of US$80.0 million, convertible unsecured subordinated
debentures issued by the Company to certain shareholders of Realm in the principal amount of US$49.4
million (the “US convertible debentures”) and US$0.5 million of options to purchase common shares of
the Company. For a description of the conversion and other features related to the US convertible
debentures, refer to the “Liquidity and Capital Resources” section.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company settled the contingent consideration payable
with respect to the Peters acquisition, of which a portion was settled through the issuance of 47,161
common shares of the Company.
As a result of the Corporate Conversion, the Company amended its bank credit facilities effective January
1, 2011. The amended bank credit facilities have a revised maturity date of December 31, 2015. The
Revolving Operating Facility limit was increased from $12.5 million to $20.0 million. The Revolving Term
Facility limit was increased from $97.9 million to $110.0 million, with certain provisions that allow the
Company to increase the limit further to $150.0 million. Further amendments were made to the bank
credit facilities effective June 1, 2011 in connection with the Argus acquisition. While the Revolving Term
Facility limit remained unchanged at $110.0 million, certain amendments were made that allow the
Company to increase the limit further to $160.0 million. A Non‐Revolving Reducing Term Facility of
$40.0 million was also established in order to finance the Argus acquisition. Interest rates continue to be
based on the Canadian Prime rate, Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rates, US Base rates or LIBOR rates
plus, in each case, an applicable margin to those rates. The margin ranges from 1.0% to 3.75% depending
on the calculation of the funded debt to EBITDA ratio and the facility used.
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On February 25, 2011, the Company invested in a $1.0 million convertible note receivable issued by Real
Matters. During the three month period ended June 30, 2011, the Company exercised its option to convert
the convertible note receivable into common shares of Real Matters at the predetermined conversion price
of $1.7848 per share. As at December 31, 2011, the Company holds 24.16% of the equity in Real Matters.

Discussion of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2011
Year ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars, except for per share/unit amounts

2011

2010

(audited)

(audited)

Revenues
Revenues
Less: disbursements
Net revenue

$

301,158

$

252,457

34,239

25,352

266,919

227,105

Expenses
Employee compensation

180,887

157,953

Occupancy

13,060

11,478

Office and other operating

40,028

26,868

Depreciation and amortization

23,781

25,811

Acquisition related expenses (income)

2,924

(12,445)

Share of (profit) loss of associate

1,073

1,086

89

1,216

4,403

‐

Corporate conversion and legal reorganization costs
Restructuring costs

9,235

14,000

Operating profit (loss)

Impairment charge

(8,561)

1,138

Finance costs (income), net

11,436

12,923

Profit (loss) before income tax

(19,997)

(11,785)

Income tax expense (recovery)

(1,687)

(2,513)

(18,310)

(9,272)

Profit (loss) for the year

Revenues were $301.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 19.3% or $48.7 million from
$252.5 million in 2010. Organic growth represented 8.4% of total revenue growth for the year ended
December 31, 2011, mainly due to higher revenues from Geomatics, North America Cost and North
America RVA. Acquisition related growth represented 10.9% of total revenue growth, resulting from the
2011 Argus acquisition and the 2010 acquisitions of Brazos, Peters and the PwC Appraisal Management
Practice.
Adjusted EBITDA was $39.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 6.2% or $2.3 million from
$36.9 million in 2010. The increase was mainly due to higher contributions from Geomatics, North
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America RVA, North America Cost and acquisitions, partially offset by lower Adjusted EBITDA from the
UK, Asia Pacific Cost and higher corporate costs.
Loss for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $18.3 million and included $2.9 million in acquisition
related costs and $4.4 million in restructuring costs.
The rationalizing of global Cost operations to improve efficiencies and enhance profitability continued
throughout 2011.

Revenues
Year ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars
North America RVA

$

2011

2010

(audited)

(audited)

% Change

54,905

21.3%

66,600

$

North America Realty Tax

53,520

54,616

(2.0%)

North America Cost

41,652

35,379

17.7%

North America Geomatics

64,489

51,603

25.0%

Argus Software

16,634

‐

100.0%

19,641

23,464

(16.3%)

UK
Asia Pacific Cost
Revenues
(1)

38,622

(1)

$

301,158

$

32,490

18.9%

252,457

19.3%

Includes Hawaii

North America RVA
Revenue was $66.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 21.3% or $11.7 million from $54.9
million in 2010. Organic growth represented 5.0% of the total revenue, while the 2010 acquisition of the
PwC Appraisal Management Practice represented 16.3% of incremental revenues. Higher transaction
volumes in the real estate market supported growth in Canadian advisory services. Additionally, RVA
experienced growth in litigation support and due diligence work. Growth in US operations resulted from
new client additions.
North America Realty Tax
Revenue was $53.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, down 2.0% or $1.1 million from $54.6
million in 2010. Revenue decline was offset by incremental growth of 1.2% resulting from the 2010
acquisition of Brazos. The decline was due to lower revenues in Alberta and Manitoba, partially offset by
higher revenues in Montreal. Procedural changes employed by municipal boards in Alberta caused a
deferral in assessment finalizations. In Manitoba, 2010 represented the peak of a two year assessment
cycle.
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North America Cost
Revenue was $41.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 17.7% or $6.3 million from $35.4
million in 2010. All growth was organic and mainly due to higher revenues in infrastructure services and
increased license, maintenance and subcontractor fees in capital planning.
North America Geomatics
Revenue was $64.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 25.0% or $12.9 million from $51.6
million in 2010. Organic growth for the year was 22.8% and acquisition growth was 2.2%. The robust
organic growth was driven by continued strength in the Alberta oil and gas industry.
Argus Software
Revenue was $16.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, which represents seven months of
operations. Included in revenues were unfavourable fair value adjustments to acquired deferred revenue
of $0.7 million. Acquisition accounting requires the book value of deferred revenue at the time of
acquisition to be written down to its fair value. Consequently, the amount of deferred revenue being
recognized as revenue is discounted by the value of this adjustment. A large transaction related to the
licensing of the new Argus Enterprise product suite (“Argus Enterprise”) was completed in the fourth
quarter. Included in revenues are license fees related to the new Argus Enterprise platform as well as
maintenance revenues related to legacy products.
UK
Revenue was $19.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, down 16.3% or $3.8 million from $23.5
million in 2010. The decline was the result of continuing poor economic conditions across the principal
business lines including realty tax, cost and agency.
Asia Pacific Cost
Revenue was $38.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 18.9% or $6.1 million from $32.5
million in 2010. The increase was primarily due to higher revenues in China, Hong Kong, Australia and
Hawaii, partially offset by lower revenues in Thailand, Singapore and Vietnam. As part of the global Cost
restructuring, Dubai, Singapore and India will be rationalized and operations will be wound up upon
completion of existing projects.
Disbursements, including subcontractor costs, represent expenses directly related to the provision of
services to a client. Consistent with most professional services firms, these costs are billed back to the
client. Disbursements were $34.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 35.1% or $8.8 million
from $25.4 million in 2010. Higher disbursements were mainly due to increases in the volume of work in
Geomatics, North America Cost and Asia Pacific Cost, partially offset by reduced payments to Deloitte
Canada of $0.4 million for files in progress at the time of the acquisition of the Deloitte Canada Property
Tax practice (the “Deloitte acquisition”). For the year ended December 31, 2011, disbursements as a ratio
to revenue increased to 11.4% from 10.0% in 2010.
Employee Compensation was $180.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 14.5% or $22.9
million from $158.0 million in 2010. The Argus acquisition and the 2010 acquisitions of Brazos, Peters and
the PwC Appraisal Management Practice represented 9.7% of the increase in employee compensation.
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The remaining increase was due to additional staffing to support growth in Geomatics, China,
infrastructure services and RVA services in the US in the amount of approximately $9.5 million and
executive severance costs in the amount of $3.5 million, offset by Scientific Research and Experimental
Development (“SRED”) and Ontario Media tax credits, as well as lower executive compensation plan
costs of $5.3 million. For the year ended December 31, 2011, employee compensation as a percentage of
revenues decreased to 60.1% from 62.6% in 2010.
Occupancy was $13.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 13.8% or $1.6 million from $11.5
million in 2010. The increase was mainly due to temporary duplicate occupancy costs associated with the
Toronto office consolidation of $1.1 million and additional facility costs from acquisitions of $0.9 million,
partially offset by lower occupancy costs of $0.4 million related primarily to office closures. For the year
ended December 31, 2011, occupancy as a percentage of revenues decreased to 4.3% from 4.5% in 2010.
Office and Other Operating costs were $40.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 49.0% or
$13.1 million from $26.9 million in 2010. Incremental costs from acquired businesses represented 22.0% of
the increase from 2010. Other increases in office and other operating costs were the result of higher bad
debt provisions of $3.3 million, unrealized foreign exchange losses of $2.9 million mainly due to US
convertible debentures, higher moving costs relating to the Toronto office move of $0.4 million and
higher business development costs of $0.6 million, partially reduced by a gain derived from a foreign
exchange hedging transaction of $0.8 million. For the year ended December 31, 2011, office and other
operating costs as a percentage of revenues increased to 13.3% from 10.5% in 2010.

Adjusted EBITDA (1)
Year ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars
North America RVA

$

North America Realty Tax
North America Cost
North America Geomatics
Argus Software
UK
Asia Pacific Cost

(2)

Corporate
Adjusted EBITDA
(1)
(2)

$

2011

2010

(audited)

(audited)

% Change

9,610

35.9%

14,575

17,452

(16.5%)

7,566

7,066

7.1%

15,299

9,449

61.9%

3,160

‐

100.0%

3,333

6,710

(50.3%)

(2,759)

(2,181)

(26.5%)

(15,026)

(11,197)

(34.2%)

36,909

6.2%

13,057

39,205

$

$

Refer to page 15 for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA
Includes Hawaii

North America RVA
Adjusted EBITDA was $13.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 35.9% or $3.5 million from
$9.6 million in 2010. The 2010 acquisition of the PwC Appraisal Management Practice represented 17.9%
of incremental Adjusted EBITDA. Organic growth of 18.0% was derived from our Canadian as well as US
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operations. Growth in Canada was primarily due to higher revenues and benefits from SRED credits as
well as Ontario Media tax credits, partially offset by an executive severance cost of $0.7 million. Growth
in the US was mainly due to new customer additions.
North America Realty Tax
Adjusted EBITDA was $14.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, down 16.5% or $2.9 million
from $17.5 million in 2010. The decrease was primarily due to lower revenues of $1.1 million, higher
employee compensation as a result of additional headcount and higher office and other operating costs of
$1.6 million, partially offset by lower subcontractor costs related to the Deloitte acquisition.
North America Cost
Adjusted EBITDA was $7.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 7.1% or $0.5 million from
$7.1 million in 2010. The increase was mainly the result of improved results within infrastructure services
and capital planning.
North America Geomatics
Adjusted EBITDA was $15.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 61.9% or $5.9 million from
$9.4 million in 2010. The increase was primarily due to higher revenues, partially offset by higher billable
disbursements and employee compensation. The 2010 acquisition of Peters represented 3.1% of
incremental Adjusted EBITDA.
Argus Software
For the year ended December 31, 2011, Adjusted EBITDA was $3.2 million.
UK
Adjusted EBITDA was $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, down 50.3% or $3.4 million
from $6.7 million in 2010. The decrease was primarily due to lower transaction volumes across its
business service lines.
Asia Pacific Cost
Adjusted EBITDA was $(2.8) million for the year ended December 31, 2011, down 26.5% or $0.6 million
from $(2.2) million in 2010. Revenue growth was offset by higher billable disbursements, higher
employee compensation as a result of additional headcount mainly experienced in China and higher bad
debt provisions. The losses were primarily incurred in Dubai, Singapore, India and China.
Corporate
Corporate costs were $15.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, up 34.2% or $3.8 million from
$11.2 million in 2010. The increase in corporate costs was due to duplicate occupancy costs of $1.1 million
as a result of the Toronto office relocation, higher employee compensation due to increased severance
costs and additional headcount of $1.3 million, higher marketing costs and business development
initiatives of $0.7 million and increased investments in application development of $0.6 million.
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Profit (Loss)
The following table provides a reconciliation between Adjusted EBITDA and profit (loss):
Year ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars
Adjusted EBITDA

$

Depreciation and amortization

2011

2010

(audited)

(audited)

39,205

$

(23,781)

Acquisition related (expenses) income

36,909
(25,811)

(2,924)

12,445

(89)

(1,216)

Share of profit (loss) of associate

(1,073)

(1,086)

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss) (1)

(3,291)

(235)

(276)

(102)

Corporate conversion and legal reorganization costs

Gain (loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment
Gain (loss) on hedging transactions

(1)

(1)

Stock options and other equity‐settled performance plan costs (2)

840

‐

(202)

(5,615)

Restructuring costs

(4,403)

‐

Impairment charge

(9,235)

(14,000)

Other non‐operating and/or non‐recurring costs (3)

(3,332)

(151)

Operating profit (loss)

(8,561)

1,138

Finance (costs) income, net

(11,436)

(12,923)

Profit (loss) before income tax

(19,997)

(11,785)

Income tax recovery (expense)
Profit (loss) for the year
(1)
(2)
(3)

1,687
$

(18,310)

2,513
$

(9,272)

Included in office and other operating in the statements of comprehensive income (loss).
Included in employee compensation in the statements of comprehensive income (loss).
Other non‐operating and/or non‐recurring costs for 2011 include the following: (i) $2,332 of termination benefits owed to the
former CEO of Altus included in employee compensation; (ii) $779 of amounts owed to former owners of Altus Quebec and
Altus InSite included in office and other operating (as defined on page 30); and, (iii) $221 of other termination related costs
included in office and other operating. Termination benefits owed to the former CEO of Altus are considered to be one‐time costs
that are not expected to re‐occur. A total of $779 was incurred with respect to consulting agreements with former owners of Altus
Quebec and Altus InSite, acquired in 2005 and 2006, respectively. Management has excluded these amounts from Adjusted
EBITDA as these are considered to be non‐operational and similar in nature to acquisition related expenses (income). Other non‐
operational and/or non‐recurring costs for 2010 include $151 owed to the former owner of Altus Quebec.

Depreciation and Amortization was $23.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared to
$25.8 million in 2010. The decrease was due to lower amortization of intangibles, partially offset by higher
depreciation of property, plant and equipment. The reduction in amortization of intangibles was
predominantly due to acquired brands and certain customer backlog and customer lists being fully
amortized or written off. Reduced amortization related to the 2009 acquisition of Page Kirkland was
partially offset by additional amortization related to the 2010 acquisitions of Brazos, Peters and the PwC
Appraisal Management Practice and the 2011 Argus acquisition. The increase in depreciation of property,
plant and equipment was due to accelerated depreciation of remaining leasehold improvements
pertaining to the vacated former Toronto offices and additional depreciation for the new Toronto office.
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Acquisition Related Expenses (Income) was $2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011,
compared to $(12.4) million in 2010. The current year amount represents $2.8 million in transaction costs
related to the Argus acquisition and $0.1 million in a purchase price adjustment relating to the 2010
acquisition of Peters. The prior year balance of $(12.4) million mainly consists of credits from the reversal
of contingent consideration related to the 2009 acquisition of Page Kirkland.
Corporate Conversion and Legal Reorganization Costs was $0.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2011, compared to $1.2 million in 2010. As a result of the Corporate Conversion, the Company
incurred legal and professional fees to dissolve the former trust structure.
Share of Profit (Loss) of Associate was $(1.1) million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared to
$(1.1) million in 2010. This represents the Company’s proportionate share of Real Matters’ loss for the
year.
Stock Options and Other Equity‐Settled Performance Plan Costs was $0.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2011, compared to $5.6 million in 2010. This decrease was mainly due to no expenses being
recorded for the Equity Compensation Plan in 2011 and accounting policy changes required under IFRS
in 2010 for the Deferred Performance Plan and Unit Option Plan, as those terms are defined in Note 28 of
the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Refer to the “Reconciliation to 2010YTD Canadian
GAAP EBITDA” section for further details.
Restructuring Costs was $4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared to $Nil in 2010.
Costs incurred were a result of the global Cost restructuring plan.
Impairment Charge was $9.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared to $14.0 million in
2010. The impairment charge was due to the write‐off of customer lists, customer backlogs, employment
agreements and goodwill related to Asia Pacific Cost.
Finance Costs (Income), Net

Year ended December 31,

In thousands of dollars
Interest on borrowings

$

2011

2010

(audited)

(audited)

% Change

4,460

188.6%

12,870

$

Unwinding of discount

711

2,013

(64.7%)

Distributions on unitholders’ liabilities

314

3,399

(90.8%)

(4,063)

2,799

(245.2%)

1,664

‐

100.0%

‐

278

(100.0%)

(26)

(130.8%)

12,923

(11.5%)

Change in fair value of unitholders’ liabilities
Change in fair value of interest rate swap (not designated as cash flow
hedge)
Change in fair value of embedded derivative relating to Canadian
convertible debentures
Other, net
Finance costs (income), net

(60)
$

11,436

$
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Finance Costs, Net for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $11.4 million, down 11.5% or $1.5 million
from $12.9 million in 2010. The overall decrease in finance costs was primarily due to lower distributions
and a favourable change in fair value related to unitholders’ liabilities, partially offset by higher interest
on borrowings and the cost related to the change in fair value of the interest rate swap not designated as a
cash flow hedge. Under IFRS, unitholders’ liabilities are classified as financial liabilities and are re‐
measured at fair value at each reporting date, unlike the previous non‐controlling interest which was
recorded at historic cost. For the year ended December 31, 2010, unitholders’ liabilities included Altus UK
Limited Liability Partnership (“Altus UK LLP”) Class B and D units and Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited
partnership units. As a result of the Corporate Conversion, Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership
units were exchanged for common shares and are no longer included in unitholders’ liabilities. Therefore,
the reduction of units included in unitholders’ liabilities was the primary reason for the significantly
reduced distributions. Similarly, the change in fair value of the unitholders’ liabilities was impacted by
the number of units included in unitholders’ liabilities as well as the underlying value of such units. For
the year ended December 31, 2011, interest on borrowings increased by 188.6% as average borrowings
outstanding was $202.5 million compared to $90.8 million in 2010. In addition, the effective interest rate
increased to 6.4% in the year ended December 31, 2011 from 4.9% in 2010.
Income Tax Expense (Recovery) for the year ended December 31, 2011 was a recovery of $(1.7) million,
compared to a recovery of $(2.5) million in 2010.
Profit (Loss) during the year ended December 31, 2011 was $(18.3) million and $(0.80) per share, basic
and diluted, compared to $(9.3) million and $(0.46) per unit, basic and diluted in 2010.
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Adjusted Earnings (Loss) Per Share/Unit
Year ended December 31,
Amounts shown on a per share/unit basis
Earnings (loss) per share/unit

$

2011

2010

(audited)

(audited)

(0.80)

Amortization of intangibles of acquired businesses
Non‐cash finance cost (income) of unitholders’ liabilities

$

(0.46)

0.76

1.06

(0.18)

0.14

Share of (profit) loss of associate

0.05

0.05

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss

0.14

0.01

(Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment

0.01

0.01

Distributions on unitholders’ liabilities

0.01

0.17

Acquisition related expenses (income)

0.13

(0.62)

Stock options and other equity‐settled performance plan costs

0.01

0.28

Interest accretion on vendor payables

0.03

0.10

Losses (gains) on hedging transactions

0.03

‐

‐

0.06

Restructuring costs

0.19

‐

Impairment charge

0.40

0.70

Other non‐operating and/or non‐recurring costs

0.15

0.01

Corporate conversion and legal reorganization costs

Tax impact on above

(0.41)

Adjusted earnings (loss) per share/unit

$

(0.34)

0.52

$

1.17

Quarter Ended December 31, 2011
Revenues
Quarter ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars
North America RVA

$

2011

2010

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

% Change

18,501

16,524

12.0%

12,798

9.0%

12,299

8,925

37.8%

18,357

15,134

21.3%

Argus Software

7,666

‐

100.0%

UK

5,682

6,508

(12.7%)

Asia Pacific Cost (1)

9,825

8,123

21.0%

68,012

26.9%

North America Realty Tax

13,949

North America Cost
North America Geomatics

Revenues
(1)

$

86,279

$

$

Includes Hawaii
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North America RVA
Revenue was $18.5 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, up 12.0% or $2.0 million from $16.5
million in the corresponding period of 2010. Revenue growth in Canadian operations represented 5.1% of
overall revenue growth in North America RVA as a result of additional revenues in Toronto relating to
due diligence, expert services and portfolio valuations. Revenue growth in US operations represented
6.9% of the total increase due to additional clients.
North America Realty Tax
Revenue was $13.9 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, up 9.0% or $1.1 million from $12.8
million in the corresponding period of 2010. The increase was mainly due to higher revenues in Montreal
and timing of contingency‐related work in Texas and Manitoba, partially offset by lower revenues in
Alberta.
North America Cost
Revenue was $12.3 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, up 37.8% or $3.4 million from $8.9
million in the corresponding period of 2010. The increase was primarily due to higher revenues from
infrastructure services.
North America Geomatics
Revenue was $18.4 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, up 21.3% or $3.3 million from $15.1
million in the corresponding period of 2010. Higher oil and gas drilling activity continued to drive
demand for Geomatics services.
Argus Software
Revenue was $7.7 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011. Included in revenues were
unfavourable fair value adjustments to acquired deferred revenue of $0.3 million. Acquisition accounting
requires the book value of deferred revenue at the time of acquisition to be written down to its fair value.
Consequently, the amount of deferred revenue being recognized as revenue is discounted by the value of
this adjustment. New deferred revenue is recorded at full value and recognized to revenue over the
appropriate recognition period. The large transaction related to the licensing of Argus Enterprise was
completed in the fourth quarter.
UK
Revenue was $5.7 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, down 12.7% or $0.8 from $6.5 million
in the corresponding period of 2010. The revenue decline was due to lower revenues from realty tax
services as a result of continuing poor economic conditions.
Asia Pacific Cost
Revenue was $9.8 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, up 20.9% or $1.7 million from $8.1
million in the corresponding period of 2010. Higher revenues in Hong Kong, China and Australia were
partially offset by lower revenues experienced in other Asia Pacific countries.
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Adjusted EBITDA (1)
Quarter ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars
North America RVA

$

2011

2010

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

% Change

2,709

48.6%

3,298

2,231

47.8%

249

673

(63.0%)

North America Geomatics

3,739

2,348

59.2%

Argus Software

1,516

‐

100.0%

UK

1,168

1,764

(33.8%)

Asia Pacific Cost (2)

(520)

(1,674)

68.9%

Corporate

(293)

(2,347)

87.5%

5,704

131.1%

North America Realty Tax
North America Cost

Adjusted EBITDA
(1)
(2)

$

4,026

13,183

$

$

Refer to page 21 for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA
Includes Hawaii

North America RVA
Adjusted EBITDA was $4.0 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, up 48.6% or $1.3 million
from $2.7 million in the corresponding period of 2010. The increase was mainly due to increased
assignments in both Canada and the US.
North America Realty Tax
Adjusted EBITDA was $3.3 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, up 47.8% or $1.1 million
from $2.2 million in the corresponding period of 2010. Lower bad debt provisions and improved results
in both Montreal and US offices contributed to improved results.
North America Cost
Adjusted EBITDA was $0.2 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, down 63.0% or $0.5 million
from $0.7 million in the corresponding period of 2010. The decrease was due to timing differences in
billable disbursements related to infrastructure services and capital planning as well as higher employee
compensation as a result of additional bonuses.
North America Geomatics
Adjusted EBITDA was $3.7 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, up 59.2% or $1.4 million
from $2.3 million in the corresponding period of 2010. The increase was mainly the result of improved
activity in Alberta.
Argus Software
For the quarter ended December 31, 2011, Adjusted EBITDA was $1.5 million. During the quarter, Argus
secured a material contract related to the new Argus Enterprise product suite. License fees related to
Argus Enterprise were recognized as revenue during the quarter.
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UK
Adjusted EBITDA was $1.2 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, down 33.8% or $0.6 million
from $1.8 million in the corresponding period of 2010. The decrease was primarily due to lower revenues
from realty tax services.
Asia Pacific Cost
Adjusted EBITDA was $(0.5) million for the quarter ended December 31, 2011, up 68.9% or $1.2 million
from $(1.7) million in the corresponding period of 2010. The increase was due to higher revenues and
lower operating costs resulting from the restructuring program initiated during the year.
Corporate
Corporate costs for the quarter ended December 31, 2011 were $0.3 million, down 87.5% or $2.0 million
from $2.3 million in the corresponding period of 2010. The decrease was primarily the result of
discretionary bonus allocations to the business segments in the fourth quarter. In the first nine months of
2011, discretionary bonuses were only recorded in the corporate segment, subject to the overall
finalization of bonuses at year end.
The following table provides a reconciliation between Adjusted EBITDA and profit (loss):
Quarter ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars
Adjusted EBITDA

$

Depreciation and amortization
Acquisition related (expenses) income
Corporate conversion and legal reorganization costs
Share of profit (loss) of associate
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss)

(1)

Gain (loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment (1)
Gain (loss) on hedging transactions (1)
Stock options and other equity‐settled performance plan costs

(2)

Restructuring costs
Impairment charge
Other non‐operating and/or non‐recurring costs (3)
Operating profit (loss)
Finance (costs) income, net

2011

2010

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

13,183

$

5,704

(6,155)

(6,025)

(89)

12,858

‐

(766)

69

161

899

432

(146)

(81)

‐

‐

1,921

(716)

(913)

‐

‐

(14,000)

(3,111)

(151)

5,658

(2,584)

(4,217)

1,615

Profit (loss) before income tax

1,441

(969)

Income tax recovery (expense)

894

2,465

Profit (loss) for the quarter
(1)
(2)
(3)

$

2,335

$

1,496

Included in office and other operating in the statements of comprehensive income (loss).
Included in employee compensation in the statements of comprehensive income (loss).
Other non‐operating and/or non‐recurring costs for the quarter ended December 31, 2011 include the following: (i) $2,332 of
termination benefits owed to the former CEO of Altus included in employee compensation; and, (ii) $779 of amounts owed to
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former owners of Altus Quebec and Altus InSite included in office and other operating. Termination benefits owed to the former
CEO of Altus are considered to be one‐time costs that are not expected to re‐occur. A total of $779 was incurred with respect to
consulting agreements with former owners of Altus Quebec and Altus InSite, acquired in 2005 and 2006, respectively.
Management has excluded these amounts from Adjusted EBITDA as these are considered to be non‐operational and similar in
nature to acquisition related expenses (income). Other non‐operational and/or non‐recurring costs for the quarter ended
December 31, 2010 include $151 owed to the former owner of Altus Quebec.

Adjusted Earnings (Loss) Per Share/Unit
Quarter ended December 31,
Amounts shown on a per share/unit basis
Earnings (loss) per share/unit

$

Amortization of intangibles of acquired businesses
Non‐cash finance cost (income) of unitholders’ liabilities
Share of (profit) loss of associate
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
(Gain) loss on sale of property, plant and equipment

2011

2010

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

0.10

$

0.07

0.19

0.23

(0.01)

(0.23)

‐

(0.01)

(0.04)

(0.02)

0.01

‐

Distributions on unitholders’ liabilities

‐

0.04

Acquisition related expenses (income)

‐

(0.64)

(0.09)

0.03

0.01

0.02

‐

‐

Stock options and other equity‐settled performance plan costs
Interest accretion on vendor payables
Losses (gains) on hedging transactions

‐

0.04

Restructuring costs

Corporate conversion and legal reorganization costs

0.04

‐

Impairment charge

‐

0.69

Other non‐operating and/or non‐recurring costs
Tax impact on above
Adjusted earnings (loss) per share/unit

$

0.14

0.01

(0.08)

(0.08)

0.27

$

0.15
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Summary of Quarterly Results
2011
Dec 31

Sep 30

Jun 30

Mar 31

Dec 31

Sep 30

Jun 30

Mar 31

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

(unaudited)

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

In thousands of dollars, except
for per share/unit amounts

2010

Results of Operations
Revenues
Profit (loss) for the period
Earnings (loss) per
share/unit:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number
shares/units (‘000s):
Basic
Diluted

86,279

76,610

70,172

68,097

68,012

61,244

62,448

60,753

2,335

(4,458)

(12,623)

(3,564)

1,496

(7,603)

5,057

(8,222)

$0.10
$0.10

$(0.19)
$(0.19)

$(0.56)
$(0.56)

$(0.16)
$(0.16)

$0.07
$(0.07)

$(0.38)
$(0.38)

$0.26
$0.08

$(0.42)
$(0.42)

23,036
23,324

22,995
22,995

22,648
22,648

22,618
22,618

20,205
23,010

20,077
20,077

19,821
22,450

19,664
19,664

Certain segments of the Company’s operations are subject to seasonal variations. Geomatics’ projects
tend to be on remote undeveloped land in western Canada which is most accessible in the winter and
summer months and least accessible in the spring months when ground conditions are soft and wet.
Revenues for Geomatics tend to peak in the third and fourth quarters of the year in line with higher
activity levels during these periods. In the UK, the Realty Tax practice has a higher proportion of
property tax appeals resolved and revenue recognized, in the first and fourth quarters of the year, due to
the March 31 fiscal year end for UK municipalities.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flow

Year ended December 31,
2011

2010

In thousands of dollars

(audited)

(audited)

Cash from operating activities

$

21,625

$

17,467

Cash from financing activities

23,526

35,863

Cash from investing activities

(80,992)

(19,263)

(196)

(482)

Effect of foreign currency translation
Change in cash position during the year

$

(36,037)

$

33,585

Dividends/distributions paid

$

13,685

$

26,128

The Company expects to fund operations from cash derived from operating activities. Deficiencies arising
from short‐term working capital requirements and capital expenditures may be financed on a short‐term
basis with bank indebtedness or on a permanent basis with either convertible debentures or new equity
issuances. Significant erosion in the general state of the economy could affect the Company’s liquidity by
reducing cash generated from operating activities or by limiting access to short‐term financing as a result
of tightening credit markets.
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Cash from operating activities
Working Capital
In thousands of dollars
Current assets

December 31, 2010

(audited)

(audited)

$

110,756

$

32,291

Current liabilities
Working capital

December 31, 2011
$

133,776

$

93,774

78,465

40,002

Current assets are composed primarily of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and
current income taxes recoverable. Current liabilities include trade and other payables, current income
taxes payable, current portion of borrowings and provisions. Trade receivables and unbilled revenue on
customer contracts increased 13.4% from December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2011. As a percentage of
trailing 12 months revenues, trade receivables and unbilled revenue on customer contracts was 32.0% as
at December 31, 2011 compared to 33.6% as at December 31, 2010, a six day decrease in the number of
days revenue outstanding.
Current and long‐term liabilities include amounts owing to the vendors of the acquired businesses on
account of excess working capital, deferred purchase price payments and other closing adjustments. As at
December 31, 2011, the amounts owing to the vendors of the acquired businesses were approximately
$6.6 million compared to $7.6 million as at December 31, 2010. The Company requires acquired
businesses to have sufficient working capital to fund operating cash flow on an uninterrupted basis. The
purchase and sale agreements for the acquired businesses require that excess working capital be paid
back to the vendors once it is monetized. Any working capital deficiency is withheld from the deferred
purchase payment. Additionally, the purchase and sale agreements generally provide that liabilities
incurred prior to closing are obligations of the vendors and any liabilities identified post closing are
withheld from the deferred purchase payment, with settlement ranging from one to three years from the
acquisition date.
The Company intends to fund the deferred purchase price payments through its Revolving Term Facility
or cash on hand. The Company is able to satisfy the balance of its current liabilities through the
realization of its current assets.
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Cash from financing activities
The Company’s bank credit facilities are summarized below:
December 31, 2011
In thousands of dollars
Revolving Operating Facility: Senior secured revolving operating facility for general
corporate purposes, including letters of credit due on demand, which will mature December
31, 2015.

(audited)

$

20,000

Revolving Term Facility: Senior secured revolving term facility to finance investments as
permitted by the credit agreement, which will mature December 31, 2015. Certain
provisions allow the Company to increase the limit further to $160,000.

110,000

Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility: Senior secured non‐revolving reducing term
facility to finance the Argus acquisition. Quarterly repayments of $2,000 are required
commencing December 31, 2011. These quarterly repayments increase to $3,500 starting
from March 31, 2015. All remaining amounts are due December 31, 2015.

40,000
$

170,000

As at December 31, 2011, the Company’s total borrowings on its bank credit facilities amounted to $132.3
million, an increase of $42.6 million from December 31, 2010. For the year ended December 31, 2011, the
Company borrowed, on a net basis, $6.7 million from the Revolving Term Facility and $35.9 million from
the Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility to fund capital and other expenditures and the Argus
acquisition.
Financial covenant limits were also revised during the year pursuant to the terms of the amended bank
credit facilities. These are summarized below:





Funded debt to EBITDA ratio: as at December 31, 2011 – maximum of 3.35:1, reduced over the
term of the agreement to 2.75:1 for the quarter ending December 31, 2012 and subsequent periods
(as at June 30, 2012 – maximum 3.00:1, as at December 31, 2012 – maximum 2.75:1)
Minimum fixed charge coverage ratio: minimum of 1.20:1
Maximum funded debt to capitalization ratio: maximum of 55%

Altus also has outstanding letters of credit under its bank credit facilities in the total amount of $0.9
million to secure a credit facility for operating leases.
The cost of the Company’s facilities is tied to the Canadian Prime rate, Bankers’ Acceptance rate, US base
rates or LIBOR rates. As at December 31, 2011, $110.0 million of the bank credit facilities were subject to
various interest rate swap agreements to fix the interest rate. During the three month period ended June
30, 2011, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement which has a notional amount of $35.0
million. The Company is obligated to pay the counterparty to the swap agreement an amount based upon
a fixed interest rate of 2.376% per annum plus the current stamping fee of 3.75% and the counterparty is
obligated to pay the Company an amount equal to the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate. This
agreement expires on December 31, 2015. This interest rate swap was not designated as a cash flow
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hedge. The effective rate of interest for the year ended December 31, 2011 on the Company’s bank credit
facilities was 5.25% compared to 3.89% in 2010.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants of its amended
bank credit facilities, which are summarized below:
December 31, 2011
Funded debt to EBITDA (maximum of 3.35:1)

2.94:1

Minimum fixed charge coverage (minimum of 1.20:1)

2.51:1

Maximum funded debt to capitalization (maximum of 55%)

42%

On June 1, 2011, as part of the consideration for the Argus acquisition, the Company issued the US
convertible debentures, which have a principal amount of US$49.4 million and a maturity date of June 1,
2014.
The US convertible debentures bear interest at the following rates during the following terms:





6.0% per annum for the period between June 1, 2011 and June 1, 2012;
8.0% per annum for the period between June 1, 2012 and December 3, 2012;
10.0% per annum for the period between December 3, 2012 and June 1, 2013; and
12.0% per annum for the period between June 1, 2013 and June 1, 2014.

The US convertible debentures will bear interest at rates ranging between 14.0% and 18.0% per annum if
the principle portion remains unpaid beyond a period of three years. The interest is compounded
quarterly and is payable on June 1, 2014.
Each US convertible debenture is convertible into common shares of the Company at the option of the
holder based on a conversion price of US$14.73 per common share at any time prior to maturity.
Notwithstanding the above,
 each US convertible debenture is convertible, at the option of the holder, on any day that is not more
than 30 days and not fewer than 3 business days before December 3, 2012, into common shares based
on a conversion price that is the greater of 95% of the current market price (which is defined as the
product of the volume weighted average trading price for 20 consecutive trading days ending on the
fifth trading day preceding the conversion date and 1.0454) and US$13.59 per common share; and,
 each US convertible debenture is convertible, at the option of the holder, on any day that is not more
than 30 days and not fewer than 3 business days before each of June 1, 2013, December 2, 2013 or June
1, 2014, into common shares based on a conversion price that is equal to 95% of the current market
price.
In 2010, the Company issued $50.0 million in Canadian convertible debentures with a maturity date of
December 31, 2017. The Canadian convertible debentures bear interest at a rate of 5.75% per annum, and
are payable semi‐annually on June 30 and December 31 of each year.
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The Company received various loans to finance leasehold improvements made to leased premises. The
loans are payable in installments with maturity dates ranging from August 2014 to March 2019 and bear
interest at rates ranging between 2% and 8% per annum. The weighted effective interest rate for the year
ended December 31, 2011 was 4.46% compared to 4.43% for the year ended December 31, 2010.
In 2009, the Company financed the purchase of a custom software application and a customer list. The
amount is payable in monthly installments with a maturity date of September 1, 2012. The weighted
effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2011 was 9.34%, consistent with 2010.
The Company has obtained financing with respect to its errors and omissions and comprehensive general
liability insurance. The loan is payable in installments with a maturity date of August 31, 2012 and bears
interest at a rate of 4.49% per annum.
Other than long‐term debt and letters of credit, the Company is subject to contractual obligations for
operating leases for office facilities and office equipment, as well as finance leases for office equipment.
Contractual Obligations
In thousands of dollars
Long‐term debt

Payments Due by Period (undiscounted)
Less than
Total
1 year
1 to 3 years
$

Finance lease obligations
Payables to vendors
Convertible debentures (1)
Provisions
Other financial liabilities
(1)

$

51,819

Operating lease obligations

Total Contractual Obligations

133,871

$

9,162

$

10,176

16,148

4 to 5 years
$

108,427

14,045

10,096

After 5 years
$

134
17,502

328

210

118

‐

‐

7,492

547

6,945

‐

‐

100,418

‐

50,418

‐

50,000

3,325

2,731

467

127

‐

56,519

52,393

2,513

62

1,551

353,772

$

75,219

$

90,654

$

118,712

$

69,187

Includes the Canadian and US convertible debentures.

Cash from investing activities
The Company invests in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets to support the activities of
the business, such as computer equipment and software, trucks and field equipment and office
equipment and furnishings. Capital expenditures for accounting purposes include property, plant and
equipment in substance as well as form, including assets under finance lease and intangible assets
comprising of computer application software.
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Capital expenditures are reconciled as follows:
Capital Expenditures

Year ended December 31,
2011

2010

In thousands of dollars

(audited)

(audited)

Property, plant and equipment additions on Statement of Cash Flows

$

Intangible asset additions on Statement of Cash Flows

$

2,710

Proceeds on disposal of operational property, plant and equipment, reinvested
Capital expenditures funded by cash from investing activities

9,596

1,745

(177)
$

12,129

4,843
(123)

$

6,465

During the three month period ended June 30, 2011, the Company exercised its option to convert the $1.0
million convertible note receivable issued by Real Matters into common shares at the predetermined price
of $1.7848 per share.

Share Data
As at December 31, 2011, there were 23,042,089 common shares outstanding. On January 1, 2011, the
Fund converted from an income trust structure to a corporation. All of the Fund Units and Altus LP
Series 1 and Series 2 Class B limited partnership units were exchanged into common shares of the
Company on a one‐for‐one basis. All special voting units were cancelled. As a result of the Corporate
Conversion, there were 22,616,234 common shares of the Company outstanding on January 1, 2011.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company issued 1,352 and 2,295 common shares to the
Directors of Altus as a component of their 2010 and 2011 compensation, respectively, and 397 common
shares to a supplier as compensation. In addition, 20,883 common shares were issued with respect to
share options that were exercised and 353,767 common shares were issued with respect to the 2010
Deferred Performance Plan. A total of 47,161 common shares were also issued to the vendors of Peters in
settlement of the purchase price based on certain performance targets being achieved. As at February 29,
2012, there were 23,042,089 common shares outstanding.
As at December 31, 2011, there were 955,221 share options outstanding (December 31, 2010 – 1,194,747
Fund Unit options outstanding) at a weighted average exercise price of $10.92 per share (December 31,
2010 ‐ $11.19 per unit) and 402,513 options were exercisable (December 31, 2010 – 28,788). All share
options are exercisable into common shares on a one‐to‐one basis.
As at December 31, 2011, there were $50.0 million of Canadian convertible debentures outstanding that
are exchangeable into common shares of the Company at the option of the holder at a conversion price of
$18.60 per common share, equivalent to a maximum of 2,688,172 common shares.
As at December 31, 2011, there were US$49.4 million convertible debentures outstanding that are
exchangeable into common shares of the Company at the option of the holder at a conversion price of
US$14.73 per common share, equivalent to a maximum of 3,351,042 common shares.
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Financial Instruments and Other Instruments
Financial instruments held in the normal course of business included in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet as at December 31, 2011 consist of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayments and lease inducements), trade and other payables (excluding lease inducements
and deferred revenue), contingent consideration payable, borrowings (including long‐term debt,
convertible debentures and finance lease obligations), derivatives (cash flow hedges) and unitholders’
liabilities. The Company does not enter into financial instrument arrangements for speculative purposes.
The fair values of the short‐term financial instruments approximate their carrying values. The fair values
of the long‐term debt and finance lease obligations are not significantly different than their carrying
values, as these instruments bear interest at rates comparable to current market rates. The fair value of
other long‐term liabilities and contingent consideration payable is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the cost of money to the Company, which is equal to their carrying value.
The fair value of the Canadian convertible debentures as at December 31, 2011 was approximately $33.8
million, based on market quotes. The fair value of the US convertible debentures as at December 31, 2011
was approximately $48.7 million.
The fair value of the unitholders’ liabilities as at December 31, 2011 was approximately $1.4 million,
based on market quotes for the Company’s common shares.
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk in the event of fluctuations in the Canadian Prime rate or
Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate, US Base rate and LIBOR rate as the interest rates on the bank credit
facilities fluctuate with changes in the Canadian Prime rate, Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate, US Base
rate or LIBOR rate.
To mitigate the Company’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations, the Company has entered into interest
rate swap agreements in connection with its bank credit facilities.
In 2010, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement, effective August 31, 2011, for a
notional amount of $75.0 million and a fixed interest rate of 2.77% per annum plus a stamping fee of
3.75% as at December 31, 2011. This agreement expires on August 31, 2015. As at December 31, 2011, the
fair value of this swap was $4.4 million in favor of the counterparty.
During the three month period ended June 30, 2011, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement, effective June 8, 2011, for a notional amount of $35.0 million and a fixed interest rate of 2.376%
per annum plus a stamping fee of 3.75% as at December 31, 2011. This agreement expires on December
31, 2015. This interest rate swap was not designated as a cash flow hedge. As at December 31, 2011, the
fair value of this swap was $1.7 million in favour of the counterparty.
The Company is exposed to credit risk with respect to its cash and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables, and more specifically its trade receivables. Credit risk is not concentrated with any particular
customer. In certain parts of Asia, it is often common business practice to pay invoices over an extended
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period of time and/or at the completion of the project. This practice increases the risk and likelihood of
future bad debts. In addition, the risk of non‐collection of trade receivables is greater in Asia Pacific
compared to North American or European countries. Trade receivables are monitored on an ongoing
basis with respect to their collectability and, where appropriate, a specific reserve is recorded.
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and financial
leverage. It also manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and projected cash flows,
taking into account the seasonality of the Company’s revenues and receipts and maturity profile of
financial assets and liabilities. The board of directors of the Company (the “Board of Directors”) reviews
and approves the Company’s operating and capital budgets, as well as any material transactions out of
the ordinary course of business, including proposals relating to mergers, acquisitions or other major
investments.
The Company is also exposed to price risk as unitholders’ liabilities held by the Company are classified as
fair value through profit or loss, and linked to the price of the Company’s own common shares.

Related Party Transactions
The Company entered into the following transactions with related parties during the year ended
December 31, 2011, which were in the normal course of operations and measured at the exchange
amount:
Year ended December 31,
In thousands of dollars
Rent remitted to entities controlled by employee shareholders

$

2011

2010

(audited)

(audited)

475

$

501

The Company entered into a consulting agreement with the principals of one of the original initial public
offering entities, Altus Québec, pursuant to which the principals agreed to provide consulting services for
a period of ten years in respect of certain information technology developed by the principals and
acquired by Altus on May 19, 2005. In consideration for providing the consulting services, the principals
are entitled to a fee, payable to the extent that earnings exceed certain thresholds. For the year ended
December 31, 2011, $347,000 had been accrued (year ended December 31, 2010 – $151,000). Included in
trade and other payables as at December 31, 2011 was $304,000 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $151,000).
The Company also entered into a consulting agreement with the former owner of the business assets of
InSite Real Estate Information Systems Inc. (“Altus InSite”) pursuant to which the former owner agreed
to provide certain services, related to the business of Altus InSite, for a period of six years. The agreement
provides that the former owner will be reimbursed, with no mark‐up, for all reasonable third party costs
incurred in connection with the provision of the services. In consideration for providing the services, the
former owner is entitled to a fee in years two through six of the agreement. The fee is payable only to the
extent that earnings exceed certain thresholds. $432,000 was payable in respect of the year ended
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December 31, 2011 (year ended December 31, 2010 – $Nil) and was included in trade and other payables
(December 31, 2010 ‐ $Nil).
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded expenses of $522,000 (year ended
December 31, 2010 ‐ $394,000), pursuant to the referral and services agreement between Altus Residential
Limited and Real Matters (the “Referral and Services Agreement”). As part of the Referral and Services
Agreement, the Company has paid a sales and account management fee of $3.5 million with respect to
services to be performed over the 20 year term of the agreement ending in April 2029. This amount has been
included with trade and other receivables and is being amortized on a straight‐line basis over the term of
the contract. Included in trade and other payables was $174,000 as at December 31, 2011 (December 31,
2010 ‐ $153,000). Included in trade and other receivables was $221,000 as at December 31, 2011 (December
31, 2010 ‐ $123,000).
The Company provides appraisal services to Real Matters, an entity in which the Company holds a 24.16%
equity interest as at December 31, 2011. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded
revenues of $16,000 for appraisal services provided to Real Matters (year ended December 31, 2010 ‐
$41,000).
During the three month period ended June 30, 2011, the Company exercised its option to convert the $1.0
million convertible note receivable issued by Real Matters into common shares of Real Matters at the
predetermined price of $1.7848 per share.

Contingencies
From time to time, the Company or its subsidiaries are involved in legal proceedings, claims and
litigation in the ordinary course of business with customers, former employees and other parties.
Although it is not possible to determine the outcome of such matters, based on all currently available
information, management believes that liabilities, if any, arising from pending litigation will not have a
material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operation of the Company, other than those
that have been accrued in the consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in applying the
Company’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual
results. The following discussion sets forth management’s most significant estimates and assumptions in
determining the value of assets and liabilities and the most significant judgments in applying accounting
policies.
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Revenue recognition and valuation of unbilled revenue on customer contracts
Use of the percentage of completion method requires the Company to estimate the services performed to
date as a proportion of the total services to be performed based on budgeted costs and time required to
complete a project. Errors in estimating the percentage of completion could lead to the under or
overvaluation of revenue.
The Company values its unbilled revenue based on the time and materials charged to each particular
project. The unbilled revenue for each project is reviewed on a monthly basis by the controller
responsible for the business unit and the consultant responsible for the project to determine whether the
amount is a true reflection of the amount that will be invoiced in respect of the project. Where the review
determines that the value of unbilled revenue exceeds the amount that can be invoiced, adjustments are
made to the unbilled revenue. The valuation of the unbilled revenue involves estimates of the amount of
work required to complete the project. Errors in estimating the amount of work required to complete the
projects could lead to the under or overvaluation of unbilled revenue. Significant erosion in the general
state of the economy could result in increased provisions to unbilled revenue.
Revenue recognition and multiple component arrangements
The Company assesses the criteria for the recognition of revenue for arrangements that have multiple
components. These assessments require judgment by management to determine if there are separately
identifiable components and how the total price of the arrangement is to be allocated among the
components. Deliverables are accounted for as separately identifiable components if the product or
service has stand‐alone value to the customer and the fair value associated with the product or service
can be measured reliably. In determining whether components are separately identifiable, management
considers, among other factors, whether the product or service is sold separately by the Company in the
normal course of operations or whether the customer could purchase the product or service separately.
With respect to the allocation of the total price among the components, management uses its judgment to
assign a fair value to each component. Fair value is determined based on such items as the price for the
component when sold separately and renewal rates for specific components. Changes in these
assessments and judgments could lead to an increase or decrease in the amount of revenue recognized in
a particular period.
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Estimates are used in determining the allowance for doubtful accounts related to trade receivables. The
estimates are based on management’s best assessment of the collectability of the related receivable
balance based, in part, on the age of the specific receivable balance. An allowance is established when the
likelihood of collecting the account has significantly diminished. Future collections of receivables that
differ from management’s current estimates would affect the results of operations in future periods as
well as trade receivables and office and other operating expenses. Significant erosion in the general state
of the economy could result in increased allowances for doubtful accounts.
Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Company tests annually whether goodwill is subject to any impairment. Goodwill impairment is
evaluated between annual tests upon the occurrence of certain events or circumstances. Goodwill is
allocated to cash‐generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made
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to those CGUs or group of CGUs that are expected to benefit from synergies of the business combination
in which the goodwill arose. Goodwill is tested for impairment in the group of CGUs for which it is
monitored by management. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount for any CGU is determined
based on fair value less costs to sell. Both the fair value and costs to sell require the use of estimates.
Significant erosion in the general state of the economy could result in increased impairment losses.
Management tested for goodwill impairment as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010 under IFRS and
determined that goodwill was impaired in the amount of $2.0 million and $14.0 million, respectively.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, goodwill was further impaired in the amount of $3.4 million.
Intangibles
Intangibles are acquired assets that lack physical substance and that meet the specified criteria for
recognition apart from goodwill. Intangibles with a finite life, including computer application software,
custom software applications, internally generated software, customer backlog, customer lists, databases
and non‐compete agreements are recorded at cost and are amortized over the period of expected future
benefit on the straight‐line method from two to ten years or on the diminishing balance method.
Intangibles with an indefinite life, which include both the Altus Group and Argus brands, are recorded at
cost. On an annual basis, management reviews the carrying amount of intangibles which have an
indefinite life for possible impairment by evaluating discounted cash flows. Intangibles are written down
to their estimated fair value, as determined by discounted cash flows when a decline is identified.
Significant erosion in the general state of the economy could result in increased impairment losses.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, there was an intangible impairment charge in the amount of
$5.8 million.
Determination of purchase price allocations and contingent consideration
Estimates are made in determining the fair value of assets and liabilities, including the valuation of
separately identifiable intangible assets acquired as part of an acquisition. Further, estimates are made in
determining the value of contingent consideration payments that should be recorded as part of the cost of
purchase on the date of acquisition. Contingent consideration payments are generally based on acquired
companies achieving certain performance targets. The estimates are based on management’s best
assessment of the related inputs used in the valuation models, such as future cash flows and discount
rates. Future performance results that differ from management’s estimates could result in changes to
liabilities recorded, which would be recorded as they arise through profit or loss. Significant erosion in
the general state of the economy could negatively impact future performance results of acquired
companies.
Income taxes
The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income
tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made.
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Changes in Accounting
Pronouncements

Policies

Including

Initial

Adoption

of

New

Accounting

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed that Canadian GAAP will be
converged with IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, effective January 1,
2011. Thus, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011 are the
Company’s first annual IFRS financial statements. Refer to Note 5 of the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for a summary of the differences and reconciliations between the consolidated equity
and comprehensive income (loss) previously prepared under Canadian GAAP and those under IFRS for
the year ended December 31, 2010 as well as a reconciliation of the balance sheet as at January 1, 2010 and
December 31, 2010. Certain mandatory and optional exemptions and elections available under IFRS 1,
First‐time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, were applied and have been included
in these reconciliations.
The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are mandatory
for the Company’s accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012 or later periods. The
Company has not early adopted these standards and amendments.
International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial Instruments
International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), was issued in November
2009 and contained requirements for financial assets. This standard addresses classification and
measurement of financial assets and replaces the multiple category and measurement models in
International Accounting Standard 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”),
for debt instruments with a new mixed measurement model having only two categories: amortized cost
and fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring equity instruments,
and such instruments are either recognized at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through
other comprehensive income (loss). Where such equity instruments are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (loss), dividends are recognized in profit or loss to the extent not clearly
representing a return of investment, however, other gains and losses, including impairments, associated
with such instruments remain in accumulated comprehensive income (loss) indefinitely. Requirements
for financial liabilities were added in October 2010 and they largely carried forward existing
requirements in IAS 39 except that fair value changes due to credit risk for liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss would generally be recorded in other comprehensive income (loss). IFRS 9 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015. Earlier application is permitted. The
Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated
financial statements.
International Accounting Standard 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
International Accounting Standard 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”), was
amended in 2011 and prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the
requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates and
joint ventures. IAS 28 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier
application is permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this
amendment on its consolidated financial statements.

34

Altus Group Limited
Management Discussion & Analysis
December 31, 2011
International Financial Reporting Standard 10, Consolidated Financial Statements
International Financial Reporting Standard 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”), requires an
entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10 supersedes
IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and Standing Interpretations Committee
Interpretation 12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, and is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process
of evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
International Financial Reporting Standard 11, Joint Arrangements
International Financial Reporting Standard 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”), requires a venturer to
classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be
accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation the venturer will
recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under existing
IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in joint
ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes current International Accounting Standard 31, Interests in Joint Ventures,
and Standing Interpretations Committee Interpretation 13, Jointly Controlled Entities – Non‐Monetary
Contributions by Ventures, and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.
Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of
this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
International Financial Reporting Standard 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
International Financial Reporting Standard 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”),
establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements, associates,
special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward existing disclosure
requirements and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements that address the nature
of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not yet begun
the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
International Financial Reporting Standard 13, Fair Value Measurements
International Financial Reporting Standard 13, Fair Value Measurements (“IFRS 13”), is a comprehensive
standard for fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all IFRS standards. The
new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the measurement date. It also
establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS, guidance on measuring and
disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring fair value measurements and in
many cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent disclosures. IFRS 13 is to be applied
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. The Company
has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial
statements.
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International Accounting Standard 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
International Accounting Standard 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”), was amended in
2011 and requires entities to group items presented in other comprehensive income (loss) on the basis of
whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss in subsequent periods. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. Earlier application is permitted. The
Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this amendment on its consolidated
financial statements.
International Financial Reporting Standard 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
International Financial Reporting Standard 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“IFRS 7”), was
amended in 2011 and requires entities to disclose information about the effects of offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities and related arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is
permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this amendment on its
consolidated financial statements.
International Accounting Standard 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation
International Accounting Standard 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, was amended in 2011 and
provides additional guidance when applying the offsetting requirements and clarifies the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right of set‐off” and that some gross settlement systems may be
considered equivalent to net settlement. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2014. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of
evaluating the impact of this amendment on its consolidated financial statements.

Reconciliation to 2010YTD Canadian GAAP EBITDA
Year ended
December 31, 2010
(audited)

In thousands of dollars
Adjusted EBITDA

$

Corporate conversion and legal reorganization costs

36,909
(1,216)

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss)

(235)

Gain (loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment

(102)

Stock options and other equity‐settled performance plan costs

(5,615)

Other non‐operating and/or non‐recurring costs

(151)
29,590

IFRS adjustments:
Reclassification of interest income from revenue to finance costs, net

63

Deferred Performance Plan and Unit Option Plan adjustments

2,185

Net foreign exchange loss adjustment on reversal of vendor payable

951

Onerous lease adjustments
Canadian GAAP EBITDA, as reported in 2010YTD

(107)
$

32,682
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In 2010, under IFRS, the Deferred Performance Plan and Unit Option Plan were considered to be long‐
term incentive plans and accounted for under International Accounting Standard 19, Employee Benefits,
due to the nature of the underlying units, Fund Units and Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership
units, which were considered to be liabilities. As a result, the expense associated with the obligation to
issue units was recorded over the service period and recognized as a liability within trade and other
payables. In addition, any changes in the value of the liability as a result of the change in the market
value of the units were recognized as employee compensation expense through profit or loss. On January
1, 2011, as a result of the Corporate Conversion, the Deferred Performance Plan and Unit Option Plan
were considered to be equity‐settled compensation and the existing liabilities were reclassified to
contributed surplus. Further, there was no longer a requirement to adjust the employee compensation
expense for changes in the market value of the shares/units. During the year ended December 31, 2010, an
adjustment of $2.2 million was required to be made on adoption of IFRS relating to these plans.
The vendor payable in respect of the Page Kirkland acquisition in 2009 was reversed in December 2010.
Under Canadian GAAP, this reversal of the payable was recorded as a reduction in goodwill and certain
intangibles as well as the reversal of interest expense and net foreign exchange losses previously
recorded. Under IFRS, the vendor payable is considered a financial instrument and changes are not
recorded to the original purchase equation but rather through profit or loss. Thus, goodwill and
intangibles were restated to their previous amounts and the interest expense and net foreign exchange
loss reversed under Canadian GAAP were restated under IFRS. Accordingly, there was a $1.0 million
adjustment required to be made to office and other operating expenses on adoption of IFRS.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, a $(0.1) million adjustment was required to be made to
occupancy expense on adoption of IFRS relating to an onerous lease contract.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(“DC&P”) and internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) for Altus, as those terms are defined in
National Instrument 52‐109 ‐ Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings (“NI 52‐
109”).
Management has caused such DC&P to be designed under its supervision to provide reasonable
assurance that material information relating to Altus, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company for the period in
which the annual filings were prepared. Further, such DC&P are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in its annual filings, interim filings
or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities legislation is recorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specified in applicable securities legislation.
Management has caused such ICFR to be designed under its supervision using the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) framework to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with IFRS.
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Management has limited the scope of the design of DC&P and ICFR to exclude controls, policies and
procedures of the Argus Software business, which was acquired on June 1, 2011. Financial information of
the business acquired is summarized below.
Summary financial information of Realm is as follows:
December 31, 2011
(unaudited)

In thousands of dollars
Assets

$

Liabilities

36,500

Equity

In thousands of dollars
Revenues
Expenses
Profit (loss)

168,891
131,391

Seven months ended December 31, 2011
(unaudited)
$

16,634
17,423
(789)

The limitation of the scope of the design of DC&P and ICFR is in accordance with section 3.3(1)(b) of NI
52‐109, which allows an issuer to limit its design of DC&P and ICFR to exclude controls, policies and
procedures of a business that the issuer acquired not exceeding 365 days from the date of acquisition.
Management of the Company has caused to be evaluated under its supervision the effectiveness of its
DC&P as of December 31, 2011, and has concluded that the design and effectiveness of these controls and
procedures provide reasonable assurance that material information relating to Altus, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, was made known to management on a timely basis to ensure adequate
disclosure.
Management of the Company has caused to be evaluated under its supervision the effectiveness of its
ICFR as of December 31, 2011 using the COSO framework. Management has concluded that the overall
design and effectiveness of these controls provide reasonable assurance of the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with IFRS.
There have been no changes in Altus’ internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the
three month period ended December 31, 2011, the most recently completed interim period, that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, Altus’ internal controls over financial
reporting.
The audit committee and the Board of Directors of Altus have reviewed and approved this MD&A and
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011.
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Key Factors Affecting the Business
The risks and uncertainties that could significantly affect the Company’s financial condition and future
results of operations are summarized below:
General state of the economy
The businesses operated by Altus are affected by general economic conditions, including international,
national, regional and local economic conditions, all of which are outside of Altus’ control. Economic
slowdowns or downturns, adverse economic conditions, cyclical trends, increases in interest rates,
variations in currency exchange rates, reduced client spending and other factors could have a material
adverse effect on Altus’ business, financial condition and results of operations. Although Altus’
operations are functionally and geographically diversified, significant erosion in levels of activity in any
segment in which Altus operates could have a negative impact on Altus’ business, financial condition and
results of operations.
Competition in the industry
Altus faces competition from other service and software providers. Competition for Altus’ professional
services includes a broad mix of competitors, ranging from smaller, locally‐based professional service
firms and national, multi‐regional professional service providers, to large engineering and accounting
firms. Software providers also compete with Altus in respect of capital planning solutions, real estate
asset management, valuation, budgeting, forecasting, reporting and lease management solutions. These
competitive forces could result in a material adverse effect on Altus’ business, financial condition and
results of operations by reducing Altus’ relative share in the markets it serves.
Ability to attract and retain professionals
Altus’ success and ability to grow are dependent on the expertise, experience and efforts of its
professionals. Competition for employees with the qualifications desired by Altus is intense, which puts
upward pressure on compensation costs. Altus expects that competition for qualified professionals will
continue to increase, thereby causing compensation costs to escalate. Should Altus be unable to attract
and retain professionals that meet the desired level of skills and ability, its business may be jeopardized.
Integration of acquisitions
Altus intends to make acquisitions from time to time as part of its strategy to grow its business.
Acquisitions may increase the size of the operations, as well as increase the amount of indebtedness that
may have to be serviced by Altus. There is no assurance that Altus will be able to acquire operations on
satisfactory terms. The successful integration and management of acquired businesses involve numerous
risks and there is no assurance that Altus will be able to successfully integrate its acquisitions. Such
failure could adversely affect its business, financial condition and results of operations.
Dependence on oil and gas sector
The land survey practice of Geomatics operates primarily in the oil and gas industry in Alberta. The risks
to the outlook for the land survey practice in Alberta arise from world markets for oil and gas.
Historically, the prices for oil and gas have been volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to
changes in the supply of and demand for oil and gas, market uncertainty and a variety of additional
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factors beyond Altus’ control. Altus cannot predict future oil and gas price movements. If oil and gas
prices decline significantly, there could be a material adverse effect on Altus’ business, financial
condition, liquidity and operating results.
Dependence on Canadian multi‐residential market
Approximately 40% of the Canadian Cost practice area’s annual revenues are derived from the rental
apartment and condominium sectors of the multi‐residential development market. Any significant
decline in the multi‐unit residential development market could have a material adverse effect on Altus’
business, financial condition, liquidity and operating results.
Customer concentration
Although the Company is not dependent on one or a small number of clients, Geomatics’ revenue is
derived from multiple contracts for a few clients. For the year ended December 31, 2011, approximately
29% of Geomatics’ revenues were derived from five clients.
Currency risk
Altus’ reporting currency is the Canadian Dollar.
Altus has operations in Canada, the UK, the US, Australia and various countries throughout Asia. Altus’
exposure to foreign currency risk is primarily in the following areas:





Profit (loss) generated by operations in foreign countries, which are translated into Canadian
Dollars using the average exchange rate;
Net assets of foreign subsidiaries, which are translated into Canadian Dollars using the period
end exchange rate with any gains or losses recorded under Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss) within shareholders’ equity; and,
Non‐Canadian Dollar denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which are translated into
Canadian Dollars using the period end exchange rate with any gains or losses recorded through
profit or loss.

The exchange rate between the Canadian Dollar and the British Pound ranged from $1.5469 at December
31, 2010 to $1.5867 at December 31, 2011. The exchange rate between the Canadian Dollar and the US
Dollar ranged from $0.9980 at December 31, 2010 to $1.0213 at December 31, 2011. The exchange rate
between the Canadian Dollar and the Australian Dollar ranged from $1.0163 at December 31, 2010 to
$1.0420 at December 31, 2011. The exchange rate between the Canadian Dollar and the Hong Kong Dollar
ranged from $0.1283 at December 31, 2010 to $0.1315 at December 31, 2011. The exchange rate between
the Canadian Dollar and the United Arab Emirates Dirham ranged from $0.2717 at December 31, 2010 to
$0.2780 at December 31, 2011.
Interest rate risk
Altus is exposed to fluctuations in interest rates under its borrowings. Increases in interest rates may have
an adverse effect on the earnings of Altus.
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Reliance on larger software transactions with longer and less predictable sales cycles
The ability to meet revenue targets for Argus Software and Altus Capital Planning, a line of business in
the Cost practice area, is becoming more dependant on larger transactions which have longer sales cycles.
The presence or absence of one or more of these transactions may have a material positive or negative
effect on anticipated revenue in any given period.
Success of new product introductions
As new Argus Software products are developed and introduced to the marketplace, client adoption may
not achieve anticipated levels. As a result, revenue projections may not be achieved. If cash flows from
new products do not reach sufficient levels, asset impairments may need to be taken on any capitalized
costs related to the development of the products.
Ability to respond to technological change and develop products on a timely basis
Altus’ ability to generate future revenues from software is dependant upon meeting the changing needs
of the market and evolving industry standards through new product introductions and product
enhancements. In order to maintain or enhance product market share over the long‐term, it is imperative
to anticipate and develop products that meet client and industry needs. In the short to medium term, the
ability to complete product developments on a timely basis is important to achieving revenue and cost
targets.
Ability to maintain profitability and manage growth
Altus’ ability to achieve revenue growth and sustain profitability in future periods depends on its ability
to execute its strategic plan and effectively manage its growth. A failure to do so could have a material
adverse effect on Altus’ business, financial condition and results of operations.
Revenue and cash flow volatility
Revenue, cash flow, operating results and profitability of Altus may experience fluctuations from quarter
to quarter, based on project terms and conditions for billing and rendering of services.
Credit risk
Altus may be materially and adversely affected if the collectability of its trade receivables is impaired for
any reason. In certain parts of Asia, it is often common business practice to pay invoices over an extended
period of time and/or at the completion of the project. This practice increases the risk and likelihood of
future bad debts. In addition, the risk of non‐collection of trade receivables is greater in Asia Pacific
compared to North American or European countries.
Protection of intellectual property or defending against claims of intellectual property rights of others
Altus relies on protecting its intellectual properties including patents, copyrights, trademarks, databases
and methodologies, which have been important factors in maintaining its competitive position. Despite
Altus’ efforts to protect its proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to obtain and use
information that Altus regards as proprietary. There can be no assurance that Altus will be successful in
protecting its proprietary rights and, if it is not, its business, financial condition, liquidity and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected. Additionally, Altus may be subject to claims by third
parties regarding technology infringement. Responding to such claims could result in substantial expense
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and may result in damages, royalties or injunctive relief. Altus may also be required to indemnify
customers pursuant to its indemnification obligations, enter into licensing agreements on unfavourable
terms or redesign or stop selling affected products, which could materially disrupt the conduct of the
business.
Weather
The level of activity in the oilfield services industry and natural resources industry are influenced by
seasonal weather patterns and natural or other disasters, such as floods and forest fires. Spring break‐up
during the second quarter leaves many secondary roads temporarily incapable of supporting the weight
of field equipment, which results in severe restrictions in the provision of field work for Geomatics’
survey services and land‐use consulting. The timing and duration of spring break‐up are dependent on
regional weather patterns but generally occur in April and May.
The demand for survey services and forestry and land‐use services may also be affected by the severity of
Canadian winters and excessively rainy periods, thereby adversely affecting operations. The uncertainty
of weather and temperature can therefore create unpredictability in activity and utilization rates.
Fixed‐price and contingency engagements
A portion of Altus’ revenues comes from fixed‐price engagements. A fixed‐price engagement requires
Altus to either perform all or a specified part of work under the engagement for a specified lump sum
payment. Fixed‐price engagements expose Altus to a number of risks not inherent in cost‐plus
engagements, including underestimation of costs, ambiguities in specifications, unforeseen or changed
costs or difficulties, problems with new technologies, delays beyond the control of Altus, failures of
subcontractors to perform and economic or other changes that may occur during the term of engagement.
Increasing reliance on fixed‐price engagements and/or increasing size of such engagements would
increase the exposure to this risk. Economic loss under fixed‐price engagements could have a material
adverse effect on Altus’ business.
Altus is also engaged to provide services on a contingency basis, meaning that it receives its fees only if
certain results are achieved. Altus may experience adverse financial effects from having devoted certain
professional and other resources to a project, which, due to a failure to meet the contingency goals, are
not recouped through fees.
Operating risks
Altus’ professionals are sometimes required to attend client worksites, including construction worksites
in the case of the Cost practice area. The activities at these worksites may involve certain operating
hazards that can result in personal injury and loss of life. There can be no assurance that Altus’ insurance
will be sufficient or effective under all circumstances or against all claims or hazards to which Altus may
be subject or that Altus will be able to continue to obtain adequate insurance protection. A successful
claim or damage resulting from a hazard for which it is not fully insured could adversely affect Altus’
results of operations.
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Performance of obligations/maintenance of client satisfaction
Altus’ success depends largely on its ability to fulfill obligations and ensure client satisfaction. If Altus
fails to satisfactorily perform its obligations, address performance issues or makes professional errors in
the services that it provides, clients could terminate projects, thereby exposing Altus to legal liability, loss
of professional reputation, enhanced risk of loss and/or reduced profits.
Appraisal mandates
Some clients rotate their appraisal mandates every one to three years. As a result, Altus may be rotated
out of an appraisal engagement.
Legislative and regulatory changes
Changes to any of the laws, rules, regulations or policies affecting the business of Altus would have an
impact on Altus’ business. Certain elements of Altus’ business are influenced by the regulatory
environment of its clients, such as the requirement for pension fund managers to obtain property
valuations on an annual basis. In addition, elements of Altus’ business, such as its Realty Tax practice
area, are significantly influenced by the regulatory regime and any changes thereto. Any change to laws,
rules, regulations or policies may significantly and adversely affect the operations and financial
performance of Altus.
Risk of future legal proceedings
Altus is threatened from time to time with, or is named as a defendant in, or may become subject to
various legal proceedings in the ordinary course of conducting its business, including lawsuits based
upon professional errors and omissions. A significant judgment against Altus, or the imposition of a
significant fine or penalty as a result of a finding that Altus has failed to comply with laws, regulations,
contractual or other arrangements or professional standards, could have a significant adverse impact on
Altus’ financial performance. Should any of the indemnities made in favor of Altus in respect of these
assignments fail to be respected or enforced, Altus may suffer material adverse financial effects.
Insurance limits
Management believes that Altus’ professional errors and omissions insurance and director and officer
liability insurance coverage addresses all material insurable risks, provide coverage that is similar to that
which would be maintained by a prudent operator of a similar business and are subject to deductibles,
limits and exclusions, which are customary or reasonable given the cost of procuring insurance and
current operating conditions. However, there can be no assurance that such insurance will continue to be
offered on an economically affordable basis, that all events that could give rise to a loss or liability are
insurable or that the amounts of insurance will at all times be sufficient to cover each and every loss or
claim that may occur involving the assets or operations of Altus.
Income tax matters
In the ordinary course of business, Altus may be subject to audits by tax authorities. While management
anticipates that Altus’ tax filing positions will be appropriate and supportable, it is possible that tax
matters, including the calculation and determination of revenue, expenditures, deductions, credits and
other tax attributes, taxable income and taxes payable, may be reviewed and challenged by the tax
authorities. If such challenge were to succeed, it could have a material adverse effect on Altus’ tax
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position. Further, the interpretation of and changes in tax laws, whether by legislative or judicial action or
decision, and the administrative policies and assessing practices of taxation authorities, could materially
adversely affect Altus’ tax position.
Ability to meet solvency requirements to pay dividends
The ability of Altus to pay dividends is dependent on the operations and assets of Altus, and is subject to
various factors including Altus’ financial performance, its obligations under applicable bank credit
facilities, fluctuations in its working capital, the sustainability of its margins and its capital expenditure
requirements.
Leverage and restrictive covenants
The ability of Altus to pay dividends or make other payments or advances is subject to applicable laws
and contractual restrictions contained in the instruments governing any indebtedness owed by Altus or
its subsidiaries (including the bank credit facilities). The degree to which Altus is leveraged could have
important consequences to its shareholders. For example, Altus’ ability to obtain additional financing for
working capital, capital expenditures or acquisitions in the future may be limited; a significant portion of
Altus’ cash flow from operations may be dedicated to the payment of principal and interest on its
indebtedness, thereby reducing funds available for future operations; certain of Altus’ borrowings will be
subject to variable rates of interests, which exposes Altus to the risk of increased interest rates; and Altus
may be more vulnerable to economic downturns and be limited in its ability to withstand competitor
pressures.
The bank credit facilities contain numerous restrictive covenants that limit the discretion of Altus’
management with respect to certain business matters. These covenants place significant restrictions on,
among other things, the ability of Altus to create liens or other encumbrances, to pay dividends or make
certain other payments, investments, loans and guarantees and to sell or otherwise dispose of assets and
merge or consolidate with another entity. In addition, the bank credit facilities contain a number of
financial covenants that require Altus to meet certain financial ratios and financial condition tests. Failure
to comply with the obligations provided in the bank credit facilities could result in a default which, if not
cured or waived, could result in the termination of dividends paid by Altus and accelerate the repayment
of the relevant indebtedness. If repayments of indebtedness under the bank credit facilities were to be
accelerated, there can be no assurance that the assets of Altus would be sufficient to repay the relevant
indebtedness in full. In addition, the bank credit facilities will mature in 2015. There can be no assurance
that future borrowings or equity financing will be available to Altus or available on acceptable terms, in
an amount sufficient to fund Altus’ needs. If Altus is unable to obtain financing on the expiration of the
bank credit facilities or is unable to obtain financing on favourable terms, Altus’ ability to pay dividends
may be adversely affected.
Unpredictability and volatility of common share price
Altus’ common shares do not necessarily trade at prices determined by reference to the underlying value
of Altus’ business and cannot be predicted. The market price of the common shares may be subject to
significant fluctuations in response to variations in quarterly operating results and other factors. In
addition, securities markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations from time to time
in recent years that are often unrelated or disproportionately related to the operating performance of
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particular issuers. These broad fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of Altus’ common
shares.
Capital investment
The timing and amount of capital expenditures made by Altus or any of its subsidiaries indirectly affect
the amount of cash available for the payment of dividends to shareholders. Dividends may be reduced, or
even eliminated, at times when Altus deems it necessary to make significant capital or other
expenditures.
Issuance of additional common shares diluting existing shareholders’ interests
Altus is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares for such consideration and on such
terms and conditions as shall be determined by the Board of Directors without shareholder approval,
except as required by the TSX. In addition, Altus may, at its option, satisfy its obligations with respect to
interest payable on the Canadian and US convertible debentures and repayment of the face value of the
Canadian and US convertible debentures through the issuance of common shares.

Outlook
We believe in the strength of our business model which is supported by our business verticals, the
breadth of our client base, and the resulting diversification of our revenue stream.
The depth and diversity of our service offerings has been important to building our business. More
specifically, the scope of our client base offers a more comprehensive suite of services and industry
insight to customers. Further, we have identified areas of innovation within each of our business units
that we believe support Altus’ ability to bolster that objective.
Our core services, driven by a base of leading industry professionals, provide the foundation to offer
additional targeted solutions to enhance Altus’ value proposition. The additional leverage we have
gained with intelligence software such as Altus Databridge, Argus Enterprise and Argus’ Knowledge
Vault are tools facilitating aggregation, analysis and re‐purposing of data thus empowering clients in
their decision making processes. In their own right, these tools continue to gain traction as the industry
recognizes the increased need to be astute and agile when dealing with their own portfolios.
Across the Company, we have increased a level of rigour within the business and have worked to clarify
our mandate as we move into the future and establish the metrics to get us there. In terms of geographic
reach, we have taken deliberate steps to mitigate challenges in our overseas operations. Going forward,
we believe that we have an appropriate plan in place to create conditions for improved performance.
We have, and will be, taking careful steps to strengthen our balance sheet as we review targeted
divestiture opportunities and other measures in the best interest of the business for both the near and
long‐term future.
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Additional Information
Additional information relating to the Company, including its Annual Information Form is available on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
The common shares of Altus trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol AIF and the
convertible debentures trade under the symbol AIF.DB.
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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Altus Group Limited are the responsibility of
management and have been reviewed by the Board of Directors of Altus Group Limited. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and, where appropriate, reflect management’s best estimates and
judgments. Management has also prepared financial and all other information in the Annual Report and
has ensured that this information is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
The Company maintains appropriate systems of internal control, policies and procedures, which provide
management with reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded and the financial records are reliable
and form a proper basis for preparation of consolidated financial statements.
The Board of Directors of Altus Group Limited ensure that management fulfills its responsibilities for
financial reporting and internal control through an Audit Committee. This committee reviews the
consolidated financial statements and reports to the Board of Directors. The committee meets with the
auditors to discuss the results of the audit, the adequacy of internal accounting controls and financial
reporting matters.
The consolidated financial statements have been independently audited by Ernst & Young LLP in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Their report which follows expresses
their opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

“Stuart Smith”

“Angelo Bartolini”

Stuart Smith
Chief Executive Officer
March 14, 2012

Angelo Bartolini
Chief Financial Officer
March 14, 2012
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of
Altus Group Limited
Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Altus Group Limited which
comprise the consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010
and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss), statements of changes in equity and
statements of cash flows for the years ending December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, and a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Managementʹs Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditorʹs Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditorʹs judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entityʹs preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entityʹs internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinions.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Altus Group Limited as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and the
results of its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ending December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

“Ernst and Young”
Toronto, Ontario
March 14, 2012

Chartered Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
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Altus Group Limited
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Canadian Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
Notes
Revenues
Revenues
Less: disbursements
Net revenue
Expenses
Employee compensation
Occupancy
Office and other operating
Amortization of intangibles
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition related expenses (income)
Share of (profit) loss of associate
Corporate conversion and legal reorganization costs
Restructuring costs
Impairment charge
Operating profit (loss)
Finance costs (income), net

For the year ended
December 31, 2011
$

8

16
15
14
21
16, 17
10

Profit (loss) before income tax
Income tax expense (recovery)
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to equity holders
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Cash flow hedges
Currency translation differences
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax,
attributable to equity holders
Earnings (loss) per share/unit attributable to the equity
holders of the Company during the year
Basic earnings (loss) per share/unit
Diluted earnings (loss) per share/unit

11
$

301,158
34,239
266,919

For the year ended
December 31, 2010
$

180,887
13,060
40,028
17,898
5,883
2,924
1,073
89
4,403
9,235
(8,561)
11,436

157,953
11,478
26,868
21,585
4,226
(12,445)
1,086
1,216
‐
14,000
1,138
12,923

(19,997)

(11,785)

(1,687)
(18,310)

$

(2,884)
8,072
5,188

26
26

$

29
29

252,457
25,352
227,105

(13,122)

$(0.80)
$(0.80)

(2,513)
(9,272)
(95)
(3,317)
(3,412)

$

(12,684)

$(0.46)
$(0.46)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Altus Group Limited
Consolidated Balance Sheets
As at December 31, 2011 and 2010 and January 1, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Canadian Dollars)
Notes December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Current income taxes recoverable
Non‐current assets
Trade and other receivables
Investment in associate
Investment tax credits recoverable
Deferred income taxes
Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles
Goodwill

12
13

$

13
14
11
15
16
17

Total Assets

$

6,590
102,749
1,417
110,756
3,498
7,226
1,105
9,222
22,245
98,467
213,951
355,714
466,470

$

$

42,627
90,781
368
133,776
3,211
7,299
67
3,213
17,460
47,287
151,776
230,313
364,089

January 1, 2010

$

$

9,042
77,344
179
86,565
1,833
5,385
‐
2,119
16,640
53,167
163,460
242,604
329,169

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current income taxes payable
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Provisions

19
20
21

Non‐current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Provisions
Deferred income taxes
Unitholders’ liabilities

18
19
20
21
11
22

13,772
214,601
6,089
528
593
1,429
237,012
315,477

7,191
131,592
5,036
49
1,116
36,738
181,722
221,724

12,631
70,184
577
357
3,187
34,745
121,681
159,463

23
24
19
25
26
27

280,035
‐
4,634
2,227
1,470
(137,373)
150,993

‐
246,099
‐
‐
(3,718)
(100,016)
142,365

‐
236,812
‐
‐
(306)
(66,800)
169,706

18

$

Total Liabilities
Shareholders’/Unitholders’ Equity
Share capital
Units
Equity component of convertible debentures
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Deficit
Total Shareholders’/Unitholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and
Shareholders’/Unitholders’ Equity

$

66,368
70
9,316
‐
2,711
78,465

466,470

$

$

38,312
718
441
145
386
40,002

364,089

$

$

36,468
802
396
‐
116
37,782

329,169

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved on Behalf of the Board of Directors
“Harvey Naglie”
Harvey Naglie

”Eric Slavens”’
Eric Slavens
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Altus Group Limited
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
For the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Canadian Dollars)

Notes
At January 1, 2010
Profit (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
(loss), net of tax:
Cash flow hedges
Currency translation
differences
Total comprehensive income
(loss) for the year
Transaction with owners:
Distributions declared
Units issued to Trustees
as compensation
Units issued to others as
compensation
Units issued on
acquisitions
Fractional units redeemed
Units issued under
Executive
Compensation Plan
At December 31, 2010
At January 1, 2011
Profit (loss) for the year
Other comprehensive income
(loss), net of tax:
Cash flow hedges
Currency translation
differences
Total comprehensive income
(loss) for the year
Transaction with owners:
Units exchanged into
common shares
Reclassification of
Executive
Compensation Plan into
contributed surplus
Reclassification of
convertible debentures
option into equity
Dividends declared
Shares issued to Directors
as compensation
Shares issued to others as
compensation
Executive Compensation
Plan
Argus acquisition share
options
Shares issued under
Executive
Compensation Plan
Shares issued under
purchase price
adjustments
Settlement obligation

Share Capital
$

‐
‐

Units
$

$

‐
‐

Contributed
Surplus
$

‐
‐

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
$

(306)
‐

Deficit
$

(66,800)
(9,272)

Total
Shareholders’/
Unitholders’
Equity
$

169,706
(9,272)

26

‐

‐

‐

‐

(95)

‐

(95)

26

‐

‐

‐

‐

(3,317)

‐

(3,317)

$
30

$
$

‐

$

‐

$

‐

$

‐

$

(3,412)

$

(9,272)

$

(12,684)

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

(23,944)

(23,944)

‐

68

‐

‐

‐

‐

68

‐

60

‐

‐

‐

‐

60

‐
‐

3,629
(1)

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

3,629
(1)

‐
‐

5,531
9,287

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
(23,944)

5,531
(14,657)

‐
‐
‐

$
$

246,099
246,099
‐

$
$

‐
‐
‐

$
$

‐
‐
‐

$
$

(3,718)
(3,718)
‐

$
$

(100,016)
(100,016)
(18,310)

$
$

142,365
142,365
(18,310)

26

‐

‐

‐

‐

(2,884)

‐

(2,884)

26

‐

‐

‐

‐

8,072

‐

8,072

$

‐

$

‐

$

‐

$

‐

$

5,188

$

(18,310)

$

(13,122)

23, 24

276,890

(246,099)

‐

‐

‐

‐

30,791

28

‐

‐

‐

4,334

‐

‐

4,334

19
30

‐
‐

‐
‐

4,634
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
(17,142)

4,634
(17,142)

23

44

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

44

23

5

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

5

28

‐

‐

‐

202

‐

‐

202

6, 28

‐

‐

‐

459

‐

‐

459

23, 28

2,920

‐

‐

(2,768)

‐

‐

152

6, 23
27

176
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
(1,905)

176
(1,905)

280,035
At December 31, 2011

236,812
‐

Equity
Component of
Convertible
Debentures

$

280,035

(246,099)
$

‐

4,634
$

4,634

2,227
$

2,227

‐
$

1,470

(19,047)
$

(137,373)

21,750
$

150,993

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Altus Group Limited
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Canadian Dollars)
For the year ended For the year ended
Notes December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit (loss) before income tax
Adjustments for:
Amortization of intangibles
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of lease inducements
Impairment charge
Investment tax credits and media tax credit recorded through
employee compensation
Finance costs (income), net
Executive Compensation Plan
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Share of (profit) loss of associate
Net changes in operating working capital
Less: interest paid
Less: income tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of options
Redemption of Altus UK LLP Class B and D limited liability
partnership units
Financing fees paid
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Dividends/distributions paid
Interest paid to other unitholders
Net cash generated from financing activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of investment
Acquisitions (net of cash acquired)
Purchase of intangibles
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Effect of foreign currency translation
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of year
End of year

$

16
15
16, 17

10
28

22

6

$

(19,997)

$

(11,785)

17,898
5,883
1,827
9,235

21,585
4,226
195
14,000

(1,708)
11,436
202
3,291
276
1,073
1,238
30,654
(7,650)
(1,379)
21,625

‐
12,923
5,615
(705)
102
1,086
(25,128)
22,114
(3,646)
(1,001)
17,467

152

1,506

(455)
(4,085)
88,673
(46,814)
(13,685)
(260)
23,526

(709)
(2,482)
68,335
(423)
(26,128)
(4,236)
35,863

(1,000)
(67,863)
(2,710)
(9,596)
177
(80,992)
(196)
(36,037)

(3,000)
(9,798)
(1,745)
(4,843)
123
(19,263)
(482)
33,585

42,627
6,590

$

9,042
42,627

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
1.

Business and Structure
Altus Group Limited (the “Company”) was formed through the completion of a plan of arrangement
under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) (“the Arrangement”) pursuant to an information
circular dated November 8, 2010, whereby Altus Group Income Fund (the “Fund”) was converted
from an unincorporated open‐ended limited purpose trust into a corporate structure (the “Corporate
Conversion”). The Corporate Conversion through a series of transactions involved the exchange, on a
one‐for‐one basis, of the Fund Units and the Class B limited partnership units of Altus Group Limited
Partnership (“Altus LP”) for common shares of the Company. As a result of this reorganization, Altus
LP, Altus Operating Trust and the Fund were liquidated and dissolved. The effective date of the
Corporate Conversion was January 1, 2011. The Company continues to operate the business of the
Fund. The figures for the comparative period are those of the Fund.
The Company directly or indirectly owns or controls operating entities located within Canada, the
United Kingdom (“UK”), the United States of America (“US”), Australia and several countries in Asia
and provides real estate consulting, professional advisory, technical services and front‐office and
back‐office commercial real estate software applications and e‐business solutions. The Company
conducts its business through five segments: Research, Valuation & Advisory (“RVA”), Cost
Consulting & Project Management (“Cost”), Realty Tax Consulting (“Realty Tax”), Geomatics and
Argus Software applications (“Argus Software”).
The address of the Company’s registered office is 33 Yonge Street, Suite 500, Toronto, Ontario,
Canada. It is listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange and is domiciled in Canada.
“Altus” refers to the consolidated operations of Altus Group Limited.

2.

Basis of Preparation and Adoption of IFRS
The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) as set out in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants (“CICA Handbook”). In 2010, the CICA Handbook was revised to
incorporate International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), and require publicly accountable
enterprises to apply these standards effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.
Accordingly, these are the Company’s first annual consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).
In these consolidated financial statements, the term “Canadian GAAP” refers to Canadian GAAP
before the adoption of IFRS.
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Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
2.

Basis of Preparation and Adoption of IFRS, cont’d
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Subject to
certain transition elections and exceptions described in Note 5, the Company has consistently applied
the same accounting policies in its opening IFRS balance sheet as at January 1, 2010 and throughout
all periods presented. Note 5 discloses the impact of the transition to IFRS on the Company’s reported
financial position, financial performance and cash flows, including the nature and effect of significant
changes in accounting policies from those used in the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2010 prepared under Canadian GAAP.
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors for issue on March
14, 2012. The Board of Directors have the power to amend the consolidated financial statements once
issued.

3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are set out below.
Basis of Measurement
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis using the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities,
including derivatives, at fair value through profit or loss.
Consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities, including special purpose entities, over which the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more
than one half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Company controls another
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the
Company. They are de‐consolidated from the date that control ceases.
Inter‐company transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses on transactions between
subsidiaries are eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company.
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Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
The Company uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations, when
control is acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of
the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Company. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition‐related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition‐by‐acquisition basis, the
Company recognizes any non‐controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the
non‐controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non‐controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition‐date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value
of the Company’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognized directly in profit or loss.
Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Company has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding and/or voting rights of between 20% and 50%. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognized at
cost from the date at which significant influence is obtained. The Company’s investment in its
associates includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any accumulated impairment loss.
The Company’s share of its associates’ post‐acquisition profits or losses is recognized in profit or loss,
and its share of post‐acquisition movements in other comprehensive income (loss) is recognized in
other comprehensive income (loss). The cumulative post‐acquisition movements are adjusted against
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Company’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Company does not
recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
Unrealized gains on transactions between the Company and its associates are eliminated to the extent
of the Company’s interest in the associates. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of its
associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Company.
The Company assesses at each year‐end whether there is any objective evidence that its interests in
associates are impaired. If impaired, the carrying value of the Company’s share of the underlying
assets of associates is written down to its estimated recoverable amount, being the higher of fair value
less cost to sell and value in use, and charged to profit or loss.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
As determined by International Accounting Standard 28, Investments in Associates, the Company
has significant influence with respect to its investment in Real Matters Inc. (“Real Matters”). As a
result, the equity method is used to account for this investment.
Transactions
The Company accounts for transactions with non‐controlling interests with no change in control as
transactions with equity owners of the Company. For purchases from non‐controlling interests, the
difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of
net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals with no change in
control to non‐controlling interests are also recorded in equity.
When the Company ceases to have control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity
is re‐measured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. The
fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Company had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) are reclassified to profit or loss.
If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue comprises of the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of services
in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities. Revenue is shown net of returns and discounts
and after eliminating intercompany sales.
The Company recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have been
met for each of the Company’s activities as described below. The Company bases its estimates on
historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Sale of services
The Company provides real estate consulting and professional advisory services. These services are
provided on a time incurred basis, as a fixed‐price contract or as contingency arrangements, with
contract terms generally ranging from less than one year to three years. Services revenue is generated
from cost plus contracts, fixed price contracts and contingency arrangements, and is recognized using
the percentage of completion method. The stage of completion is measured by reference to hours or
contract costs. Cost plus contracts record revenue on an hourly basis as work is performed. Fixed
price contracts record revenue on a percentage of completion basis based on a measure of contract
costs or hours incurred to date against total estimated costs or hours for each contract. Contingency
arrangements record revenue when the uncertainty is resolved and the outcome of the contract
becomes determinable and it is more likely than not that costs incurred will be recovered. Losses are
recognized in the period identified such that provisions are made for any onerous contracts to cover
the cost of fulfilling the obligation.
If circumstances arise that may change the original estimates of revenues, costs or extent of progress
toward completion, estimates are revised. These revisions may result in increases or decreases in
estimated revenues and are reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the circumstances that
give rise to the revision become known by management.
Services rendered but not yet billed are recognized in revenue on the basis described above and
recorded as unbilled revenue on customer contracts within trade and other receivables less progress
bills. Progress bills not yet paid by customers are included within trade and other receivables.
Customer retainers are included in trade and other payables to the extent that they exceed unbilled
revenue on customer contracts.
Subscription‐based products, including software term licenses
Subscription revenues from sales of products and services that are delivered under a contract over a
period of time are recognized on a straight‐line basis over the term of the subscription. Where
applicable, usage fees above a base period fee are recognized as services are delivered. Subscription
revenue received or receivable in advance of the delivery of services or publications is included in
deferred revenue within trade and other payables.
Sale of perpetual software licenses
Revenue from the sale of perpetual software licenses is generally recognized upon delivery of the
products, provided that no significant vendor obligations remain, the prices are fixed and
determinable, and collection is probable.
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Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Multiple component arrangements
Where a single sales transaction requires the delivery of more than one product or service (multiple
components), revenue recognition criteria are applied to separately identifiable components. A
component is considered to be separately identifiable if the product or service delivered has
stand‐alone value to that customer and the fair value associated with the product or service can be
measured reliably, and delivery or performance of the undelivered components is considered
probable and substantially under the Company’s control. The amount recognized as revenue for each
component is the fair value of the element in relation to the fair value of the arrangement as a whole.
Sales involving third parties
Revenue is recorded on a gross basis when the Company is a principal to the transaction and net of
costs when the Company is acting as an agent between the customer and the vendor. Several factors
are considered in determining whether the Company is a principal or an agent to a transaction,
including who is the primary obligator to the customer, who establishes pricing, whether the amount
earned is fixed, and who bears the credit risk.
Segment Reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision‐maker. The chief operating decision‐maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Chief
Executive Officer.
Foreign Currency Translation
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars ($), which is the Company’s
presentation currency. Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company’s
subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”).
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the appropriate functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in profit or loss, except for qualifying cash flow
hedges which are deferred in other comprehensive income (loss).
All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of comprehensive income (loss)
within office and other operating expenses.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
The results and financial position of the Company’s subsidiaries that have a functional currency
different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(a) assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet;
(b) income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates; and
(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).
When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, exchange differences that were recorded in
equity are recognized in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on sale.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
Leases
Leases are classified as either operating or finance, based on the substance of the transaction at
inception of the lease.
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases, net of any incentives
received from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss within occupancy or office and other operating,
depending on the lease, on a straight‐line basis over the period of the lease.
The Company leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and
equipment, where the Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership, are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower of
the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings. The interest element of the finance
cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the
lease term.
Current and Deferred Income Taxes
The tax expense for the period is comprised of current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in profit or
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) or
directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.
Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except for deferred income tax liabilities where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non‐current.
Investment Tax Credits
Investment tax credits, arising from qualifying scientific research and experimental development
efforts pursuant to existing tax legislation, are recorded as a reduction of employee compensation
expense when there is reasonable assurance of their ultimate realization.
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Employee Benefits
The Company has one defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under
which the Company pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Company has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the Company does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. The
contributions are recognized as employee compensation when service to which they relate has been
rendered. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.
Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Company recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to a
termination and when the entity has a detailed formal plan to terminate the employment of current
employees without possibility of withdrawal. In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are
discounted to their present value.
Profit‐sharing and bonus plans
The Company recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses, profit‐sharing and long‐term service
awards, based on a performance measure that takes into consideration the profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Company recognizes the expense and related
liability over the service period where contractually obliged or when there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation, which can be reliably measured.
Share‐based Payments
The Company operates a number of equity‐settled share‐based compensation plans under which it
receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Company: a
Share/Unit Option Plan and a Deferred Performance Plan. The Deferred Performance Plan was in
operation prior to the Corporate Conversion and was replaced with the Equity Compensation Plan
post Corporate Conversion.
The Company also has a cash‐settled share‐based compensation plan for its Board of Directors, the
Directors’ Deferred Share Unit Plan (“DSU Plan”).
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Share/Unit Option Plan
The Company recognizes a compensation expense through profit or loss related to employee share
option grants that will be settled by issuing common shares. The compensation expense is the fair
value of the share options on the grant date using the Black‐Scholes option pricing model and is
recognized through profit or loss with a corresponding credit to contributed surplus over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions are satisfied. For awards
with graded vesting, the fair value of each tranche is recognized over its respective vesting period. On
the exercise of the options, the consideration paid by the employee and the related fair value of the
option are credited to share capital within shareholders’ equity.
At the end of each reporting period, the Company re‐assesses its estimate of the number of awards
that are expected to vest and recognizes the impact of the revisions within employee compensation
through profit or loss.
As a result of the Corporate Conversion, the Company assumed the obligation of the Fund in respect
of outstanding Fund Unit options. Upon exercise of the outstanding Fund Unit options, holders will
receive the number of common shares equal to the number of Fund Units they would have been
entitled to receive in accordance with the Fund’s Unit Option Plan.
Fund Units were classified as equity as they met the requirement under the puttable instrument
exemption as outlined in International Accounting Standard 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation
(“IAS 32”). This exemption, however, only applies to the presentation requirements of this standard,
and in all other respects of IFRS, the Fund Units are considered liabilities. As a result, prior to the
Corporate Conversion, existing obligations to deliver Fund Units were recorded as liabilities within
trade and other payables and were required to be recorded over the service period to which the
award related. In addition, any changes in the value of the award due to changes in unit price were
recognized immediately as employee compensation through profit or loss. Once the plan was
modified to become options for common shares of the Company on January 1, 2011, the options were
considered to be an equity‐settled compensation arrangement and the existing liability was
reclassified to contributed surplus. The compensation expense is recorded over the remaining vesting
period, as outlined above, based on the measured fair value at the date of modification.
Deferred Performance Plan
As a result of the Corporate Conversion, the Deferred Performance Plan was replaced with the Equity
Compensation Plan. Further, the Altus Group Income Fund Employee Benefit Plan Trust (“Altus
EBT”), which was formed to hold units of the Company for purposes of executive compensation, was
wound up and the right to outstanding units was replaced with a right to common shares.
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The Company recognizes a compensation expense through profit or loss related to the Deferred
Performance Plan that will be settled by issuing units. The expense is determined based on the
pay‐out ratio achieved by the Fund and the distributions declared and paid by the Fund in respect of
2,213,668 underlying Units approved for issuance.
In 2010, under IFRS, Fund Units and Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units were
classified as equity as they met the requirement under the puttable instrument exemption as outlined
in IAS 32. This exemption, however, only applies to the presentation requirements of this standard,
and in all other respects of IFRS, these units are considered liabilities. As a result, prior to the
Corporate Conversion, existing obligations to deliver units were recorded as liabilities within trade
and other payables, and were required to be recorded over the service period to which the award
related. In addition, any changes in the value of the award due to changes in unit price were
recognized immediately as employee compensation through profit or loss.
Once the plan was modified to become settled in common shares of the Company on January 1, 2011,
the plan was considered to be an equity‐settled compensation arrangement and the existing liability
was reclassified to contributed surplus. When common shares are issued to settle the obligation, the
amount previously recorded in contributed surplus is transferred to share capital within
shareholders’ equity.
Equity Compensation Plan
The Company recognizes a compensation expense through profit or loss related to the Equity
Compensation Plan based on a proportion of the annual bonus expected to be settled by issuance of
equity. This compensation expense is recognized through profit or loss with a corresponding credit to
contributed surplus. If common shares are issued to settle the obligation, the amount previously
recorded in contributed surplus is transferred to share capital within shareholders’ equity. If the
Company elects to settle the obligation in a cash payment, then the amount recorded in contributed
surplus is reversed and any additional expenses are recorded immediately on settlement.
Directors’ Deferred Share Unit Plan
The Company recognizes a compensation expense through profit or loss for each deferred share unit
granted equal to the market value of the Company’s common shares on the grant date with a
corresponding credit to trade and other payables. Changes in the liability subsequent to the grant
date and prior to settlement, due to changes in fair value of common shares, are recorded as
compensation expense in the period incurred. The deferred share units are settled in cash upon
termination of Board service.

65

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Financial Assets and Liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows
from the assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired.
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables, available‐for‐sale or held to maturity. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition. The Company has no financial assets classified as
available‐for‐sale or held to maturity.
The Company classifies its financial liabilities as fair value through profit or loss or as other financial
liabilities. The classification depends on the purpose for which the liability was assumed, and is
determined at initial recognition.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non‐derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non‐current assets. Loans
and receivables are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently carried at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.
Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets or liabilities held
for trading. A financial asset or liability is classified in this category if acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorized as fair value through profit or
loss unless they are designated as hedges. Assets or liabilities in this category are classified as current
assets or liabilities if expected to be settled within 12 months, otherwise, they are classified as
non‐current. These assets or liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently
re‐measured at their fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial
assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss category are presented in the statement of
comprehensive income (loss) within finance costs or acquisition related expenses, depending on the
nature of the item in place, in the period in which they arise.
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Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are non‐derivative financial liabilities that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current liabilities, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period. These are classified as non‐current liabilities. These liabilities are initially
recognized at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortized cost with gains and losses being
recognized in profit or loss in the period that the liability is no longer recognized.
Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance
sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The Company has classified its financial assets and liabilities as follows:
Financial Asset/Liability
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments and lease inducements)
Trade and other payables (excluding
lease inducements, deferred revenue
and contingent consideration payable)
Contingent consideration payable
Borrowings
Unitholders’ liabilities

Classification
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables

Other liabilities
Fair value through profit or loss
Other liabilities
Fair value through profit or loss

Impairment of Financial Assets
Assets carried at amortized cost
The Company assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
The criteria used to determine if objective evidence of an impairment loss include:




delinquencies in payments;
significant financial difficulty of the obligor; and,
it becomes probable that the obligor will enter bankruptcy.
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For loans and receivables, the amount of loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, excluding future credit losses
that have not been incurred, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognized in profit or loss. If a
loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating, the reversal of the previously recognized impairment loss
is recognized in profit or loss.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, bank balances and short‐term, highly liquid
investments which generally have original maturities of three months or less.
Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Company has entered into interest rate swap agreements for the purposes of managing interest
rate exposure and not for trading or speculative purposes. Derivatives are initially recognized at fair
value when a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re‐measured at their fair value.
Derivatives that have been designated and function effectively as a hedge are accounted for using
hedge accounting principles.
Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at
fair value with changes in fair value recorded as finance costs in profit or loss.
The Company documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for
undertaking various hedging transactions. The Company also documents its assessment, both at
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items.
The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in the
balance sheet within derivative financial instruments. Movements on the hedging reserve in other
comprehensive income (loss) are disclosed in Note 26. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is
classified as a non‐current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more
than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is
less than 12 months.

68

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Cash flow hedges
For derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the
changes in fair value is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) and any ineffective portion
is recognized immediately in profit or loss within finance costs.
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss, within finance costs, in the periods
when the hedged item affects profit or loss, for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes
place.
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is
recognized in profit or loss when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized.
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was
reported in equity is immediately transferred to profit or loss within finance costs.
Property, Plant and Equipment
All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.
Additional costs incurred with respect to a specific asset are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any replaced part is written down. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the assets on the
diminishing balance method as follows:
Buildings
Parking lot
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Computer equipment

4%
8%
20‐35%
30%

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a straight‐line basis over the shorter of the remaining
lease term or useful life.
Land and buildings is comprised of office space. Land is not depreciated.
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The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognized in profit or loss within office and other operating expenses.
Intangibles
Intangibles acquired in business combinations
Brands, custom software applications, internally generated software, customer backlog, customer
lists and databases acquired as part of a business combination are recognized at fair value at the
acquisition date. Intangibles with a finite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated amortization.
Computer application software
Acquired computer application software is recorded at cost less accumulated amortization.
Custom software applications
Costs associated with maintaining computer software applications are recognized as an expense as
incurred. Development costs that are directly attributable to the design, build and testing of
identifiable and unique software applications controlled by the Company are recognized as
intangibles when the following criteria are met:
‐
‐
‐
‐

it is technically feasible to complete the software application so that it will be available for use;
management intends to complete the software application and either use or sell it;
there is an ability to use or sell the software application;
it can be demonstrated how the software application will generate probable future economic
benefits;
‐ adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or
sell the software application are available; and
‐ the expenditure attributable to the software application during its development can be reliably
measured.
Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the software application include employee
developer costs.
Development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as incurred.
Development expenditures recognized as an expense in a period cannot be restated as an asset in a
future reporting period.
Non‐compete agreements
Acquired non‐compete agreements are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization.

70

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Intangibles with a finite life are amortized over the period of expected future benefit on the
straight‐line or diminishing balance method:
Brands of acquired businesses
Computer application software
Custom software applications
Internally generated software
Customer backlog
Customer lists
Databases
Non‐compete agreements

1 year straight‐line
30% diminishing balance
2‐5 years straight‐line
5 years straight line
straight‐line over remaining life of contracts
5‐10 years straight‐line
2 years straight‐line
straight‐line over life of agreements

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, as discussed below in Impairment
of Non‐Financial Assets.
The Altus Group and Argus brands are intangibles with an indefinite life and are not amortized.
Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Company’s share
of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently should a change in circumstances indicate the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment
losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (“CGUs”) for the purpose of impairment testing. The
allocation is made to those CGUs or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from synergies of the
business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified according to operating segment.
Goodwill is tested for impairment in the groups of CGUs for which it is monitored by management.
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Impairment of Non‐Financial Assets
Goodwill and intangibles that have an indefinite useful life are tested annually for impairment and
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows and CGUs. Non‐financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
Borrowings
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortized cost with any difference between the proceeds, net of transaction
costs, and the redemption value recognized in finance costs over the term of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw‐down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre‐payment for liquidity services
and amortized over the period of the facility to which it relates.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities if the payment is due within one year or less. If the
Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
end of the reporting period, or any payments are due after more than one year, these are classified as
non‐current liabilities.
Provisions
Provisions represent liabilities to the Company for which the amount or timing is uncertain.
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future
operating losses.

72

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
3.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, cont’d
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The difference between the nominal amount of the provision
and the discounted amount is amortized as a finance cost over the period to settlement and
correspondingly increases the carrying amount of the provision.
Share Capital and Units
Common shares issued by the Company are classified as equity.
Fund Units and Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units are classified as equity as they
meet the requirement under the puttable instrument exception as outlined in IAS 32. As outlined in
Note 1, these units were exchanged into common shares as part of the Corporate Conversion.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new common shares or Fund Units are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
When the Company purchases its own equity share capital, treasury shares, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs, net of tax, is deducted from equity attributable
to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such common
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to
the Company’s equity holders.
Dividends
Dividends to the Company’s shareholders are recognized as a liability in the Company’s financial
statements in the period in which the dividends are declared by the Company’s Board of Directors.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
The following standards and amendments to existing standards have been published and are
mandatory for the Company’s accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012 or later
periods. The Company has not early adopted them.
International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial Instruments
International Financial Reporting Standard 9, Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), was issued in
November 2009 and contained requirements for financial assets. This standard addresses
classification and measurement of financial assets and replaces the multiple category and
measurement models in International Accounting Standard 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement (“IAS 39”), for debt instruments with a new mixed measurement model having
only two categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the
models for measuring equity instruments, and such instruments are either recognized at fair value
through profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss). Where such equity
instruments are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss), dividends are
recognized in profit or loss to the extent not clearly representing a return of investment, however,
other gains and losses, including impairments, associated with such instruments remain in
accumulated comprehensive income (loss) indefinitely. Requirements for financial liabilities were
added in October 2010 and they largely carried forward existing requirements in IAS 39 except that
fair value changes due to credit risk for liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss would
generally be recorded in other comprehensive income (loss). IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2015. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not yet
begun the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
International Accounting Standard 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
International Accounting Standard 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (“IAS 28”), was
amended in 2011 and prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the
requirements for the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates
and joint ventures. IAS 28 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier
application is permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this
amendment on its consolidated financial statements.
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International Financial Reporting Standard 10, Consolidated Financial Statements
International Financial Reporting Standard 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”),
requires an entity to consolidate an investee when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Under existing IFRS, consolidation is required when an entity has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. IFRS 10
supersedes IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and Standing Interpretations
Committee Interpretation 12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, and is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not
yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial
statements.
International Financial Reporting Standard 11, Joint Arrangements
International Financial Reporting Standard 11, Joint Arrangements (“IFRS 11”), requires a venturer to
classify its interest in a joint arrangement as a joint venture or joint operation. Joint ventures will be
accounted for using the equity method of accounting whereas for a joint operation the venturer will
recognize its share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the joint operation. Under
existing IFRS, entities have the choice to proportionately consolidate or equity account for interests in
joint ventures. IFRS 11 supersedes current International Accounting Standard 31, Interests in Joint
Ventures, and Standing Interpretations Committee Interpretation 13, Jointly Controlled Entities –
Non‐Monetary Contributions by Ventures, and is effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of
evaluating the impact of this standard on its consolidated financial statements.
International Financial Reporting Standard 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
International Financial Reporting Standard 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities (“IFRS 12”),
establishes disclosure requirements for interests in other entities, such as joint arrangements,
associates, special purpose vehicles and off balance sheet vehicles. The standard carries forward
existing disclosure requirements and also introduces significant additional disclosure requirements
that address the nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities. IFRS 12 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application is permitted.
The Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this standard on its
consolidated financial statements.
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International Financial Reporting Standard 13, Fair Value Measurements
International Financial Reporting Standard 13, Fair Value Measurements (“IFRS 13”), is a
comprehensive standard for fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across all
IFRS standards. The new standard clarifies that fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants, at the
measurement date. It also establishes disclosures about fair value measurement. Under existing IFRS,
guidance on measuring and disclosing fair value is dispersed among the specific standards requiring
fair value measurements and in many cases does not reflect a clear measurement basis or consistent
disclosures. IFRS 13 is to be applied for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier
application is permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this
standard on its consolidated financial statements.
International Accounting Standard 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
International Accounting Standard 1, Presentation of Financial Statements (“IAS 1”), was amended in
2011 and requires entities to group items presented in other comprehensive income (loss) on the basis
of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss in subsequent periods. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. Earlier application is permitted.
The Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this amendment on its
consolidated financial statements.
International Financial Reporting Standard 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures
International Financial Reporting Standard 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (“IFRS 7”), was
amended in 2011 and requires entities to disclose information about the effects of offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities and related arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Earlier application
is permitted. The Company has not yet begun the process of evaluating the impact of this amendment
on its consolidated financial statements.
International Accounting Standard 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation
International Accounting Standard 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation, was amended in 2011 and
provides additional guidance when applying the offsetting requirements and clarifies the meaning of
“currently has a legally enforceable right of set‐off” and that some gross settlement systems may be
considered equivalent to net settlement. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2014. Earlier application is permitted. The Company has not yet begun the
process of evaluating the impact of this amendment on its consolidated financial statements.
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4.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and
assumptions concerning the future. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in applying
the Company’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the actual results. The following discussion sets forth management’s most significant estimates
and assumptions in determining the value of assets and liabilities and the most significant judgments
in applying accounting policies.
Revenue recognition and valuation of unbilled revenue on customer contracts
Use of the percentage of completion method requires the Company to estimate the services
performed to date as a proportion of the total services to be performed based on budgeted costs and
time required to complete a project. Errors in estimating the percentage of completion could lead to
the under or overvaluation of revenue.
The Company values its unbilled revenue based on the time and materials charged to each particular
project. The unbilled revenue for each project is reviewed on a monthly basis by the controller
responsible for the business unit and the consultant responsible for the project to determine whether
the amount is a true reflection of the amount that will be invoiced in respect of the project. Where the
review determines that the value of unbilled revenue exceeds the amount that can be invoiced,
adjustments are made to the unbilled revenue. The valuation of the unbilled revenue involves
estimates of the amount of work required to complete the project. Errors in estimating the amount of
work required to complete the projects could lead to the under or overvaluation of unbilled revenue.
Revenue recognition and multiple component arrangements
The Company assesses the criteria for the recognition of revenue for arrangements that have multiple
components. These assessments require judgment by management to determine if there are
separately identifiable components and how the total price of the arrangement is to be allocated
among the components. Deliverables are accounted for as separately identifiable components if the
product or service has stand‐alone value to the customer and the fair value associated with the
product or service can be measured reliably. In determining whether components are separately
identifiable, management considers, among other factors, whether the product or service is sold
separately by the Company in the normal course of operations or whether the customer could
purchase the product or service separately. With respect to the allocation of the total price among the
components, management uses its judgment to assign a fair value to each component. Fair value is
determined based on such items as the price for the component when sold separately and renewal
rates for specific components. Changes in these assessments and judgments could lead to an increase
or decrease in the amount of revenue recognized in a particular period.
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4.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments, cont’d
Allowance for doubtful accounts
Estimates are used in determining the allowance for doubtful accounts related to trade receivables.
The estimates are based on management’s best assessment of the collectability of the related
receivable balance based, in part, on the age of the specific receivable balance. An allowance is
established when the likelihood of collecting the account has significantly diminished. Future
collections of receivables that differ from management’s current estimates would affect the results of
operations in future periods as well as trade receivables and office and other operating expenses.
Refer to Notes 13 and 31 for the carrying value of the allowance for doubtful accounts.
Estimated impairment of goodwill
The Company tests at least annually whether goodwill is subject to any impairment in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The recoverable amount for any CGU is determined
based on fair value less costs to sell. Both the fair value and costs to sell require the use of estimates.
Refer to Notes 5 and 17 regarding impairments recorded in 2010 and 2011, respectively.
Intangibles
Intangibles are acquired assets that lack physical substance and that meet the specified criteria for
recognition apart from goodwill. Intangibles with a finite life, including computer application
software, custom software applications, internally generated software, customer backlog, customer
lists, databases, and non‐compete agreements are recorded at cost and are amortized over the period
of expected future benefit on the straight‐line method from two to 10 years or on the diminishing
balance method. Intangibles with an indefinite life, which include the Altus Group and Argus
brands, are recorded at cost. On an annual basis, management reviews the carrying amount of
intangibles which have an indefinite life for possible impairment by evaluating the recoverable
amount, which is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Intangibles are
written down to their estimated fair value, as determined by the recoverable amount when a decline
is identified. The determination of the recoverable amount requires the use of management’s best
assessment of the related inputs into the valuation models, such as future cash flows and discount
rates. Refer to Notes 16 and 17 regarding impairments recorded in 2011.
Determination of purchase price allocations and contingent consideration for acquisitions
Estimates are made in determining the fair value of assets and liabilities, including the valuation of
separately identifiable intangibles acquired as part of an acquisition. Further, estimates are made in
determining the value of contingent consideration payments that should be recorded as part of the
cost of purchase on the date of acquisition. Contingent consideration payments are generally based
on acquired companies achieving certain performance targets. The estimates are based on
management’s best assessment of the related inputs used in the valuation models, such as future cash
flows and discount rates. Future performance results that differ from management’s estimates could
result in changes to liabilities recorded, which would be recorded as they arise through profit or loss.
Refer to Notes 18 and 31 for the carrying value of contingent consideration payable.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments, cont’d
Income taxes
The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required
in determining the provision for income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and
deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made. Refer to
Note 11 for the carrying value of current and deferred tax assets and liabilities.

5.

Transition to IFRS
These are the Company’s first annual Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance
with IFRS.
The accounting policies set out in Note 3 have been applied in preparing the Consolidated Financial
Statements For the Years Ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 and in the preparation of the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as at January 1, 2010 (the “transition date”), December 31, 2010, and
December 31, 2011.
In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet, the Company has adjusted amounts reported previously
in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. An explanation
of how the transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS has affected the Company’s financial position
and financial performance is set out in the following tables and notes that accompany the tables.
The transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS had no significant impact on cash flows generated by
the Company.
Initial Elections Upon Adoption
Set out below are the applicable International Financial Reporting Standard 1, First‐time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1”) exemptions and exceptions applied in the
conversion from Canadian GAAP to IFRS.
i) IFRS Exemption Options
Business combinations
IFRS 1 provides the option to apply International Financial Reporting Standard 3, Business
Combinations (“IFRS 3”), prospectively from the transition date or from a specific date prior to the
transition date. This provides relief from full retrospective application that would require
restatement of all business combinations prior to the transition date. The Company elected to apply
IFRS 3 prospectively to business combinations occurring after its transition date. Business
combinations occurring prior to the transition date have not been restated.
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Transition to IFRS, cont’d
Cumulative translation differences
IFRS 1 permits cumulative translation gains and losses to be reset to zero at the transition date. This
provides relief from determining cumulative currency translation differences in accordance with
International Accounting Standard 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, from the
date a subsidiary or equity method investee was formed or acquired. The Company elected to reset
all cumulative translation gains and losses to zero in opening deficit at its transition date.
ii) IFRS Mandatory Exceptions
Hedge accounting
Hedge accounting can only be applied prospectively from the transition date to transactions that
satisfy the hedge accounting criteria in IAS 39 at that date. Hedging relationships cannot be
designated retrospectively, and the supporting documentation cannot be created retrospectively. As
a result, only hedging relationships that satisfied the hedge accounting criteria as of January 1, 2010
are reflected as hedges in the Company’s results under IFRS.
Estimates
Hindsight is not used to create or revise estimates. The estimates previously made by the Company
under Canadian GAAP were not revised for application of IFRS except where necessary to reflect any
difference in accounting policies.
Reconciliation of Canadian GAAP to IFRS
IFRS 1 requires an entity to reconcile equity and total comprehensive income (loss) for prior periods.
The following tables represent the reconciliations from Canadian GAAP to IFRS for the respective
periods noted for equity and total comprehensive income (loss).
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Transition to IFRS, cont’d
i) Reconciliation of Equity as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010
Note 5 (iv)
Reference
Shareholders’/Unitholders’ Equity reported under
Canadian GAAP

December 31, 2010
$

174,805

January 1, 2010
$

186,033

Adjustment:
Recognition of transaction costs for acquisitions,
previously recorded within goodwill

(b)

(400)

‐

Adjustments to contingent consideration related to
business combinations

(b)

9,535

‐

Fair value measurement and reclassification of
Unitholders’ liabilities

(c)

(16,724)

(11,520)

Reclassification of Unit Option Plan as a liability

(d)

(1,677)

(1,061)

Reclassification of Deferred Performance Plan as a
liability

(d)

(2,657)

(1,682)

Provision for onerous lease

(f)

(154)

(228)

Impairment of goodwill

(g)

(15,739)

(1,968)

Tax impact from the recognition of provisions

(h)

42

64

Change in tax rate applicable on timing differences
in Altus LP and Altus Geomatics LP

(h)

16

188

Tax impact on Deferred Performance Plan
adjustments recorded

(h)

‐

(120)

Reclassification of equity component of Canadian
convertible debentures

(i)

(4,634)

‐

Recognition of transaction costs for acquisition in
associate

(j)

(48)

‐

Shareholders’/Unitholders’ Equity reported under
IFRS

$

142,365

$

169,706
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Transition to IFRS, cont’d
ii) Reconciliation of Total Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the Year Ended December 31, 2010

Note 5 (iv) Canadian GAAP
Reference
Balance

IFRS
Adjustments

IFRS
Reclassifications
(Note 5 iv (k))

IFRS
Balance

Revenues
Revenues

$

Less: disbursements
Net revenue

252,520

$

‐

$

(63)

$

252,457

25,352

‐

‐

25,352

227,168

‐

(63)

227,105

155,768

2,185

‐

157,953

38,718

‐

(38,718)

‐

Expenses
Employee compensation

(d)

General and administrative
expenses
Occupancy

(f)

‐

(107)

11,585

11,478

Office and other operating

(b)

‐

951

25,917

26,868

Amortization of intangibles

(b)

21,522

63

‐

21,585

4,226

‐

‐

4,226

(b)

‐

(12,445)

‐

(12,445)

(j)

1,038

48

‐

1,086

‐

‐

1,216

1,216

(g)

‐

14,000

‐

14,000

4,155

‐

(4,155)

‐

1,741

(4,695)

4,092

1,138

‐

8,831

4,092

12,923

1,741

(13,526)

‐

(11,785)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Acquisition related expenses
(income)
Share of loss (profit) of associate
Corporate conversion and legal
reorganization
Impairment charge
Interest
Operating profit (loss)
Finance costs (income), net

(b)(c)(f)(i)

Profit (loss) before income tax
Income tax expense (recovery)

(h)

(2,348)

(165)

‐

(2,513)

Non‐controlling interest

(c)

941

(941)

‐

‐

3,148

(12,420)

‐

(9,272)

(h)

144

(239)

‐

(95)

(b)(g)

(3,572)

255

‐

(3,317)

(3,428)

16

‐

(3,412)

Profit (loss) for the year attributable
to equity holders
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Cash flow hedges
Currency translation differences
Other comprehensive income (loss),
net of tax
Total comprehensive income (loss)
for the year, net of tax, attributable
to equity holders

$

(280)

$

(12,404)

$

‐

$

(12,684)
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Transition to IFRS, cont’d
iii) Reconciliation of the Balance Sheets as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010
To provide greater information on the impact of the transition to IFRS, a reconciliation has been
prepared for the balance sheets as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010. Certain reclassifications
were also made to the balances included in the balance sheet. Overall, these reclassifications did not
impact the Company’s total equity.
January 1, 2010
Canadian
GAAP
Balance

Canadian GAAP
Accounts

Note
5 (iv)
Reference

IFRS
IFRS Reclassifications
Adjustments
(Note 5 iv (k))

IFRS
Balance

Assets
Current assets
Cash

$

Accounts receivable
Work‐in‐process
Prepaid expenses
and sundry assets
Income taxes
recoverable
Future income tax
assets
Non‐current assets
Long‐term portion of
prepaid expenses
Investment
Future income tax
assets
Property, plant and
equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total Assets

8,995

$

47

$

‐

$

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash
9,042 equivalents
Trade and other
77,344 receivables
‐

52,960
20,408

‐
‐

24,384
(20,408)

3,976

‐

(3,976)

‐

179

‐

‐

179

2,036
88,554

‐
47

(2,036)
(2,036)

‐
86,565

1,833

‐

‐

1,833

5,385

‐

‐

5,385

(h)

215

(6,537)

2,119

(g)

‐
‐
(1,968)
(1,753)
(1,706)

‐
‐
‐
(6,537)
(8,573)

8,441

$

(a)

16,640
53,167
165,428
250,894
339,448

$

$

$

IFRS
Accounts

Current income
taxes recoverable

Non‐current assets
Trade and other
receivables
Investment in
associate
Deferred income
taxes
Property, plant and
equipment
Intangibles
Goodwill

16,640
53,167
163,460
242,604
329,169 Total Assets
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Transition to IFRS, cont’d
January 1, 2010
Canadian
GAAP
Balance

Canadian GAAP
Accounts
Liabilities and
Unitholdersʹ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Payables to vendors
Distributions payable
Current portion of
long‐term debt
Other current
liabilities

$

Income taxes payable
Future income tax
liabilities

Cash flow hedge

$

(a)

4,954
(1,799)
(3,021)

$

390

‐

(390)

‐

802

‐

‐

802

‐
98
2,888

(984)
18
(1,001)

69,854

‐

330

10,380

‐

2,251

‐
130

‐
227

‐

(2,791)

(f)

(f)

396 Borrowings

Current income taxes
payable

‐
116 Provisions
37,782
Non‐current
liabilities
70,184 Borrowings
Trade and other
12,631 payables
Derivative financial
577 instruments
357 Provisions
‐

10,693

(h)

83

(7,589)

3,187 Deferred income taxes

23,225
‐
117,520
153,415

(c)
(c)

(23,225)
34,745
11,733
14,621

‐
‐
(7,572)
(8,573)

237,463
2,498

(a)
(a)(c)(d)

(651)
(2,498)

‐
‐

(9,174)

(e)(h)
(a)(c)(d)
(e)(f)(g)(h)

8,868

‐

‐
34,745 Unitholders’ liabilities
121,681
159,463 Total Liabilities
Unitholdersʹ Equity
236,812 Units
‐
Accumulated other
comprehensive
(306) income (loss)

(22,046)

‐

(16,327)

‐

(44,754)
186,033
$

$

221

2,791

Total Liabilities
Unitholdersʹ Equity
Units
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss)

2,743
‐
47

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other
36,468 payables
‐
‐

‐

577
‐

Other long‐term
obligations
Future income tax
liabilities
Non‐controlling
interest

(d)

IFRS
Accounts

IFRS
Balance

175

984
‐
35,895

Non‐current liabilities
Long‐term debt
Long‐term payables to
vendors

Deficit
Total Unitholdersʹ
Equity
Total Liabilities and
Unitholdersʹ Equity

28,771
1,799
2,974

IFRS
IFRS Reclassifications
(Note 5 iv (k))
Adjustments

Note
5 (iv)
Reference

339,448

$

(1,706)

$

(8,573)

$

(66,800) Deficit
Total Unitholders’
169,706 Equity
Total Liabilities and
329,169 Unitholders’ Equity
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Transition to IFRS, cont’d
December 31, 2010
Canadian
GAAP
Balance

Canadian GAAP
Accounts

Note
5 (iv)
Reference

IFRS
Adjustments

IFRS
Reclassifications
(Note 5 iv (k))

IFRS
Balance

Assets
Current assets
Cash

$

Accounts receivable
Work‐in‐process
Prepaid expenses
and sundry assets
Income taxes
recoverable
Future income tax
assets

42,627

$

$

30,438
(25,449)

4,989

‐

(4,989)

‐

368

‐

‐

368

4,186
137,962

‐
‐

(4,186)
(4,186)

‐
133,776

Investment

7,347

(j)

‐
8,286

$

‐

‐
‐

3,211

Total Assets

$

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash
42,627 equivalents
Trade and other
90,781 receivables
‐

60,343
25,449

Non‐current assets
Long‐term portion of
prepaid expenses

Future income tax
assets
Property, plant and
equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill

‐

17,460
45,345
160,443
242,092
380,054

(h)

(b)
(b)(g)(h)
$

‐

‐

3,211

(48)

‐

7,299

‐

67

67

195

(5,268)

3,213

‐
1,942
(8,667)
(6,578)
(6,578)

‐
‐
‐
(5,201)
(9,387)

$

$

IFRS
Accounts

Current income taxes
recoverable

Non‐current assets
Trade and other
receivables
Investment in
associate
Investment tax
credits recoverable
Deferred income
taxes
Property, plant and
equipment
Intangibles
Goodwill

17,460
47,287
151,776
230,313
364,089 Total Assets
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December 31, 2010
Canadian
GAAP
Balance

Canadian GAAP
Accounts
Liabilities and
Unitholdersʹ Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Payables to vendors
Current portion of
long‐term debt
Other current liabilities

$

Income taxes payable
Future income tax
liabilities

31,414
1,669

$

2,564
(1,669)

‐

‐

145

718

‐

‐

‐
105
4,439

(1,244)
281
(1,244)

88,417

‐

43,175

5,911
43,019

‐
‐

1,280
(43,019)

4,634
49

402
‐

‐

(1,838)

(f)

(i)
(f)

9,243
20,014
‐
168,442
205,249

(h)
(c)
(c)

16
(20,014)
36,738
21,423
25,862

(8,143)
‐
‐
(8,143)
(9,387)

244,508

(d)

1,591

‐

4,356
4,093

(i)
(c)(d)

(4,356)
(4,093)

‐
‐

(12,602)
(65,550)

(b)
(e)(g)(h)
(c)(d)(e)
(f)(g)(h)

174,805
$

4,334
‐

243
(1,564)

1,838

Total Liabilities
Unitholdersʹ Equity
Units
Equity component of
convertible debentures
Contributed surplus
Accumulated other
comprehensive
income (loss)
Deficit
Total Unitholdersʹ
Equity
Total Liabilities and
Unitholdersʹ Equity

$

‐
‐

‐
‐
Other long‐term
obligations
Future income tax
liabilities
Non‐controlling interest

(d)

IFRS
Adjustments

IFRS
Reclassifications
(Note 5 iv (k))

198
1,564

1,244
‐
36,807

Non‐current liabilities
Long‐term debt
Long‐term payables to
vendors
Convertible debentures

Note
5 (iv)
Reference

380,054

$

8,884

‐

(34,466)

‐

(32,440)

‐

(6,578)

$

(9,387)

IFRS
Balance

$

IFRS
Accounts

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other
38,312
payables
‐
441 Borrowings
‐
Derivative financial
instruments
145
Current income taxes
718
payable
‐
386 Provisions
40,002
Non‐current liabilities
131,592 Borrowings
Trade and other
7,191
payables
‐
Derivative financial
5,036
instruments
49 Provisions
‐
1,116 Deferred income taxes
‐
36,738 Unitholders’ liabilities
181,722
221,724 Total Liabilities
Unitholdersʹ Equity
246,099 Units
‐
‐
Accumulated other
comprehensive income
(3,718)
(loss)

$

(100,016) Deficit
Total Unitholders’
142,365 Equity
Total Liabilities and
364,089 Unitholders’ Equity
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Transition to IFRS, cont’d
iv) Notes to the Reconciliation of Canadian GAAP and IFRS
a) Consolidation
The Company concluded that the Altus EBT, which existed in 2010 but was dissolved and wound up
as part of the Corporate Conversion, as outlined in Note 1, is a special purpose entity under IFRS and
should be consolidated to meet the requirement of Standing Interpretations Committee
Interpretation 12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. The Altus EBT held units of the Company
for the purposes of executive compensation, and thus upon consolidation, these units were treated as
treasury units for 2010 under IFRS.
As at January 1, 2010, cash and cash equivalents and distributions payable were increased by $47.
Also, units held by the Altus EBT, amounting to $651, were offset with the corresponding increase to
contributed surplus.
As at December 31, 2010, the Altus EBT held no assets or liabilities and thus, no adjustment was
required. The Altus EBT was dissolved and wound up as part of the Corporate Conversion, as
outlined in Note 1.
b) Business combinations
The Company applied the exemption in IFRS 1 for business combinations. As a result, business
combinations that occurred prior to January 1, 2010 have not been restated.
All business combinations which took place in 2010 were required to be restated in order to be
compliant with IFRS 3. Acquisitions in 2010 include the Brazos Tax Group LLP (“Brazos”), Peters
Surveys Ltd. (“Peters”) and PricewaterhouseCoopers’ US‐based Real Estate Appraisal Management
Practice (“PwC Appraisal Management Practice”).
Under Canadian GAAP, acquisition transaction costs totalling $413 were capitalized in goodwill,
whereas under IFRS, these costs must be expensed. As a result, under IFRS, acquisition related
expenses increased by $413 in the year ended December 31, 2010. This also had a deferred tax impact.
Refer to point h) below for further details. Due to foreign exchange movements, as at December 31,
2010, goodwill was reduced by $400 and the offset of $13 was recorded as an increase to other
comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2010.
The contingent consideration payable in respect of the Page Kirkland Group (“Page Kirkland”)
acquisition in 2009 was reversed in December 2010. Under Canadian GAAP, this reversal of the
payable was recorded as a reduction in goodwill and certain intangibles. Under IFRS, the contingent
consideration payable is considered a financial instrument and changes are not recorded to the
original purchase equation but rather through profit or loss.
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Transition to IFRS, cont’d
As a result, as at December 31, 2010, goodwill and intangibles were increased by $7,593 and $1,942,
respectively. The interest expense and net foreign exchange loss reversed under Canadian GAAP of
$2,322 and $951, respectively, were restated under IFRS in the quarter ended December 31, 2010,
increasing both finance costs and office and other operating expenses by the same amounts,
respectively. An associated gain of $12,858 was included in acquisition related expenses (income) for
the year ended December 31, 2010. Due to the increase in intangibles, an additional amortization
charge of $63 was recorded in amortization for the year ended December 31, 2010. Due to foreign
exchange movements on goodwill and intangibles, there was a $13 increase to other comprehensive
income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2010.
c) Unitholders’ liabilities
The Company concluded that Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units and Altus UK LLP
Class B and Class D limited liability partnership units do not meet the requirements to be classified as
equity under the puttable instrument exception as outlined in IAS 32. Therefore, these units that have
been classified as non‐controlling interest under Canadian GAAP were classified and disclosed as
unitholders’ liabilities under IFRS. Unitholders’ liabilities are classified as financial liabilities and are
re‐measured at fair value at each reporting date, unlike the previous non‐controlling interest which
was recorded at historic cost.
As at January 1, 2010, the fair value of these units was $34,745, recorded as unitholders’ liabilities. As
a result of the revaluation, non‐controlling interest of $23,225 previously recorded under Canadian
GAAP was reversed with a corresponding increase of $11,520 to opening deficit.
Also, as at January 1, 2010, cumulative net losses of $627 related to the redemption of units originally
recorded in contributed surplus have been restated to opening deficit, as a result of the units being
presented as liabilities under IFRS. This change had no impact on total equity.
As at December 31, 2010, the fair value of these units was $36,738. The change in fair value for the
year ended December 31, 2010 of $1,993 was recorded as finance costs through profit or loss.
Also, under IFRS, all distributions paid on these units are recorded as finance costs rather than
reducing non‐controlling interest under Canadian GAAP. Amounts previously recorded through
profit or loss under Canadian GAAP relating to non‐controlling interest are reversed. For the year
ended December 31, 2010, distributions of $3,399 was recorded as finance costs with a reversal of
$941 of non‐controlling interest through profit or loss and a reversal of $2,458 in non‐controlling
interest on the balance sheet under Canadian GAAP.
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For the year ended December 31, 2010, a further finance charge of $806 was recorded due to the
redemption of units in April and November 2010. Under Canadian GAAP, this was recorded as $753
in non‐controlling interest and $53 in contributed surplus, which were reversed.
As at December 31, 2010, the net impact on equity of the above adjustments was a decrease of $16,724,
with $11,520 being recorded in the opening deficit, $53 increase to contributed surplus and $5,257
being recorded in profit or loss for the year.
d) Deferred Performance Plan and Unit Option Plan
Under IFRS, the Deferred Performance Plan and Unit Option Plan are considered to be long‐term
incentive plans and accounted for using International Accounting Standard 19, Employee Benefits
(“IAS 19”) due to the nature of the underlying units, Fund Units and Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited
partnership units, which are considered to be liabilities as discussed in Note 3. In accordance with
IAS 19, the expense associated with the obligation to issue units was recorded over the service period
and recognized as a liability within trade and other payables. In addition, any changes in the value of
the liability as a result of a change in the market value of the units were recognized as employee
compensation expense through profit or loss. Under Canadian GAAP, the expense associated with
the Deferred Performance Plan and Unit Option Plan was recorded over the service period with a
corresponding credit to contributed surplus.
As at January 1, 2010, the obligation recorded for the Unit Option Plan within trade and other
payables was $1,061. The contributed surplus amount of $269 previously recorded under Canadian
GAAP was reversed with a corresponding increase of $792 to opening deficit.
As at December 31, 2010, the obligation recorded for the Unit Option Plan within trade and other
payables was $1,677. The contributed surplus amount of $851 previously recorded under Canadian
GAAP was reversed with a corresponding increase of $792 to opening deficit and an increase of
$1,068 to employee compensation expense through profit or loss. During the year ended December
31, 2010, options were exercised resulting in an increase to units within unitholders’ equity of $2,732
under IFRS. Under Canadian GAAP, the exercise of these options was recorded at a value of $1,698,
resulting in an increase to units of $1,034 under IFRS.
As at January 1, 2010, the obligation recorded for outstanding units issued under the Deferred
Performance Plan within trade and other payables was $1,682. The contributed surplus amount of
$2,253 previously recorded under Canadian GAAP was reversed with a corresponding decrease of
$571 to opening deficit.
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During the year ended December 31 2010, total units of $2,799 were issued as part of the Deferred
Performance Plan to employees, resulting in a reduction in the related obligation and a
corresponding increase in units. Under Canadian GAAP, the issuance of these units was recorded at
a value of $2,253, resulting in an increase to units of $546 under IFRS. As at December 31, 2010, the
obligation recorded within trade and other payables was $2,657. The contributed surplus amount of
$2,657 previously recorded under Canadian GAAP was reversed with a corresponding decrease of
$571 to opening deficit, an increase of $546 to units and an increase of $1,117 to employee
compensation expense through profit or loss.
e) Cumulative translation adjustment
The Company has elected to reset the cumulative translation adjustment account to zero as at January
1, 2010. The cumulative translation adjustment as of January 1, 2010 of $8,597 was recognized as an
adjustment to opening deficit. The application of this exemption had no impact on total equity.
f) Provisions
The adoption of International Accounting Standard 37, Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets (“IAS 37”), resulted in recognizing a provision of $228 related to an onerous lease
contract as at January 1, 2010 with a corresponding increase to opening deficit.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, payments have been made against the onerous lease
provision such that $74 of the provision has been released and $33 has been recognized as finance
costs relating to the unwinding of the discount. As a result, a provision of $154 was recorded as at
December 31, 2010.
g) Impairment
As part of the transition to IFRS, the Company was required to perform an impairment analysis as at
the transition date. Under IFRS, impairment testing of assets is conducted at the CGU level, a more
detailed level of testing than under Canadian GAAP.
As a result of this testing as at January 1, 2010, there was a goodwill impairment charge taken in the
amount of $1,968 as of January 1, 2010 with a corresponding increase to opening deficit. This charge
relates to the UK Cost CGU, primarily the Andrews Group acquisition, which has been strongly
impacted by severe economic conditions in the UK and subsequent loss of certain customers. As a
result, the carrying value of goodwill for the UK cost CGU is $Nil. UK Cost CGU forms part of the
UK operating segment and is grouped within the Other CGU category.
As at December 31, 2010, the carrying value of this goodwill had changed to $1,826 due to foreign
exchange movements. The related adjustment of $142 was recorded as an increase in other
comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2010.
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The Company also completed an impairment analysis as at December 31, 2010 under IFRS using the
same methods as those applied as at January 1, 2010. As a result of this testing, there was a further
goodwill impairment charge taken in the amount of $14,000 relating to the Asia Pacific Cost
(including Hawaii) CGU, acquired as Page Kirkland. The financial condition of Asia Pacific Cost has
been impacted by the slow down in the Middle East and slower than anticipated new project work in
other Asian countries. The Asia Pacific Cost (including Hawaii) CGU forms part of the Asia Pacific
Cost operating segment.
As at December 31, 2010, the carrying value of this goodwill had changed to $13,913 due to foreign
exchange movements. The related adjustment of $87 was recorded as an increase in other
comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2010.
The carrying value of goodwill and the indefinite life intangible asset, the Altus Group brand, were
allocated to the Company’s CGUs as follows as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010:

Canada RVA – Valuations, Altus Solutions &
ARL

$

Canada & US Cost – Altus Group
Infrastructure & Cost Planning and
Monitoring

December 31, 2010

January 1, 2010

Indefinite Life
Intangible
Asset
Goodwill

Indefinite Life
Intangible
Asset
Goodwill

19,638

$

28,137

742

$

1,063

19,638

$

28,137

744

1,066

Canada Tax

33,998

1,285

33,998

1,288

Canada Geomatics

33,931

1,282

33,702

1,276

UK Tax, Landlord & Tenant and Agency

16,411

620

17,687

670

3,390

654

17,340

657

16,271

619

12,958

564

Asia Pacific Cost (including Hawaii)
Other (1)
Total
(1)

$

151,776

$

6,265

$

163,460

$

6,265

The category is made up of four CGUs as at January 1, 2010 and six CGUs as at December 31, 2010, which are individually
immaterial.

91

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
5.

Transition to IFRS, cont’d
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on fair value less cost to sell using the
estimation technique of discounted cash flow analysis. This analysis incorporates assumptions which
market participants use in estimating fair value. The key assumptions used as at the transition date
and December 31, 2010 are as follows:
December 31, 2010

January 1, 2010

Perpetual
Growth Rate

Discount Rate
(after‐tax)

Perpetual
Growth Rate

Discount Rate
(after‐tax)

Canada RVA – Valuations, Altus
Solutions & ARL

3%

12.5%

3%

13%

Canada & US Cost – Altus Group
Infrastructure & Cost Planning and
Monitoring

3%

13%

3%

13%

2.5%

12%

2%

13%

Canada Tax
Canada Geomatics
UK Tax, Landlord & Tenant and Agency
Asia Pacific Cost (including Hawaii)
Other

3%

12%

3%

13%

2.5%

12.5%

2%

13%

5%

15%

6%

15%

3% ‐ 5%

13% ‐ 24%

3%

13%

The discounted cash flow analysis uses after‐tax cash flow projections based on five‐year financial
budgets approved by management. Cash flows beyond the five‐year period were extrapolated using
estimated growth rates stated above. The growth rate does not exceed the long‐term average growth
rate for the business in which the CGU operates.
Management’s margin assumptions were based on historical performance and future expectations.
The discount rates are on an after‐tax basis and reflect risks related to the specific operating segment.
h) Tax
On recognition of the onerous lease provision, referred in point f) above, the deferred tax impact on
the transition to IFRS is an increase in deferred tax assets of $64 as at January 1, 2010 with a
corresponding decrease to opening deficit. As at December 31, 2010, the deferred tax asset was $42,
with the movement of $22 recorded as an increase to income tax expense for the year ended
December 31, 2010.
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IFRS requires that deferred tax be determined by applying the highest tax rate, applicable on
undistributed profits, to existing timing differences. In the case of Altus LP and Altus Geomatics LP,
the highest rate of personal tax applies when calculating deferred taxes, such that deferred tax
liabilities have increased by $83 as at January 1, 2010, with the corresponding increase in opening
deficit. In addition, this has resulted in an increase in the deferred tax asset associated with the cash
flow hedge of $271 as at January 1, 2010, with the corresponding increase in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss).
As at December 31, 2010, the associated increase to deferred tax liabilities in Altus LP and Altus
Geomatics LP was $16 with the decrease of $67 from January 1, 2010 recorded as a recovery of income
tax expense through profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2010.
As at December 31, 2010, the associated increase to deferred tax assets related to the cash flow hedge
was $32 with the decrease of $239 from January 1, 2010 being recorded as a reduction to other
comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2010.
Due to the restatement of employee compensation relating to the Deferred Performance Plan referred
to in point d) above, deferred tax assets are reduced by $120 as at January 1, 2010 with a
corresponding increase to opening deficit. As at December 31, 2010, there is no difference in the
deferred tax assets, however, the movement from January 1, 2010 of $120 was recorded as a recovery
of income tax expense through profit or loss for the year ended December 31, 2010.
As a result of adopting IFRS 3, transaction costs relating to the 2010 acquisitions were expensed, as
noted in point b) above, which resulted in an increase in deferred tax assets of $121 as at December
31, 2010 with a corresponding decrease to goodwill.
i) Convertible debentures
The $50,000 convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (“Canadian convertible debentures”) are
convertible into Fund Units, which are considered to be liabilities under IFRS as discussed in Note 3.
Thus, the conversion option is not an equity instrument, as previously reported under Canadian
GAAP, but rather an embedded derivative within the host instrument. Under IFRS, embedded
derivatives are required to be separated from the host contract, measured at fair value and held as
assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
As at December 31, 2010, the amount recorded in equity of $4,356 under Canadian GAAP was
reclassified to derivative financial liabilities and restated to its fair value of $4,634. The change in fair
value of the derivative financial liability of $278 was recorded as an increase to finance costs for the
year ended December 31, 2010.
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The existing liability, related to the host contract, which as at December 31, 2010 was $43,019 was not
affected by this change and continues to be recorded at amortized cost, consistent with how it was
accounted for under Canadian GAAP.
j) Investment in associate
In July 2010, Real Matters, the Company’s associate investment, acquired a subsidiary company. In
order to restate this acquisition to be compliant with IFRS 3, capitalized transaction costs were
expensed. The Company’s share of these expenses was $48, which was recorded as a reduction in the
investment in associate with the corresponding increase in the share of loss of the associate for the
year ended December 31, 2010.
k) IFRS reclassifications
Accounts receivable, work‐in‐process and prepaid expenses and sundry assets have been grouped
and classified as trade and other receivables under IFRS.
Asset retirement obligations have been reclassified from either other current liabilities or other
long‐term obligations, as applicable, to provisions under IFRS. Onerous lease contracts have been
reclassified from accounts payable and accrued liabilities to provisions under IFRS.
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, payables to vendors, distributions payable, certain other
current liabilities and certain other long‐term obligations have been grouped and classified as trade
and other payables under IFRS.
Long‐term debt, convertible debentures and obligations under capital leases, included in both other
current liabilities and other long‐term obligations, have been grouped and classified as borrowings
under IFRS.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities that were classified as current under Canadian GAAP have been
reclassified to non‐current, and certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset to the extent
that they are settled with the same tax authority. In addition, investment tax credits recoverable have
been reclassified from deferred tax assets to be shown separately.
Interest income has been reclassified from revenues under Canadian GAAP to be grouped and netted
against interest expense to form finance costs, net under IFRS.
General and administrative expenses under Canadian GAAP have been reclassified to occupancy,
office and other operating, acquisition related expenses (income) and corporate conversion and legal
reorganization costs under IFRS.
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2011
The Company completed an acquisition during the year ended December 31, 2011 as part of its
continuing strategy to grow by acquisitions and strengthen its competitive position in the real estate
consulting market space.
Acquisition of Realm Solutions Inc.
Effective June 1, 2011, the Company has indirectly acquired 100% of the shares of Realm Solutions
Inc. (“Realm”), owner of Argus software, for aggregate consideration of approximately $126,394,
subject to adjustments (the “Argus acquisition”). The consideration paid to the vendors included
US$80,000 cash, US$49,361 principal amount of convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (“US
convertible debentures”) issued by the Company to certain shareholders of Realm and US$472 of
options to purchase common shares of the Company (Notes 19 and 28). The Argus acquisition will
enable Altus to create a new platform that will offer clients value‐added commercial real estate data
and analytics.
Revenue, profit (loss) and adjusted earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization
(“Adjusted EBITDA”) for the period from June 1, 2011 to December 31, 2011 included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) were $16,634, $(789) and $3,160, respectively.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined in Note 7. The pro‐forma revenue, profit (loss) and Adjusted EBITDA of
the combined entity for the year ended December 31, 2011 would have been $311,059, $(18,454) and
$41,488, respectively, assuming the acquisition was completed on January 1, 2011.
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Year ended
December 31, 2011
Argus Software
Acquisition related costs (included in acquisition related expenses (income) in the
statement of comprehensive income (loss))

$

2,865

Consideration:
Cash consideration

77,980

US convertible debentures

47,955

Share options

459

Total consideration transferred

126,394

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed:
Cash and cash equivalents

10,117

Trade and other receivables

2,329

Current income taxes recoverable

47

Trade and other payables

(19,756)

Current income taxes payable

(72)

Provisions

(556)

Property, plant and equipment

692

Intangibles

68,406

Deferred income taxes, net

3,020

Total identifiable net assets
Goodwill

64,227
$

62,167

Included in trade and other receivables is trade receivables, prepayments and lease inducements. The
fair value of the trade receivables is $1,413. The gross contractual amounts of the trade receivables is
$1,596.
Goodwill arising from this acquisition relates to expected, enhanced future cash flows as a result of
increased sales of software products, analytic capabilities and the ability to expand service offerings
to new clients in existing and new markets. Goodwill acquired and deductible for tax purposes is
$14,238.
2010
The Company completed three acquisitions during 2010 as part of its continuing strategy to grow by
acquisitions and strengthen its competitive position in the real estate consulting market space.
A summary of the acquisitions that took place in the year ended December 31, 2010 is provided
below, which have been restated to comply with IFRS 3, as discussed in Note 5.
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Acquisition of Brazos Tax Group LLP
Effective June 1, 2010, the Company indirectly acquired certain business assets of Brazos for
approximately $1,682, subject to adjustments. A holdback of US$105 and US$110 is due on the first
and second anniversary of the acquisition, respectively. At the acquisition date, the discounted,
Canadian Dollar amount of these holdbacks was $198 and was recorded in other liabilities. These
holdbacks are subject to adjustments arising from any undisclosed liabilities and any shortfall/excess
in acquired working capital contribution. As part of the purchase price, the Company also recorded
contingent consideration of US$408, the maximum amount, which is due on the second anniversary
of the acquisition, subject to certain performance targets being achieved. At the acquisition date, the
discounted, Canadian Dollar amount of the contingent consideration was $362. Brazos was a
US‐based property tax company providing services such as business and personal property tax
compliance and appeals, real estate valuation appeals and property tax payment administration and
due diligence. The addition of Brazos is expected to enable Altus to service property tax clients
throughout North America.
Additionally, the Company entered into non‐compete arrangements with certain key employees for
consideration of $348, which was settled through the issuance of 20,886 Fund Units and a holdback
amounting to US$100, subject to certain performance targets being achieved. The value of the Fund
Units of $273 was determined based on the trading value of the Fund Units prior to closing. The
discounted, Canadian Dollar amount of the holdback was $75 at the acquisition date and was
recorded in other liabilities.
Revenue, profit (loss) and Adjusted EBITDA for the period from June 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) were $1,540, $96 and $373,
respectively. The pro‐forma revenue, profit (loss) and Adjusted EBITDA of the combined entity for
the year ended December 31, 2010 would have been $252,908, $(9,473) and $35,728, respectively,
assuming the acquisition was completed on January 1, 2010.
Acquisition of Peters Surveys Ltd.
Effective July 2, 2010, the Company indirectly acquired certain business assets of Peters for
approximately $668, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for such assets, the Company
issued 9,868 Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units. The value of these Altus LP Series 1
Class B limited partnership units of $120 was determined based on the trading value of the Fund
Units at closing. The asset purchase agreement with Peters provided for a maximum contingent
consideration of $1,000 payable on September 30, 2011, subject to certain performance targets being
achieved. At the acquisition date, the Company determined the fair value of the contingent
consideration to be paid and included $600 in the purchase price. The discounted amount of this
contingent consideration was $536. Peters was a professional land surveying and planning firm,
providing a broad range of geomatic services within the province of Saskatchewan, Canada. The
addition of Peters is expected to enable Altus to further expand operations in Saskatchewan and
allow Altus to service the potash industry and work on civil surveys.
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Additionally, the Company entered into non‐compete arrangements with certain key employees for
consideration of $290, which was settled in cash.
Revenue, profit (loss) and Adjusted EBITDA for the period from July 2, 2010 to December 31, 2010
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) were $842, $(5) and $131,
respectively. The pro‐forma revenue, profit (loss) and Adjusted EBITDA of the combined entity for
the year ended December 31, 2010 would have been $253,147, $(9,269) and $36,045, respectively,
assuming the acquisition was completed on January 1, 2010.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company settled the contingent consideration payable
with respect to the Peters acquisition, of which a portion was settled through the issuance of 47,161
common shares (Note 23).
Acquisition of PricewaterhouseCoopers’ US‐based Real Estate Appraisal Management Practice
Effective July 30, 2010, the Company indirectly acquired certain business assets of PwC Appraisal
Management Practice for approximately $16,402, subject to adjustments. As partial consideration for
such assets, the Company issued 175,778 Fund Units. The value of these Fund Units of $2,408 was
determined based on the trading value of the Fund Units at closing. The agreement provides for an
additional purchase payment if the average annual EBITDA over three years exceeds a threshold of
US$3,475. A multiple of four times is payable on the first excess amount of US$3,525 and four and
half times thereafter. The Company has estimated the contingent consideration to be US$6,800 based
on an average annual EBITDA of US$5,175. The Canadian Dollar equivalent that has been included in
the purchase price as contingent consideration on a discounted basis is $5,330. The agreement also
provides for a downward adjustment to the purchase price if the average annual EBITDA falls below
US$3,475 in which case the adjustment will be determined by multiplying the shortfall by four to a
maximum value equivalent to the 236,204 shares held in escrow. The PwC Appraisal Management
Practice provided comprehensive valuation consulting and analytic services to a roster of global
clients through a national practice operated from offices in Jersey City, Houston, Irvine and Atlanta
in the US. This acquisition provides Altus with an opportunity to enter the US appraisal market with
a client base that has wide geographic coverage.
Additionally, the Company entered into non‐compete arrangements with certain key employees for
consideration of $828, which was settled by the issuance of 60,426 Fund Units. The value of the Fund
Units was determined based on the trading value of the Fund Units at closing.
Revenue, profit (loss) and Adjusted EBITDA for the period from July 30, 2010 to December 31, 2010
included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income (loss) were $6,291, $(138) and
$1,686, respectively. The pro‐forma revenue, profit (loss) and Adjusted EBITDA of the combined
entity for the year ended December 31, 2010 would have been $260,262, $(9,578) and $37,733,
respectively, assuming the acquisition was completed on January 1, 2010.
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Year ended December 31, 2010
PwC Appraisal
Management
Peters
Practice

Brazos
Acquisition related costs (included in
acquisition related expenses (income) in the
statement of comprehensive income (loss))

$

125

$

75

$

213

Total

$

413

Consideration:
Cash consideration

1,122

12

8,664

9,798

Contingent consideration

362

536

5,330

6,228

Other liabilities

198

‐

‐

198

‐

120

‐

120

Altus LP Class B limited partnership units
Fund Units
Total consideration transferred

‐

‐

2,408

2,408

1,682

668

16,402

18,752

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed:
Trade and other receivables

364

684

539

1,587

Trade and other payables

(63)

(534)

(45)

(642)

28

219

‐

247

980

70

12,719

13,769

47

‐

80

127

1,356

439

13,293

15,088

Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles
Deferred tax assets
Total identifiable net assets
Goodwill

$

326

$

229

$

3,109

$

3,664

Goodwill arising from acquisitions relates to expected, enhanced future cash flows as a result of
increased penetration in existing markets, acquisition of new client relationships in new markets,
expansion of service offerings through newly acquired services and enhanced technological and data
analytic capabilities. Goodwill acquired and deductible for tax purposes is $12,862.

99

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
6.

Acquisitions, cont’d
For all acquisitions, the intangibles acquired are as follows:
Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Finite‐life assets
Computer application software

$

11

$

‐

Custom software applications

11,415

1,448

Internally generated software

2,672

‐

‐

361

38,084

11,960

16,224

‐

Customer backlog
Customer lists
Infinite‐life assets
Brands of acquired businesses
$

7.

68,406

$

13,769

Segmented Information
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”).
The CEO considers the business from both a core service and geographic perspective. The areas of
core service are RVA, Cost, Realty Tax, Geomatics and Argus Software. Operating and financial
information is available for these operating segments and is used to determine operating
performance for each segment and to allocate resources. The Company operates in four geographic
regions: Canada, the US, the UK and the Asia Pacific region.
RVA performs real estate valuations, litigation support, financial due diligence, research and real
estate‐related services.
Cost provides construction cost planning, loan monitoring and project management services to
construction companies and financial institutions as well as providing software solutions for tracking
and optimizing the value of capital assets.
Realty Tax performs realty tax assessment reviews and appeals, and assists with realty tax
compliance filings.
Geomatics provides advanced geomatics solutions including geographic information systems, digital
mapping, remote sensing, 3‐D laser scanning and orthophoto maps. Geomatics operates primarily in
the oil and gas sector. It also provides environmental services to the forestry and energy sectors.
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Argus Software is a developer and provider of software solutions for analysis and management of
commercial real estate investments. Argus software is the go‐to product to support critical business
processes, including real estate asset management, valuation, portfolio management, budgeting,
forecasting, reporting and lease management solutions.
In Canada and the US, the products and services offered by the RVA, Cost, Realty Tax and Geomatics
core service areas individually are similar, and due to the nature of customers and operations, these
core services lines have been aggregated into North American reporting units, which is also the
method by which this region is reviewed by the CEO.
Argus Software has operations in the US, Canada, the UK and the Asia Pacific region. The products
and services provided by Argus Software are similar in all geographical regions and due to the nature
of customers and operations, all Argus Software companies have been aggregated into one segment,
which is also consistent with the manner in which it is reviewed by the CEO.
The UK service lines primarily consist of Realty Tax. Other service lines do not meet the qualitative
threshold that would be required by International Financial Reporting Standard 8, Operating
Segments (“IFRS 8”) for separate disclosure; however, these service lines consist of similar customers
and are exposed to similar economic characteristics of the UK market as Realty Tax. As a result, UK
operations have been aggregated into one operating segment, which is also consistent with the
manner in which it is reviewed by the CEO.
In the Asia Pacific region, the primary business segment that operates is Cost. Individually, each
country does not meet the qualitative threshold required by IFRS 8, thus this segment is reported in
aggregate. The consolidated results for the region are reviewed by the CEO.
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those applied in these consolidated financial
statements. Revenue transactions between segments are valued at market rates and eliminated on
consolidation.
The CEO assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of Adjusted
EBITDA. This measurement basis excludes the effects of non‐recurring expenditures from operating
segments such as restructuring costs, corporate conversion and legal reorganization costs, acquisition
related expenses (income) and asset impairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated,
non‐recurring event. The measure also excludes the effects of unrealized foreign exchange gains or
losses, gains or losses on sale of property, plant and equipment, stock options and other
equity‐settled performance plans, gains or losses on hedging transactions and the Company’s share
of profit or loss of its associate.

101

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
7.

Segmented Information, cont’d
A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to profit (loss) is provided as follows:
Year ended
December 31, 2011
Adjusted EBITDA for reportable segments

$

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortization of intangibles
Acquisition related (expenses) income
Corporate conversion and legal reorganization costs
Share of profit (loss) of associate
Unrealized foreign exchange gain (loss)

(1)

Gain (loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment (1)

39,205

Year ended
December 31, 2010
$

36,909

(5,883)

(4,226)

(17,898)

(21,585)

(2,924)

12,445

(89)

(1,216)

(1,073)

(1,086)

(3,291)

(235)

(276)

(102)

840

‐

(202)

(5,615)

Restructuring costs

(4,403)

‐

Gain (loss) on hedging transactions (1)
Stock options and other equity‐settled performance plan costs (2)
Impairment charge

(9,235)

(14,000)

Other non‐operating and/or non‐recurring costs (3)

(3,332)

(151)

Operating profit (loss)

(8,561)

1,138

Finance (costs) income, net

(11,436)

(12,923)

Profit (loss) before income tax

(19,997)

(11,785)

Income tax recovery (expense)

1,687

2,513

Profit (loss) for the year
(1)
(2)
(3)

$

(18,310)

$

(9,272)

Included in office and other operating in the statements of comprehensive income (loss).
Included in employee compensation in the statements of comprehensive income (loss).
Other non‐operating and/or non‐recurring costs for 2011 include the following: (i) $2,332 of termination benefits owed to
the former CEO of Altus included in employee compensation; (ii) $779 of amounts owed to former owners of Altus Quebec
and Altus InSite included in office and other operating (Note 34); and, (iii) $221 of other termination related costs included
in office and other operating. Termination benefits owed to the former CEO of Altus are considered to be one‐time costs
that are not expected to re‐occur. A total of $779 was incurred with respect to consulting agreements with former owners of
Altus Quebec and Altus InSite, acquired in 2005 and 2006, respectively. Management has excluded these amounts from
Adjusted EBITDA as these are considered to be non‐operational and similar in nature to acquisition related expenses
(income). Other non‐operational and/or non‐recurring costs for 2010 include $151 owed to the former owner of Altus
Quebec.
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7.

Segmented Information, cont’d
The segment information provided to CEO for the reportable segments for the years ended December
31, 2011 and 2010 is as follows:
Segment Revenues and Expenditures

North
North
America
America
RVA Realty Tax
Revenue from
external customers

North
America
Cost

North
America
Geomatics

Argus
Software

UK

Year ended December 31, 2011
Asia
Pacific
Total
Cost (1) Corporate (2)
‐

$ 301,158

(53)

‐

‐

19,641

38,622

‐

301,158

3,160

3,333

(2,759)

(15,026)

39,205

1,762

139

188

438

18,757

23,781

‐

‐

‐

‐

9,235

‐

9,235

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

(1,687)

(1,687)

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

11,436

11,436

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

1,073

1,073

446

123

304

2,338

132,122

160

319

9,564

145,376

$ 66,636

$ 53,519

$ 42,686

$ 63,367

$ 16,634

$ 19,641

$ 38,675

Inter‐segment
revenue

(36)

1

(1,034)

1,122

‐

‐

Total segment
revenue

66,600

53,520

41,652

64,489

16,634

Adjusted
EBITDA

13,057

14,575

7,566

15,299

960

529

1,008

Impairment
charge

‐

‐

Income tax
expense (recovery)

‐

Finance costs
(income), net
Share of (profit)
loss from associate

Depreciation and
amortization

Additions to
non‐current
assets (3)
(1)
(2)

(3)

$

Includes Hawaii
Corporate includes global corporate office costs, finance costs, amortization of intangibles acquired as part of business
acquisitions, acquisition related expenses (income), impairment charges and share of (profit) loss of Real Matters.
Non‐current assets include investment in associate, property, plant and equipment, intangibles and goodwill.
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7.

Segmented Information, cont’d

North
America
RVA
Revenue from
external
customers

$

54,905

North
America
Realty Tax

$

54,616

North
America
Cost

$

35,673

North
America
Geomatics

$

51,278

Year ended December 31, 2010
Asia
Pacific
Cost (1) Corporate (2)
Total

UK

$

23,464

$

32,521

$

‐

$

252,457

Inter‐segment
revenue

‐

‐

(294)

325

‐

(31)

‐

‐

Total segment
revenue

54,905

54,616

35,379

51,603

23,464

32,490

‐

252,457

9,610

17,452

7,066

9,449

6,710

(2,181)

(11,197)

36,909

Adjusted
EBITDA
Depreciation and
amortization

721

330

548

1,690

191

415

21,916

25,811

Impairment
charge

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

14,000

‐

14,000

Income tax
expense (recovery)

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

(2,513)

(2,513)

Finance costs
(income), net

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

12,923

12,923

Share of (profit)
loss from associate

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

1,086

1,086

4,560

609

372

2,005

164

489

20,466

28,665

Additions to
non‐current
assets (3)
(1)
(2)

(3)

Includes Hawaii
Corporate includes global corporate office costs, finance costs, amortization of intangibles acquired as part of business
acquisitions, acquisition related expenses (income), impairment charges and share of (profit) loss of Real Matters.
Non‐current assets include investment in associate, property, plant and equipment, intangibles and goodwill.

Segment Assets
December 31, 2011
North
North
America
America
RVA Realty Tax
Total assets

North
North
America
America
Cost Geomatics

Argus
Software

UK

Asia
Pacific
Cost (1)

Corporate

Total

$ 50,720

$ 55,763

$ 50,068

$ 66,950

$ 72,175

$ 24,020

$ 10,940

$ 135,834

$ 466,470

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

7,226

7,226

Total assets
include:
Investment in
associate
(1)

Includes Hawaii
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7.

Segmented Information, cont’d
December 31, 2010
North
America
RVA
Total assets

$

49,994

North
America
Cost

North
America
Realty Tax
$

55,942

$

46,958

North
America
Geomatics
$

61,526

Asia
Pacific
Cost (1)

Corporate

Total

15,499

$ 107,288

$ 364,089

‐

‐

7,299

7,299

UK

Asia
Pacific
Cost (1)

Corporate

28,900

$

UK
$

26,882

$

Total assets
include:
Investment in
associate
(1)

‐

‐

‐

‐

North
America
RVA

North
America
Realty Tax

North
America
Cost

North
America
Geomatics

Includes Hawaii

January 1, 2010

Total assets

$

41,231

$

54,964

$

47,677

$

54,213

$

28,799

$

Total

73,385

$ 329,169

5,385

5,385

Total assets
include:
Investment in
associate
(1)

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

Includes Hawaii

The amounts provided to the CEO with respect to total assets are measured in a manner consistent
with that of the financial statements. These assets are allocated based on the operations of the
segment.
Geographic Information – Revenue from External Customers
Year ended
December 31, 2011
Canada

$

205,319

Year ended
December 31, 2010
$

187,880

US

36,065

11,008

UK

23,019

23,464

36,755

Asia Pacific
Total

$

301,158

30,105
$

252,457
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7.

Segmented Information, cont’d
Geographic Information – Non‐current Assets (1)
December 31, 2011
Canada

$

172,679

$

January 1, 2010

171,821

$

179,073

US

147,999

16,823

13

UK

19,981

23,075

29,337

1,230

Asia Pacific
Total
(1)

8.

December 31, 2010

$

341,889

12,103
$

30,229

223,822

$

238,652

Non‐current assets include investment in associate, property, plant and equipment, intangibles and goodwill.

Employee Compensation
Year ended
December 31, 2011
Salaries and benefits

$

Executive Compensation Plan expense (Note 28)
Pension cost – defined contribution plan
$

180,614

Year ended
December 31, 2010
$

152,330

273

5,615

‐

8

180,887

$

157,953

Included in salaries and benefits are termination benefits of $3,837 (year ended December 31, 2010 ‐
$323).
9.

Expenses
Included within expenses are the following items:
Year ended
December 31, 2011
Net foreign exchange (gains) losses

$

3,473

Year ended
December 31, 2010
$

398

276

102

Operating lease rentals

11,304

9,048

Sublease rentals

(1,723)

(958)

(Profit) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
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10. Finance Costs (Income)
Year ended
December 31, 2011
Interest on credit facilities

$

7,135

Year ended
December 31, 2010
$

4,123

Interest on Canadian convertible debentures

3,643

302

Interest on US convertible debentures

2,064

‐

28

35

652

1,946

59

67

314

568

‐

2,831

(4,063)

557

‐

2,242

1,664

‐

‐

278

48

37

11,544

12,986

(108)

(63)

Interest on finance lease liabilities
Contingent consideration payable: unwinding of discount
(Note 31)
Provisions: unwinding of discount (Note 21)
Distributions payable on Altus UK LLP Class B and D
units
Distributions payable on Altus LP Series 2 Class B units
Change in fair value of Altus UK LLP Class B and D units
(Note 22)
Change in fair value of Altus LP Series 2 Class B units
(Note 22)
Change in fair value of interest rate swap (not designated
as cash flow hedge)
Change in fair value of embedded derivative relating to
Canadian convertible debentures (Note 19)
Other
Finance costs
Finance income
Finance costs (income), net

$

11,436

$

12,923
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11. Income Tax
Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

541

848

11

23

552

871

(2,657)

(3,397)

418

13

Current tax:
Current tax on profits for the year
Adjustments in respect of prior years
Total current tax
Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
Change in tax rates
Total deferred tax
Income tax expense (recovery)

(2,239)
$

(1,687)

(3,384)
$

(2,513)

The tax on the Company’s profit (loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise
using the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits (losses) of the consolidated entities as
follows:
Year ended
December 31, 2011
Profit (loss) before tax

$

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits in
Canada of 27.73% (2010 – 29.96%)

(19,997)

Year ended
December 31, 2010
$

(5,545)

(11,785)
(3,531)

Tax effects of:
Associates’ results reported net of tax
Income not subject to tax
Changes in tax rates
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Impact of countries with different tax rates
Other
Income tax expense (recovery)

$

298

325

2,324

153

418

13

589

402

(196)

252

425

(127)

(1,687)

$

(2,513)

The Company converted from an income trust to a corporate structure effective January 1, 2011. As a
result, all of the taxable income of the Company is fully subject to corporate income tax whereas,
previously, the Fund was only subject to income taxes on the taxable income of its corporate
subsidiaries and on the taxable income that was not distributed to unitholders of its flow‐through
subsidiaries.
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11. Income Tax, cont’d
For 2011, the Company records deferred income taxes for the effect of all temporary differences
between the accounting and tax basis of an asset or liability. In 2010, although the Fund provided for
deferred income taxes on the temporary differences for its corporate subsidiaries as well for its
flow‐through subsidiaries, deferred taxes for the flow‐through subsidiaries were only recorded to the
extent the temporary differences were expected to reverse after 2010.
Deferred Income Taxes
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows:
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

January 1, 2010

Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12
months

$

Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more
than 12 months

2,515

$

2,932

$

521

6,707

281

1,598

9,222

3,213

2,119

Deferred tax liability to be recovered within 12
months (January 1, 2010 – deferred tax asset to
be recovered within 12 months)

(27)

(30)

392

Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more
than 12 months

(566)

(1,086)

(3,579)

(593)

(1,116)

(3,187)

Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:

Total deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets, net

$

8,629

$

2,097

$

(1,068)
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11. Income Tax, cont’d
The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:
Amount
Balance as at January 1, 2010

$

(1,068)

(Charged) credited to profit or loss

3,384

(Charged) credited to other comprehensive income (loss)

(125)

Acquisitions (Note 6)

127

Exchange differences

(221)

Balance as at December 31, 2010

2,097

(Charged) credited to profit or loss

2,239

(Charged) credited to other comprehensive income (loss)

994

Acquisitions (Note 6)

3,020

Exchange differences

279

Balance as at December 31, 2011

$

8,629

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Issuance
Costs

Non‐capital
Income Tax
Losses

Tax
Deductible
Goodwill

$

$

Total

Other

Deferred tax assets
Balance as at January 1, 2010

$

(Charged) credited to profit or loss
(Charged) credited to other
comprehensive income (loss)

314

4,930

4,143

$

1,425

$

10,812

(227)

1,518

393

338

2,022

‐

‐

‐

(125)

(125)

Acquisitions (Note 6)

‐

‐

‐

127

127

Exchange differences

‐

(191)

(17)

(9)

(217)

87

6,257

4,519

1,756

12,619

Balance as at December 31, 2010

(70)

(2,592)

(3,632)

6,208

(86)

(Charged) credited to other
comprehensive income (loss)

(Charged) credited to profit or loss

‐

‐

‐

994

994

Acquisitions (Note 6)

‐

19,669

9,195

‐

28,864

Exchange differences
Balance as at December 31, 2011

‐
$

17

1,086
$

24,420

367
$

10,449

122
$

9,080

1,575
$

43,966
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11. Income Tax, cont’d

Accelerated
Tax
Depreciation

Unbilled
Revenue on
Customer
Contract

Intangibles

Total

Other

Deferred tax liabilities
Balance as at January 1, 2010

$

(Charged) credited to profit or loss
Exchange differences
Balance as at December 31, 2010
(Charged) credited to profit or loss
Acquisitions (Note 6)
Exchange differences
Balance as at December 31, 2011

(604)

$

$

(10,089)

$

(203)

$

(11,880)

(196)

2,161

15

1,362

(13)

9

‐

‐

(4)

(1,235)

(1,171)

(7,928)

(188)

(10,522)

620

(226)

2,096

(165)

2,325

‐

‐

(25,511)

(333)

(25,844)

(9)
$

(984)

(618)

(624)

‐
$

(1,397)

(1,286)
$

(32,629)

(1)
$

(1,296)

(687)

$

(35,337)

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carry‐forwards to the extent that the realization
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable based on future estimated profits.
As at December 31, 2011, there are non‐capital‐loss carryforwards from certain Canadian and US
subsidiaries of the Company, which may be applied against taxable income of future years, not later
than as follows:
Canada
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030

US

$

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
3,111
1,209
2,262
‐

$

29,914
7,232
2,738
2,738
1,059
1,495
1,029
1,976
5,264
188
‐
6,655

$

6,582

$

60,288

There are non‐capital losses that have been generated by a UK subsidiary, Australian subsidiaries
and a Hong Kong subsidiary that may be carried forward indefinitely in the amounts of $11,315,
$1,361 and $188, respectively.
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11. Income Tax, cont’d
The Company has unrecognized non‐capital loss carryforwards of approximately $2,345 that are
available to reduce taxable income of certain Canadian and other foreign subsidiaries that expire
between 2013 and 2030. In addition, the Company has unrecognized non‐capital loss carryforwards
of approximately $1,017 that are available to reduce taxable income of a foreign subsidiary that has no
expiry date.
12. Cash and Cash Equivalents
December 31, 2011
Cash on hand

$

6,005

$

6,590

December 31, 2010
$

9,644

$

42,627

585

Short‐term deposits

January 1, 2010
$

9,042

$

9,042

32,983

‐

13. Trade and Other Receivables
December 31, 2011
Trade receivables

$

Less: allowance for doubtful accounts
(Note 31)

74,868

December 31, 2010
$

65,037

January 1, 2010
$

56,228

9,353

5,575

5,860

Trade receivables, net

65,515

59,462

50,368

Unbilled revenue on customer contracts

30,801

25,449

20,408

8,942

8,200

5,809

477

758

2,517

Prepayments
Other receivables
Lease inducements

291

‐

‐

Receivables from related parties (Note 34)

221

123

75

106,247

93,992

79,177

3,207

3,211

1,833

291

‐

‐

Less non‐current portion: prepayments
Less non‐current portion: lease inducements
$

102,749

$

90,781

$

77,344

As part of the Referral and Services Agreement between Altus Residential Limited and Real Matters,
the Company has paid an initial Sales and Account Management Fee of $3,500 with respect to
services to be performed over the 20 year agreement ending April 2029. This amount has been
included with prepayments. The amount of $3,500 is being amortized on a straight‐line basis over the
term of the contract, and recorded in office and other operating expenses.
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14. Investment in Associate
The Company has an investment in Real Matters, a company incorporated in Canada, which is
accounted for using the equity method as it was established that the Company has significant
influence with respect to this investment.
Amount
As at January 1, 2010

$

Increase in equity investment

5,385
3,000

Share of profit (loss) for the year

(1,086)

As at December 31, 2010

7,299

Increase in equity investment

1,000

Share of profit (loss) for the year

(1,073)

As at December 31, 2011

$

7,226

A summary of Real Matters’ aggregated assets and liabilities and profit or loss for the period was as
follows:
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

Assets

$23,384

$22,684

Liabilities

$26,665

$22,756

Revenues

$67,196

$62,220

Profit (loss)

$(5,069)

$(4,278)

% interest held

24.16%

23.49%
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment

Land

Buildings Parking Lot

Leasehold
Improvements

Furniture,
Fixtures and
Equipment

Computer
Equipment

$

$

$

$

Total

Balance as at January 1, 2010
Cost

$

Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

706

9,435

$ 28,445

‐

3,694
(488)

$

(25)

99

(1,168)

3,773

(5,257)

10,738

(4,867)

(11,805)

706

3,206

74

2,605

5,481

4,568

16,640

Year ended
December 31, 2010
Opening net book amount

706

3,206

74

2,605

5,481

4,568

16,640

Exchange differences

‐

‐

‐

6

(9)

(24)

(27)

Acquisitions (Note 6)

‐

‐

‐

‐

219

28

247

Additions

‐

18

‐

679

1,545

2,823

5,065

Disposals

‐

(9)

‐

(46)

(184)

‐

(239)

Depreciation charge
Closing net book amount

‐

(128)

(6)

(577)

(1,731)

(1,784)

(4,226)

706

3,087

68

2,667

5,321

5,611

17,460

706

3,702

99

4,348

12,074

12,100

33,029

‐

(615)

(31)

(1,681)

(6,753)

(6,489)

(15,569)

5,611

$ 17,460

Balance as at
December 31, 2010
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

$

706

$

3,087

$

68

$

2,667

$

5,321

$

Year ended
December 31, 2011
Opening net book amount

706

3,087

68

2,667

5,321

5,611

17,460

Exchange differences

‐

‐

‐

25

10

48

83

Acquisitions (Note 6)

‐

‐

‐

314

36

342

692

Additions

‐

58

‐

3,958

4,127

2,258

10,401

Disposals

‐

‐

‐

(24)

(441)

(43)

(508)

Depreciation charge
Closing net book amount

‐

(135)

(5)

(1,522)

(2,065)

(2,156)

(5,883)

706

3,010

63

5,418

6,988

6,060

22,245

706

3,760

99

7,669

14,889

14,626

41,749

Balance as at
December 31, 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

‐
$

706

(750)
$

3,010

(36)
$

63

(2,251)
$

5,418

(7,901)
$

6,988

$

(8,566)

(19,504)

6,060

$ 22,245
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15. Property, Plant and Equipment, cont’d
The Company leases various furniture, fixtures and equipment and computer equipment under
non‐cancellable finance lease agreements. The lease terms are between 4 and 6 years.
Furniture, fixtures and equipment includes assets held under finance lease amounting to $587
(December 31, 2010 ‐ $995) and accumulated depreciation of $285 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $515).
Computer equipment includes assets held under finance lease amounting to $163 (December 31, 2010
‐ $75) and accumulated depreciation of $44 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $14). Additions to assets held under
finance lease for the year ended December 31, 2011 were $180 (year ended December 31, 2010 ‐ $85).
Leasehold improvements include tenant inducements amounting to $973 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $378)
and accumulated depreciation of $121 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $83).
Leasehold improvements financed in 2011 by a loan from the landlord was $30 (year ended
December 31, 2010 ‐ $30).
Assets acquired and not yet available for use include computer equipment amounting to $280
(December 31, 2010 ‐ $32), furniture, fixtures and equipment amounting to $Nil (December 31, 2010 ‐
$28) and leasehold improvements amounting to $604 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $246). Accordingly, these
assets are not being amortized.
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16. Intangibles
Brands of
Acquired
Businesses

Computer
Application
Software

Custom
Software
Application

Internally
Generated
Software

Customer
Backlog

Customer
Lists

Databases

Non‐compete
Agreements

Indefinite
Life Brands

Total

Balance as at
January 1, 2010
Cost

$

Accumulated
amortization
Net book amount

12,902

$

5,501

$

9,054

$

‐

$

9,196

$

77,340

$

2,735

$

11,048

$

6,265

$ 134,041

(11,449)

(2,214)

(6,948)

‐

(6,300)

(43,889)

(2,735)

(7,339)

‐

(80,874)

1,453

3,287

2,106

‐

2,896

33,451

‐

3,709

6,265

53,167

53,167

Year ended
December 31, 2010
Opening net book
amount

1,453

3,287

2,106

‐

2,896

33,451

‐

3,709

6,265

Exchange differences

(13)

(11)

(43)

‐

31

(904)

‐

(44)

‐

(984)

Acquisitions (Note 6)

‐

‐

1,448

‐

361

11,960

‐

‐

‐

13,769

Additions

‐

1,158

297

‐

‐

‐

‐

1,465

‐

2,920

(1,440)

(544)

(2,322)

‐

(1,588)

(13,005)

‐

(2,686)

‐

(21,585)

‐

3,890

1,486

‐

1,700

31,502

‐

2,444

6,265

47,287

12,851

6,651

10,645

‐

9,619

87,673

2,735

12,397

6,265

148,836

(12,851)

(2,761)

(9,159)

‐

(7,919)

(56,171)

(2,735)

(9,953)

‐

(101,549)

‐

3,890

1,486

‐

1,700

31,502

‐

2,444

6,265

47,287

Opening net book
amount

‐

3,890

1,486

‐

1,700

31,502

‐

2,444

6,265

47,287

Exchange differences

‐

(5)

557

153

3

2,266

‐

11

831

3,816

Acquisitions (Note 6)

‐

11

11,415

2,672

‐

38,084

‐

‐

16,224

68,406

Additions

‐

2,119

23

568

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

2,710

Amortization charge

‐

(540)

(2,243)

(16)

(786)

(12,983)

‐

(1,330)

‐

(17,898)

Disposals

‐

(6)

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

‐

(6)

Impairment charge
(Note 17)

‐

‐

‐

‐

(765)

(4,728)

(355)

‐

(5,848)

Closing net book
amount

‐

5,469

11,238

3,377

152

54,141

‐

770

23,320

98,467

12,928

8,758

22,734

3,392

9,640

128,473

2,735

12,459

23,320

224,439

Amortization charge
Closing net book
amount
Balance as at
December 31, 2010
Cost
Accumulated
amortization
Net book amount
Year ended
December 31, 2011

Balance as at
December 31, 2011
Cost
Accumulated
amortization and
impairment
Net book amount

(12,928)
$

‐

(3,289)
$

5,469

(11,496)
$

11,238

(15)
$

3,377

(9,488)
$

152

(74,332)
$

54,141

(2,735)
$

‐

(11,689)
$

770

‐
$

23,320
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16. Intangibles, cont’d
Indefinite life assets, consisting of the Altus Group and Argus brands, have been assessed for
impairment along with goodwill as outlined in Note 17. These assets are considered to have
indefinite lives as management believes that there is an unlimited period over which the assets are
expected to generate net cash flows.
Included in computer application software is $3,941 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $2,501) of computer
application software not yet available for use. Accordingly, these assets are not being amortized.
Included in customer lists as at December 31, 2011, among others, are customer relationships relating
to the Edwin Hill Chartered Surveyors, Property Tax Practice of Deloitte Canada, Capital Planning
Solutions Inc., Suvius Inc., PwC Appraisal Management Practice and Argus Software acquisitions
with net book values of $2,753, $2,545, $826, $1,212, $7,759 and $37,698, respectively. These assets
have remaining useful lives of 9 months, 17 months, 22 months, 28 months, 43 months and 113
months, respectively. Included in custom software applications as at December 31, 2011 are software
applications relating to the Argus Software acquisition with a net book value of $10,599 and a
remaining useful life of 53 months. Included in internally generated software as at December 31, 2011
is internally generated software relating to the Argus Software acquisition with a net book value of
$3,377. A total of $3,094 has not yet been amortized and an asset with a net book value of $283 has a
remaining useful life of 57 months.
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17. Goodwill
Amount
Balance as at January 1, 2010
Cost

$

Accumulated impairment

165,428
(1,968)

Net book amount

163,460

Year ended December 31, 2010
Opening net book amount

163,460

Acquisitions (Note 6)

3,664

Impairment charge

(14,000)

Exchange differences

(1,348)

Closing net book amount

151,776

Balance as at December 31, 2010
Cost

167,515

Accumulated impairment

(15,739)

Net book amount

151,776

Year ended December 31, 2011
Opening net book amount

151,776

Acquisitions (Note 6)

62,167

Impairment charge

(3,387)

Exchange differences

3,395

Closing net book amount

213,951

Balance as at December 31, 2011
Cost

233,153

Accumulated impairment

(19,202)

Net book amount

$

213,951
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17. Goodwill, cont’d
The carrying value of goodwill and the indefinite life intangible assets, the Altus Group and Argus
brands, were allocated to the Company’s CGUs as follows as at December 31, 2011, December 31,
2010 and January 1, 2010:
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

January 1, 2010

Indefinite
Life
Intangible
Assets (1)

Indefinite
Life
Intangible
Asset

Indefinite
Life
Intangible
Asset

Goodwill
Canada RVA – Valuations, Altus
Solutions and ARL
Canada & US Cost – Altus
Group Infrastructure & Cost
Planning and Monitoring

$

19,638

$

826

28,137

1,184

Goodwill
$

19,638

$

28,137

742

Goodwill
$

1,063

19,638

$

28,137

744

1,066

Canada Tax

33,998

1,431

33,998

1,285

33,998

1,288

Canada Geomatics

33,931

1,428

33,931

1,282

33,702

1,276

Argus Software

65,079

17,055

‐

‐

‐

‐

UK Tax, Landlord & Tenant and
Agency

16,820

708

16,411

620

17,687

670

‐

‐

3,390

654

17,340

657

16,348

688

16,271

619

12,958

564

23,320

$ 151,776

6,265

$ 163,460

Asia Pacific Cost (including
Hawaii)
Other
Total
(1)
(2)

(2)

$ 213,951

$

$

$

6,265

The Argus brand indefinite life intangible asset was acquired on June 1, 2011.
The category is made up of six CGUs as at December 31, 2011, six CGUs as at December 31, 2010 and four CGUs as at
January 1, 2010, which are individually immaterial.

An annual impairment test is completed in the fourth quarter each financial year.
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17. Goodwill, cont’d
The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on fair value less cost to sell using the
estimation technique of discounted cash flow analysis. This analysis incorporates assumptions which
market participants use in estimating fair value. The key assumptions used as at December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010 were as follows:
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

Perpetual
Growth Rate

Discount Rate
(after‐tax)

Perpetual
Growth Rate

Discount Rate
(after‐tax)

Canada RVA – Valuations, Altus
Solutions and ARL

3.0%

15.0%

3.0%

12.5%

Canada & US Cost – Altus Group
Infrastructure & Cost Planning and
Monitoring

3.0%

14.5%

3.0%

13.0%

Canada Tax

2.5%

13.5%

2.5%

12.0%

Canada Geomatics

3.0%

14.0%

3.0%

12.0%

Argus Software

3.0%

21.0%

‐

‐

UK Tax, Landlord & Tenant and Agency

2.5%

15.5%

2.5%

12.5%

Asia Pacific Cost (including Hawaii)

3.0%

17.0%

5.0%

15.0%

3.0% ‐ 5.0%

14.0% ‐ 26.0%

3.0% ‐ 5.0%

13.0% ‐ 24.0%

Other

The discounted cash flow analysis uses after‐tax cash flow projections based on five‐year financial
budgets approved by management. Cash flows beyond the five‐year period were extrapolated using
the estimated growth rates stated above. The growth rate does not exceed the long‐term average
growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates.
Management’s margin assumptions were based on historical performance and future expectations.
The discount rates used are on an after‐tax basis and reflect risks related to the specific operating
segment.
Impairment
Management tested goodwill for impairment as at January 1, 2010 as part of its transition to IFRS and
determined that an impairment charge of $1,968 was required relating to the UK Cost CGU. Refer to
Note 5 for further details.
Management tested goodwill for impairment as at December 31, 2010 as part of its transition to IFRS
and determined that an impairment charge of $14,000 was required relating to the Asia Pacific Cost
(including Hawaii) CGU. Refer to Note 5 for further details.
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17. Goodwill, cont’d
As part of the restructuring in the Global Cost operations (Note 21), management performed an
impairment analysis as at June 30, 2011. As a result of this testing, there was a goodwill and
intangibles impairment charge taken in the amount $3,387 and $5,848, respectively. This charge
relates only to the Asia Pacific Cost (including Hawaii) CGU which forms part of the Asia Pacific Cost
operating segment. As the financial condition of Asia Pacific has been impacted by the slow‐down in
the Middle‐East, new project work in other regions has not substantially materialized to replace the
lost revenues.
The key assumptions used as at June 30, 2011 were as follows:
June 30, 2011

Asia Pacific Cost (including Hawaii)

Perpetual
Growth Rate

Discount Rate
(after‐tax)

5%

15%

Management tested goodwill for impairment as at December 31, 2011 and determined that no further
impairment exists.
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18. Trade and Other Payables
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Trade payables

$

12,506

$

4,135

January 1, 2010
$

5,273

Accrued expenses

37,707

24,567

21,142

Deferred revenue

14,525

2,391

2,279

910

304

48

Contingent consideration payable (Note 31)

6,472

6,948

11,717

Dividends/distributions payable

3,511

‐

3,021

Lease inducements

Amounts due to related parties (Note 34)

3,924

1,046

713

Redemption proceeds payable

174

911

1,462

Other liabilities

411

5,201

3,444

80,140

45,503

49,099

Less non‐current portion: accrued expenses

2,427

‐

‐

Less non‐current portion: deferred revenue

1,074

‐

‐

Less non‐current portion: contingent
consideration payable

6,066

5,727

10,380

Less non‐current portion: lease inducements

3,831

951

544

77

94

1,462

Less non‐current portion: redemption proceeds
payable

297

Less non‐current portion: other liabilities
$

66,368

419
$

38,312

245
$

36,468
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19. Borrowings
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

$

$

January 1, 2010

Borrowings (Current):
Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility
Leasehold improvement loans

8,000

‐

$

‐

58

48

40

Intangibles financing loan

122

150

135

Insurance financing loan

944

‐

‐

Finance lease liabilities

192

243

221

9,316

441

396

Revolving Term Facility

96,400

89,667

71,332

Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility

27,900

‐

‐

358

386

405

‐

122

272

Borrowings (Non‐current):

Leasehold improvement loans
Intangibles financing loan

109

156

330

Canadian convertible debentures

45,644

45,644

‐

US convertible debentures

50,418

‐

‐

(6,228)

(4,383)

(2,155)

214,601

131,592

70,184

Finance lease liabilities

Less: deferred financing fees
Total Borrowings

$

223,917

$

132,033

$

70,580

Credit facilities
The Company has bank credit facilities as follows:
a) Revolving Operating Facility: Senior secured Revolving Operating Facility, in the principal
amount of up to $20,000 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $12,500; January 1, 2010 ‐ $12,500). This facility will
mature on December 31, 2015. As at December 31, 2011, the amount drawn under this facility was
$Nil (December 31, 2010 ‐ $Nil; January 1, 2010 ‐ $Nil). A total of $20,000 remains undrawn under
this facility (December 31, 2010 ‐ $12,500; January 1, 2010 ‐ $12,500).
b) Revolving Term Facility: Senior secured Revolving Term Facility in an amount of $110,000
(December 31, 2010 ‐ $97,931; January 1, 2010 ‐ $87,931), with certain provisions that allow the
Company to increase the limit further to $160,000. The Revolving Term Facility will mature on
December 31, 2015. As at December 31, 2011, the amount drawn under this facility was $96,400
(December 31, 2010 ‐ $89,667; January 1, 2010 ‐ $71,332). A total of $13,600 remains undrawn under
this facility (December 31, 2010 ‐ $8,264; January 1, 2010 ‐ $16,599).
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19. Borrowings, cont’d
c) Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility: Senior secured Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility in
an amount of $40,000. The Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility will mature on December 31,
2015 and includes specific repayment terms. The facility was used to finance the Argus acquisition
in June 2011 and may not be re‐borrowed. As at December 31, 2011, the amount outstanding
under this facility was $35,900.
The weighted effective interest rate for the bank credit facilities for the year ended December 31, 2011
was 5.25% (year ended December 31, 2010 – 3.89%). The bank credit facilities require repayment of
principal at such time as the Company receives proceeds of insurance, issues equity, issues
subordinated debt, issues subordinated convertible debentures or sells assets in excess of certain
thresholds.
Loans under all facilities are repayable without any prepayment penalties, and will bear interest at a
floating rate, based on the Canadian Prime rate, Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rates, US Base rates or
LIBOR rates plus, in each case, an applicable margin to those rates. The margin ranges from 1.0% to
3.75% depending on the calculation of the funded debt to EBITDA ratio (Note 32) and the facility
used.
Letters of credit are also available on customary terms for facilities of this nature.
Pursuant to the Credit Agreement for the above noted facilities, security is granted over all of the
Company’s assets. As at December 31, 2011, guarantees and a security interest over all or certain
assets totalling $453,123 are provided by certain subsidiaries of the Company.
The Credit Agreement requires the Company to comply with certain financial covenants, as disclosed
in Note 32. In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Company must account for a minimum of 80% of
consolidated EBITDA at the end of each fiscal quarter. Further, certain subsidiaries of the Company
must provide a minimum of 80% of total consolidated assets at the end of each fiscal quarter. As at
December 31, 2011, the Company met this requirement.
As at December 31, 2011, $110,000 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $87,500; January 1, 2010 ‐ $12,500) of the bank
credit facilities were subject to various interest rate swap agreements (Note 20) to fix the interest rate.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company borrowed, on a net basis, $6,733 from the
Revolving Term Facility and $35,900 from the Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility to fund capital
and other expenditures and the Argus acquisition.
The Company received various loans to finance leasehold improvements made to leased premises.
The loans are payable in installments with maturity dates ranging from August 2014 to March 2019
and bear interest from 2% to 8%. The loans are not secured. The weighted effective interest rate for the
year ended December 31, 2011 was 4.46% (year ended December 31, 2010 – 4.43%).
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19. Borrowings, cont’d
In 2009, the Company indirectly purchased a custom software application and a customer list for $500
plus applicable taxes. This amount is payable in monthly installments over a term of 3 years to
September 1, 2012. The weighted effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2011 was
9.34% (year ended December 31, 2010 – 9.34%).
The Company has obtained financing with respect to its errors and omissions and comprehensive
general liability insurance. The loan is payable in installments with a maturity date of August 31, 2012
and bears interest at 4.49%. The loan is not secured.
Principal repayments on all credit facilities are as follows:

Less than 1 year

December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

$

$

9,124

198

January 1, 2010
$

175

Between 2 and 3 years

16,120

89,893

71,688

Between 4 and 5 years

108,411

102

92

127

180

229

Over 5 years
$

133,782

$

90,373

$

72,184

Finance Lease Liabilities
Future minimum lease payments required under finance leases, which expire between 2012 and 2016,
are as follows:
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

$

$

January 1, 2010

Gross finance lease liabilities – minimum lease
payments:
No later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years
Less: future finance charges on finance leases
(2.63% to 13.44%)
Present value of finance lease liabilities

210

$

249

162

347

328

426

596

27
$

264

118

301

27
$

399

45
$

551

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows:

No later than 1 year

December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

$

192

$

$

301

109

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years

243

January 1, 2010
$

221

$

551

156
$

399

330

125

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
19. Borrowings, cont’d
The majority of the Company’s finance lease liabilities are denominated in Canadian Dollars, except
for some financing lease liabilities denominated in Australian Dollars of $121 (December 31, 2010 ‐
$75; January 1, 2010 ‐ $Nil).
Canadian convertible debentures
On December 1, 2010, the Fund completed the issuance of $50,000 convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures with a maturity date of December 31, 2017. The Canadian convertible
debentures bear interest at a rate of 5.75% per annum, and are payable semi‐annually on June 30 and
December 31 each year.
In connection with the Corporate Conversion, the Company assumed all the obligations of the Fund
relating to the outstanding convertible debentures. Holders are entitled to receive common shares,
rather than Fund Units, at the same conversion price at which the Fund Units were previously
issuable upon conversion.
Each Canadian convertible debenture is convertible into common shares at the option of the holder at
a conversion price of $18.60 per common share at any time after January 3, 2011 and prior to the close
of business on the earlier of December 31, 2017 and the business day immediately preceding the date
fixed for redemption. On or after December 31, 2013 and prior to December 31, 2015, the Canadian
convertible debentures may be redeemed at the option of the Company, in whole or in part, at a
redemption price equal to the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the
current market price on the date of notice is at least 125% of the conversion price. On or after
December 31, 2015 and prior to the maturity date, the Company may at its option redeem the
Canadian convertible debentures, in whole or in part, at a price equal to the principal amount plus
accrued and unpaid interest. On redemption or at the December 31, 2017 maturity date, the Company
may, at its option and subject to regulatory approval, elect to satisfy its obligation to pay all or a
portion of the principal amount and the accrued and unpaid interest by the issuance of common
shares. The number of common shares to be issued will be determined by dividing the principal
amount of the Canadian convertible debentures to be redeemed or repaid at maturity plus accrued
and unpaid interest by 95% of the current market price as at the date of redemption or maturity.
Upon the occurrence of a change in control involving the acquisition of voting control or direction
over of 66.67% or more of the common shares of the Company, the Company will be required to
make an offer to purchase, within 30 days, all of the outstanding Canadian convertible debentures at
a price equal to 101% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
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19. Borrowings, cont’d
At the time of issuance in 2010, the Canadian convertible debentures were convertible into Fund
Units, which were considered to be liabilities under IFRS as discussed in Note 5. Thus, the conversion
option was an embedded derivative within the host instrument, which was required to be separated
from the host contract, measured at fair value and held as assets or liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss. On December 1, 2010, the embedded derivative was recorded at a value of $4,356. The
remaining value of the Canadian convertible debentures was classified as a liability. Transaction costs
of $2,690 were netted against the liability.
As at December 31, 2010, the fair value of the embedded derivative was $4,634 (Note 20). The change
in fair value of $278 was recorded as an increase to finance costs.
As a result of the Corporate Conversion, the Canadian convertible debentures have characteristics of
both debt and equity, as they are convertible into common shares of the Company. Thus, the
derivative instrument value of $4,634 as at January 1, 2011 was reclassified to equity, representing the
fair value of the conversion option. The initial liability component of $45,644, net of unamortized
transaction costs, continues to be recorded as a liability. As at December 31, 2011, the carrying value
of the Canadian convertible debentures was $43,787 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $43,019).
Interest expense includes a charge for the coupon interest as well as the accretion of the liability to the
Canadian convertible debentures’ aggregate face value of $50,000 at maturity using the effective rate
method.
US convertible debentures
On June 1, 2011, as part of the consideration for the Argus acquisition, the Company completed the
issuance of US$49,361 US convertible debentures with a maturity date of June 1, 2014.
The US convertible debentures bear interest at the following rates during the term:





6% per annum for the period between June 1, 2011 and June 1, 2012;
8% per annum for the period between June 1, 2012 and December 3, 2012;
10% per annum for the period between December 3, 2012 and June 1, 2013; and,
12% per annum for the period between June 1, 2013 and June 1, 2014.

The US convertible debentures will bear interest at 14% to 18% if the principle portion remains
unpaid beyond three years. The interest is compounded quarterly and is payable on June 1, 2014.
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19. Borrowings, cont’d
Each US convertible debenture is convertible into common shares at the option of the holder based on
a conversion price of US$14.73 per common share at any time prior to maturity. Notwithstanding the
above,




each US convertible debenture is convertible, at the option of the holder, on any day that is not
more than 30 days and not fewer than 3 business days before December 3, 2012, into common
shares based on a conversion price that is the greater of 95% of the current market price (which
is defined as the product of the volume weighted average trading price for 20 consecutive
trading days ending on the fifth trading day preceding the conversion date and 1.0454) and
US$13.59 per common share; and,
each US convertible debenture is convertible, at the option of the holder, on any day that is not
more than 30 days and not fewer than 3 business days before June 1, 2013, December 2, 2013 or
June 1, 2014, into common shares based on a conversion price that is equal to 95% of the
current market price.

The US convertible debentures may be redeemed, in whole or in part, at any time prior to maturity, at
the Company’s option, at a price equal to the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
Upon the occurrence of a change in control, the Company will be required to make an offer to
purchase, within 30 days, all of the outstanding US convertible debentures at a price equal to 101% of
the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
20. Derivative Financial Instruments

Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow
hedges

December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

$

$

Interest rate swaps not designated as cash flow
hedges
Embedded derivative related to Canadian
convertible debentures (Notes 5 and 19)
Less: non‐current portion
$

(4,425)

(547)

January 1, 2010
$

(577)

(1,664)

‐

‐

‐

(4,634)

‐

(6,089)

(5,181)

(577)

(6,089)

(5,036)

(577)

‐

$

(145)

$

‐

During the three months ended March 31, 2011, the Company cancelled its $12,500 interest rate swap
agreement, incurring a cost of collapsing the swap of $145. This is in lieu of $311 of interest payments
that would have been paid under the swap up to its May 2011 maturity date, for net savings of $166.
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20. Derivative Financial Instruments, cont’d
During the three months ended June 30, 2011, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement which has a nominal amount of $35,000. The Company is obligated to pay the
counterparty to the swap agreement an amount based upon a fixed interest rate of 2.376% per annum
plus the current stamping fee of 3.75% and the counterparty is obligated to pay the Company an
amount equal to the Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate. This agreement expires on December 31,
2015. This interest rate swap was not designated as a cash flow hedge.
The following interest rate swaps were outstanding as at December 31, 2011 and 2010:
December 31, 2011
Effective Date

Annual Fixed Rate (1)

Nominal Amount

Fair Value

Contracts Expire

August 31, 2011

2.77%

$

75,000

$

(4,425)

August 31, 2015

June 8, 2011

2.38%

$

35,000

$

(1,664)

December 31, 2015

(1)

The annual fixed fee excludes the stamping fee. The stamping fee as at December 31, 2011 was 3.75%.

December 31, 2010
Effective Date

Annual Fixed Rate (1)

Nominal Amount

Fair Value

Contracts Expire

June 19, 2006

4.46%

$

12,500

$

(145)

August 20, 2010

0.98%

$

75,000

$

187

August 31, 2011

August 31, 2011

2.77%

$

75,000

$

(589)

August 31, 2015

(1)

May 13, 2011

The annual fixed fee excludes the stamping fee. The stamping fee as at December 31, 2010 was 2.75%.
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21. Provisions
Asset
Retirement
Obligations

Onerous
Leases
Balance as at January 1, 2010

$

263

$

210

Total

Restructuring
$

‐

$

473

Charged (credited) to profit or loss:
Unwinding of discount (Note 10)
Used during the year
Exchange differences
Balance as at December 31, 2010

34

33

‐

67

(126)

‐

‐

(126)

‐

21

‐

21

171

264

‐

435

556

‐

‐

556

9

‐

4,403

4,412

Charged (credited) to profit or loss:
Additional provision – Argus acquisition
(Note 6)
Additional provisions
Unused amounts reversed
Unwinding of discount (Note 10)
Used during the year
Exchange differences

‐

(205)

‐

(205)

43

16

‐

59

(311)

‐

(1,754)

(2,065)

24

1

22

47

Balance as at December 31, 2011

492

76

2,671

3,239

Less: non‐current portion

171

76

281

528

$

321

$

‐

$

2,390

$

2,711

Onerous leases
The amount represents the liability for leased premises which are sub‐leased at a lower rate. The
provision is made for the net losses being incurred over the period of the lease. The non‐current
portion of the liability is expected to be settled by 2014.
Asset retirement obligation
The asset retirement obligation relates to the estimated future cost to remove leasehold
improvements situated on a property under an operating lease. The liability is expected to be settled
in 2016 and has been discounted at a rate of 15%. Upon the initial recognition of the liability, an asset
retirement cost has been capitalized in property, plant and equipment and is being amortized over
the remaining useful life.
Restructuring
During the three months ended June 30, 2011, the Company undertook a review of Global Cost
operations and developed a restructuring plan to drive efficiencies and enhance profitability. In
connection with this restructuring plan, a total of $913 and $4,403 in restructuring costs was recorded
for the three and twelve months ended December 31, 2011, respectively. These charges relate
primarily to employee severance costs. The non‐current portion of the liability is expected to be
settled by 2013.
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21. Provisions, cont’d
There is a Statement of Claim against the Company from a former employee for severance. The
employee was terminated as part of the restructuring for Global Cost operations and the related
employee severance costs have been accrued.
22. Unitholders’ Liabilities
The Company has classified certain units as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss as
outlined below:
Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units
As part of the formation of the Fund, 2,296,439 Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units,
each of which also represented a Special Voting Unit of the Fund, were issued by Altus LP to the
sellers of the predecessor operating entities. These units were exchangeable into Fund Units on a
one‐for‐one basis, subject to adjustment, after December 31, 2010, however, as part of the Corporate
Conversion, these units were exchanged on a one‐for‐one basis into common shares of the Company.
Altus UK LLP Class B and Class D limited liability partnership units
As part of the formation of Altus UK LLP, 455,418 Class B limited liability partnership units were
issued to the sellers of the predecessor operating entity, who are also current member‐partners of
Altus UK LLP, and 293,818 Class D limited liability partnership units were issued for the beneficial
interest of certain employees of the predecessor operating entity. Each Altus UK LLP Class B and
Class D limited liability partnership unit is entitled to an allocation from profits in an amount equal to
the cash distributions declared and paid on the same number of Altus LP Class B limited partnership
units in respect of the same accounting period (dividends declared and paid on same number of
common shares after the Corporate Conversion). The Class B and Class D limited liability partnership
units have no additional interest in the equity of the partnership and are not included in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share/unit.
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22. Unitholders’ Liabilities, cont’d
Altus UK LLP
Class B units
Number
of Units
Balance as at
January 1, 2010

Amount

Amount

Amount

3,450

226,918

2,746

2,359,428

$ 28,549

$ 34,745

(98)

(49,948)

(708)

(1)

‐

(806)

Change in fair value
(Note 10)

‐

286

‐

271

‐

2,242

2,799

3,638

176,970

2,309

2,359,427

$ 30,791

$ 36,738

‐ (2,359,427)

278,752

$

$

Total

Number
of Units

(6,375)

Units exchanged into
common shares on
January 1, 2011 pursuant
to the Corporate
Conversion

$

Number
of Units

Altus LP Series 2
Class B units

Redemption of units

Balance as at
December 31, 2010

285,127

Amount

Altus UK LLP
Class D units

$

‐

‐

‐

(30,791)

(30,791)

Redemption of units

(17,929)

(78)

(29,554)

(377)

‐

‐

(455)

Change in fair value
(Note 10)

‐

(2,647)

‐

(1,416)

‐

‐

(4,063)

913

147,416

516

‐

‐

$ 1,429

Balance as at
December 31, 2011

260,823

$

$

$
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23. Share Capital
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited
number of preference shares, issuable in series. The common shares have no par value. Common
shares issued and outstanding are as follows:
Common Shares
Number of Shares
Balance as at December 31, 2010
Issued pursuant to the Corporate Conversion
Issued as compensation to Directors
Issued as compensation to others
Issued under Share Option Plan (Note 28)
Issued under the Equity Compensation Plan (Note 28)
Issued on purchase price adjustments (Note 6)
Balance as at December 31, 2011

‐

Amount
$

‐

22,616,234

276,890

3,647

44

397

5

20,883

263

353,767

2,657

47,161

176

23,042,089

$

280,035

On December 8, 2010, unitholders and holders of the Special Voting Units of the Fund approved the
reorganization of the Fund’s income trust structure into a corporation, pursuant to the Arrangement.
The effective date of the Arrangement was January 1, 2011.
Pursuant to the Arrangement, unitholders of the Fund and holders of Class B limited partnership
units of Altus LP exchanged their units for common shares of the newly formed, wholly owned
subsidiary of the Fund on a one‐for‐one basis.
24. Units
The beneficial interests in the Fund are divided into two classes, described and designated as “Units”
and “Special Voting Units”. The aggregate number of authorized Units and Special Voting Units is
unlimited.
Fund Units
Each Unit is transferable and represents an equal undivided beneficial interest in any distribution
from the Fund and in any of the Fund assets net of Fund liabilities, or in any other net assets of the
Fund in the event of termination or winding‐up of the Fund. All Units outstanding from time to time
shall be entitled to equal shares in any distributions by the Fund and, in the event of termination or
winding‐up of the Fund, in the Fund net assets. All Units have equal rights and privileges. Each Unit
shall entitle the holder of record thereof to one vote at all meetings of Unitholders and holders of
Special Voting Units, or in respect of any written resolutions of the Unitholders.
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24. Units, cont’d
Units are redeemable at any time, at the option of the holder, at amounts related to market prices.
Cash redemptions are limited to a maximum of $50 in any particular month. This limitation may be
waived at the discretion of the Trustees of the Fund.
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units
These units are held by the vendors of certain acquired businesses and certain employees.
On closing of the Fund’s initial public offering, the Fund, Altus Operating Trust, Altus Group
General Partner Corporation, Altus Group LP, Altus Investors Management Partnership and the
vendors of the predecessor operating entities holding Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership
units and Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units entered into an Exchange Agreement.
The Exchange Agreement grants the holders of the Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units
and Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units the right to effectively exchange all or any
portion of their Class B limited partnership units for Fund Units after a conversion date prescribed in
the Altus LP Partnership Agreement, on the condition that certain earnings and distribution
thresholds have been met. Altus LP satisfied the earnings and distribution thresholds such that the
Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units are no longer subordinated to the Fund Units.
Accordingly, these units are exchangeable and are classified as Units.
Special Voting Units
A Special Voting Unit shall not entitle the holder thereof to any interest or share in the Fund, in any
distribution from the Fund or in the net Fund assets in the event of a termination or winding‐up of
the Fund. Special Voting Units are issued only to holders of Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited
partnership units and Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units and are evidenced only by
the certificate or certificates representing such Altus LP Class B limited partnership units.
Accordingly, the number of Special Voting Units outstanding at any given time is equal to the
number of Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units and Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited
partnership units outstanding at the time. As at December 31, 2010, there were 4,823,588 Special
Voting Units outstanding. A Special Voting Unit may be transferred solely with the transfer of the
Altus LP Class B limited partnership unit with which it is associated. A holder of record of Special
Voting Units shall be entitled to that number of whole votes (rounded down to the nearest whole
vote) at all meetings of Fund Unitholders that is equal to the number of Fund Units into which the
Altus LP Class B limited partnership units to which such Special Voting Unit relates is, directly or
indirectly, exchangeable (other than in respect of units that have been so exchanged and are held by
the Fund or an affiliate thereof). Upon the exchange, conversion or cancellation of an Altus LP Class B
limited partnership unit, the Special Voting Unit that is associated with such Altus LP Class B limited
partnership unit will immediately be cancelled for no consideration without any further action of the
Trustees, and the former holder of such Special Voting Unit will cease to have any rights with respect
thereto.
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24. Units, cont’d
As a result of the Corporate Conversion, all Fund Units and Altus LP Class B limited partnership
units were exchanged on a one‐for‐one basis into common shares of the Company effective January 1,
2011. All Special Voting Units were also cancelled.

Fund Units

Altus LP Series 1
Class B units
Amount

Number of
Units

Amount

32,534

19,562,173

$ 236,812

(567,445)

(6,611)

‐

‐

Number of
Units

Amount

Number of
Units

16,726,694

$ 204,278

2,835,479

Exchange of Altus LP Series 1
Class B limited partnership
units into Fund Units

567,445

6,611

Issued for acquisitions
including separately
acquired intangibles

Balance as at January 1, 2010

Total

$

257,090

3,509

9,868

120

266,958

3,629

Issued as compensation to
Trustees

5,172

68

‐

‐

5,172

68

Issued as compensation to
others

‐

‐

4,193

60

4,193

60

29,233

387

182,193

2,412

211,426

2,799

207,012

2,732

‐

‐

207,012

2,732

‐

‐

(127)

(1)

(127)

(1)

17,792,646

$ 217,585

2,464,161

28,514

20,256,807

$ 246,099

Units exchanged into
common shares on January 1,
2011 pursuant to the
Corporate Conversion
(17,792,646)

(217,585)

(2,464,161)

(28,514) (20,256,807)

(246,099)

‐

‐

Issued under Deferred
Performance Plan
Issued under Unit Option
Plan
Fractional Units redeemed
Balance as at
December 31, 2010

Balance as at
December 31, 2011

‐

$

$

$

‐

‐

$

‐

As at January 1, 2010, 13,079 Fund Units and 86,767 Altus LP Series 1 Class B units totalling $651 have
been deducted from total issued units which were held by the Altus EBT. As at December 31, 2010,
there were no treasury shares and the Altus EBT was wound up in 2011 as part of the Corporate
Conversion.
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25. Contributed Surplus
Amount
Balance as at January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010

$

Reclassification of Executive Compensation Plan (Note 28)

‐
4,334

Executive Compensation Plan (Note 28)

202

Argus acquisition share options (Notes 6 and 28)

459

Shares issued under Equity Compensation Plan (Note 28)

(2,657)

Shares issued under Share Option Plan

(111)

Balance as at December 31, 2011

$

2,227

26. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Currency
Translation Reserve
Balance as at January 1, 2010

$

Cash flow hedges:
Change in fair value
Deferred tax impact

Cash flow hedges:
Change in fair value
Deferred tax impact
Currency translation differences
$

(3,317)

(306)

$

30
(125)

(3,317)
$

Balance as at January 1, 2011

Balance as at December 31, 2011

$

‐
‐

Currency translation differences
Balance as at December 31, 2010

‐

Total

Cash Flow Hedges

30
(125)

‐
$

(401)

(306)

(3,317)
$

(3,718)

(3,317)

(401)

(3,718)

‐
‐

(3,878)
994

(3,878)
994

8,072

‐

8,072

4,755

$

(3,285)

$

1,470

27. Deficit
Amount
As at January 1, 2010

$

Net profit (loss) for the year

(9,272)

Distributions declared
As at December 31, 2010

(66,800)
(23,944)

$

(100,016)

Net profit (loss) for the year

(18,310)

Dividends declared

(17,142)

Settlement obligation
As at December 31, 2011

(1,905)
$

(137,373)
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27. Deficit, cont’d
As part of the Corporate Conversion effected on January 1, 2011, the Company assumed the liabilities
of the former Altus Investors Management Partnership (“AIMP”). In 2010, the AIMP entered into a
settlement agreement with a former partner to fix the price of units, held in escrow for his benefit, at
$13.18 per unit. The number of units held in escrow is 144,512. As this is considered to be a capital
transaction, the Company has recorded a liability of $1,905 in trade and other payables with an offset
to deficit as at January 1, 2011. The amount is payable in March 2012.
28. Executive Compensation Plan
Equity‐Settled Compensation Arrangements
In May 2008, the Fund commenced an equity‐based Executive Compensation Plan that comprises
two elements: a Unit Option Plan and a Deferred Performance Plan. In 2010, Unitholders approved a
special resolution to increase the number of Fund Units available for issuance under the Unit Option
Plan and the Deferred Performance Plan from 1,831,454 to 2,213,668.
As a result of the Corporate Conversion, the Unit Option Plan was modified to be a Share Option
Plan and the Deferred Performance Plan was replaced by the Equity Compensation Plan.
(a) Unit/Share Option Plan
The options, which have a maximum term of 48 months, shall be allocated and granted to certain key
employees. The Administrators of the Unit/Share Option Plan (“Option Plan”) have discretion as to
the number of options issued, the exercise price of each option, the expiration date of each option, the
extent to which each option is exercisable during the term of the option, and any other terms and
conditions relating to each option. However, if no specific determination is made by the
Administrators, (i) an option shall vest no earlier than 12 months from the date of its grant (the
“Vesting Date”); and (ii) the period during which the option shall be exercisable shall be 12 months
from the Vesting Date. The exercise price for the options under the Option Plan is calculated as the
weighted average closing price of the Fund Units/common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding such grant date. Except in specific defined
circumstances, an option and all rights to purchase Fund Units/common shares are forfeited upon the
optionee ceasing to be an employee of the Company.
As part of the Corporate Conversion, all outstanding options to acquire Fund Units were replaced
with options to acquire common shares of the Company. No changes were made to the terms of any
outstanding options. The only changes to the Option Plan were to reflect the Corporate Conversion,
to change the retirement age from 60 to 65 and to increase the maximum term from 48 to 72 months.
As a result, the plan was considered to be an equity‐settled compensation arrangement and the
existing liability of $1,677 as at December 31, 2010, recorded in trade and other payables, was
reclassified to contributed surplus (Note 25).
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28. Executive Compensation Plan, cont’d
Movements in the number of unit/share options outstanding and their related weighted average
exercise prices are as follows:

Number of Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

‐

‐

Balance as at January 1, 2009
Granted on May 4, 2009

730,000

$7.28

Forfeited

(22,591)

$7.28

Balance as at December 31, 2009

707,409

$7.28

730,000

$13.86

Exercised

Granted on May 7, 2010

(207,012)

$7.28

Forfeited

(35,650)

$10.91

1,194,747

$11.19

42,388

$0.39

Exercised

(20,883)

$7.28

Forfeited

(261,031)

$10.75

955,221

$10.92

Balance as at December 31, 2010
Options issued as part of the Argus acquisition (Note 6)

Balance as at December 31, 2011

Information about the Company’s options outstanding and exercisable as at December 31, 2011 is as
follows:

Exercise Price

Number of
options outstanding

Weighted average
remaining contractual life

Number of
options exercisable

$7.28

340,104

0.845 years

169,215

$13.86

572,729

1.348 years

190,910

$0.39

42,388

8.044 years

42,388

$10.92

955,221

1.466 years

402,513
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28. Executive Compensation Plan, cont’d
The options granted in 2009 and 2010 vest over a period from 12 to 36 months. The fair value of each
option granted was estimated on the date of modification using the Black‐Scholes option pricing
model with the following assumptions to determine the remaining expense:

Risk‐free interest rate
Expected yield
Expected volatility
Expected option life
Exercise price per share option
Weighted average grant‐date fair value per share option

May 2010 Grant

May 2009 Grant

1.66%

1.66%

10.37%

9.12%

26%

25%

1.33‐3.33 years

0.33‐2.33 years

$13.86

$7.28

$0.67

$4.56

Included as part of the consideration paid for the Argus acquisition (Note 6) was options for common
shares of the Company. These options were issued under Realm’s option plan, which was amended
and restated prior to the Argus acquisition, whereby certain existing options for Realm shares were
modified to become options for common shares of the Company. The remaining options for Realm
shares were cancelled. Prior to the modification, there were 11,295 options for Realm shares with an
exercise price of US$1.47 and an expiry date of January 14, 2020. Subsequent to the acquisition, these
were modified to become 42,388 options for common shares of the Company with an exercise price of
$0.39 per share option. These options are fully vested as of June 1, 2011, the acquisition date, and
expire on January 14, 2020. The fair value of the modified share options was less than the fair value of
the Realm share options prior to modification. As a result, the fair value of the options included in the
purchase consideration is that of the Realm share options prior to modification, which was estimated
at $459 on the acquisition date using the Black‐Scholes option pricing model with the following
assumptions:
June 1, 2011
Number of Realm share options

11,295

Risk‐free interest rate

1.58%

Expected yield
Expected volatility
Expected average option life
Exercise price per share option
Fair value per share option
(1)

0%
45%
5.44 years
US$1.47
US$41.81 (1)

The fair value per share option in Canadian Dollars is $40.62.

The volatility is measured based on statistical analysis of the historical daily common share prices
over the life of the options.
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28. Executive Compensation Plan, cont’d
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded compensation expense of $202
related to options granted to employees with a corresponding adjustment to contributed surplus
(Note 25). During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded compensation expense
of $1,841, which was recorded in trade and other payables.
(b) Deferred Performance Plan
The Deferred Performance Plan provides for a notional account, (the “Distribution Account”), equal
to the distributions declared and paid by the Fund in respect of 2,213,668 underlying Units approved
for issuance. Under the terms of the Deferred Performance Plan, the Deferred Performance Plan is
funded if the Fund meets certain performance objectives tied to a range of the Fund’s payout ratio,
which are set annually during the budget process and approved by the Administrators of the
Deferred Performance Plan. On April 1 each year, an amount equal to the Distribution Account for
the prior year will be used to acquire equity. Therefore, the value of the issued securities will be equal
to the value of the Distribution Account. The Administrators may issue these securities in the form of
Fund Units, Altus LP Class B LP units, or a newly created class of non‐voting shares (the
“Non‐Voting Special Shares”) created by Altus Group Limited. Any Fund Units or Altus LP Class B
LP units issued under the Deferred Performance Plan will be issued to the Altus EBT to be held for
two years prior to distribution to any participant who is a continuing employee of the Company. The
units have an exercise price of $Nil. Distributions declared on Fund Units in the ordinary course of
the Fund will be paid to the Altus EBT. It is anticipated that Altus EBT will distribute all of its income
to its beneficiaries on an annual basis after payment of Altus EBT’s expenses. In specified
circumstances, the Fund will repurchase units issued to Altus EBT for nominal consideration. The
Altus EBT is consolidated with the financial statements of the Company as it is considered a special
purpose entity under IFRS. As a result, units issued to the Altus EBT that have not yet vested are
shown as a reduction to unitholders’/shareholders’ equity, classified as treasury units.
During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Trustees of the Altus EBT approved a variation to the vesting
period that permitted units issued for the 2008 Deferred Performance Plan to vest in January 2010
and the units issued for the 2009 Deferred Performance Plan to vest in April 2010. The related
compensation expenses were adjusted at that time to be recorded over the revised vesting periods,
respectively.
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28. Executive Compensation Plan, cont’d
Movements in the units issued as part of the Deferred Performance Plan, as held by the Altus EBT,
are as follows:
Amount
As at January 1, 2010
Additional units issued to the Altus EBT
Units issued to the participant
As at December 31, 2010

99,846
111,580
(211,426)
‐

The units issued as part of the Deferred Performance Plan do not expire, unless the employee leaves
employment with the Company under certain conditions.
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded compensation expense of $3,774 in
relation to the Deferred Performance Plan with a corresponding adjustment to trade and other
payables.
As part of the Corporate Conversion, the Deferred Performance Plan was modified to become settled
in common shares of the Company. As a result, the plan was considered to be an equity‐settled
compensation arrangement and the existing liability of $2,657 as at December 31, 2010 was
reclassified to contributed surplus (Note 25). The Deferred Performance Plan was replaced with the
Equity Compensation Plan and the Altus EBT was wound up. The Equity Compensation Plan is
effective as of January 1, 2011.
(c) Equity Compensation Plan
Under the Equity Compensation Plan, the Company is entitled in its sole discretion to issue to each
participant a portion of his or her annual discretionary bonus in common shares. On each day that a
participant is paid any portion of his or her annual discretionary bonus, the Company may pay a
certain percentage of that portion in cash and issue a number of common shares equal to the
remainder of that portion divided by the volume weighted average closing price of the common
shares on the TSX for the five business days ending on the day prior to such issuance.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company issued 353,767 common shares totalling
$2,657 (Note 23) with respect to the 2010 Deferred Performance Plan with a corresponding
adjustment to contributed surplus (Note 25).
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded compensation expense of $Nil
with respect to the equity compensation plan.
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28. Executive Compensation Plan, cont’d
Cash‐Settled Compensation Arrangement – Directors’ Deferred Share Unit Plan
The Company established a DSU Plan in 2011 whereby members of the Company’s Board of
Directors, who are not management, elect annually to receive all or a portion of their annual retainers
and fees in the form of deferred share units, which are classified as trade and other payables. The
deferred share units vest on the date they are granted and are settled in cash upon termination of
Board service.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company granted 20,216 deferred share units. As at
December 31, 2011, 20,216 deferred share units were outstanding.
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded compensation expense of $71 with
a corresponding credit to trade and other payables. As at December 31, 2011, the carrying value of the
liability recorded within trade and other payables was $71.
29. Earnings (Loss) per Share/Unit
Basic net earnings (loss) per share/unit are calculated by dividing profit (loss) by the weighted
average number of shares/units outstanding during the period.
Diluted net earnings per share/unit includes Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units,
using the “if converted” method. Under the “if‐converted” method, earnings are adjusted for finance
costs associated with these units, and the weighted average number of units is adjusted for the
conversion of the Altus LP limited partnership units. The dilutive effect of stock options is
determined using the treasury stock method. The dilutive effect of contingently issuable shares/units
is determined based on the number of shares/units, if any, that would be issuable if the end of the
reporting period were the end of the contingency period and the contingency has been met. The
contingently issuable shares/units are included in the denominator of diluted earnings (loss) per
share/unit as of the beginning of the year, or as of the date of the contingent unit agreement, if later.
For the purposes of the weighted average number of shares/units outstanding, shares/units are
determined to be outstanding from the date they are issued.
For the year ended December 31, 2011, 955,221 common share options outstanding were excluded
from the diluted earnings (loss) per share as the impact would have been anti‐dilutive. Also,
contingently issuable shares, the Canadian convertible debentures and the US convertible debentures
were excluded from the diluted earnings (loss) per share as the impact would have been anti‐dilutive.
For the year ended December 31, 2010, 2,359,428 Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units,
1,194,747 Fund Unit options outstanding, contingently issuable units, units to be issued under the
Deferred Performance Plan and the Canadian convertible debentures were excluded from the diluted
earnings (loss) per unit calculation as the impact would have been anti‐dilutive.
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29. Earnings (Loss) per Share/Unit, cont’d
The following tables summarize the basic and diluted weighted average number of shares/units
outstanding:
Year ended
December 31, 2011
Weighted average number of common shares – basic and diluted

22,825,917

Year ended
December 31, 2010
Fund Units

17,315,721

Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership units

2,628,102

Weighted average number of units outstanding – basic and diluted

19,943,823

30. Dividends/Distributions
Dividends/distributions are declared in Canadian Dollars. Details of dividends/distributions declared
per share/unit are as follows:
Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Common shares

$0.75

‐

Altus UK LLP Class B and D limited liability partnership units

$0.75

$1.20

Fund Units

‐

$1.20

Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited liability partnership units

‐

$1.20

Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited liability partnership units

‐

$1.20

The Company declared dividends on a quarterly basis to shareholders of record on the last business
day of the quarter with dividends paid on the 15th day of the month following quarter end.
With the exception of monthly and quarterly distributions paid in December 2010, which had a
record date of December 21, 2010 and were paid on December 31, 2010 in order to facilitate the
conversion of the Fund’s income trust structure into a corporation, the timing of distributions was
unchanged as outlined below.
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30. Dividends/Distributions, cont’d
Altus UK LLP declared distributions on a quarterly basis to unitholders of record as of the last
business day of each quarter with distributions paid on the 15th day of the month following the end of
the quarter.
The Company declared distributions on a monthly basis to unitholders of record as of the last
business day of each month with distributions paid on the 15th day of the following month. Altus LP
declared distributions on a monthly basis to the Altus LP Series 1 Class B limited partnership
unitholders of record as of the last business day of each month with distributions paid on the 15th day
of the following month. Altus LP declared distributions on a quarterly basis to the Altus LP Series 2
Class B limited partnership unitholders of record as of the last business day of each quarter with
distributions being paid on the 15th day of the month following quarter end.
31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values
Financial Instruments by Category
The tables below indicate the carrying values of assets and liabilities for each of the following
categories: loans and receivables, fair value through profit or loss, other financial liabilities and
derivatives used for hedging.
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

January 1, 2010

Loans and Receivables Loans and Receivables Loans and Receivables
Assets as per Balance Sheet:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayments and lease
inducements)

6,590

$

97,014
$

103,604

42,627

$

85,792
$

128,419

9,042

73,368
$

82,410
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
December 31, 2011
Fair Value
Through Profit or
Loss

Other Financial
Liabilities at Derivatives Used
Amortized Cost
for Hedging

Total

Liabilities as per Balance Sheet:
Trade and other payables
(excluding lease inducements,
deferred revenue and
contingent consideration
payable)

$

Contingent consideration payable
Borrowings

‐

$

55,219

6,472

‐

$

‐

$

55,219

‐

6,472

‐

223,917

‐

223,917

Derivative financial instruments

1,664

‐

4,425

6,089

Unitholders’ liabilities

1,429

‐

‐

1,429

$

9,565

$

279,136

$

4,425

$

293,126

December 31, 2010
Fair Value
Through Profit or
Loss

Other Financial
Liabilities at Derivatives Used
Amortized Cost
for Hedging

Total

Liabilities as per Balance Sheet:
Trade and other payables
(excluding lease inducements,
deferred revenue and
contingent consideration
payable)

$

Contingent consideration payable
Borrowings
Derivative financial instruments
Unitholders’ liabilities

‐

$

$

‐

$

35,118

6,948

‐

‐

6,948

‐

132,033

‐

132,033

4,634

‐

547

5,181

36,738
$

35,118

48,320

‐
$

167,151

‐
$

547

36,738
$

216,018
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
January 1, 2010
Fair Value
Through Profit or
Loss

Other Financial
Liabilities at Derivatives Used
Amortized Cost
for Hedging

Total

Liabilities as per Balance Sheet:
Trade and other payables
(excluding lease inducements,
deferred revenue and
contingent consideration
payable)

$

Contingent consideration payable

‐

$

34,390

11,717

‐

Borrowings

‐

Derivative financial instruments

‐
34,745

Unitholders’ liabilities
$

46,462

$

$

‐

$

34,390

‐

11,717

70,580

‐

70,580

‐

577

577

‐

‐

34,745

104,970

$

577

$

152,009

Fair Values
Fair value measurements recognized in the balance sheet must be classified in accordance with the
fair value hierarchy established by IAS 39, which reflects the significance of the inputs used in
determining the measurements. The inputs can be either observable or unobservable. Observable
inputs reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability based on
market data obtained from independent sources while unobservable inputs reflect a reporting
entity’s pricing based upon its own market assumptions.
The tables below present financial instruments that are measured at fair value. The different levels in
the hierarchy have been defined as follows:
‐ Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
‐ Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and,
‐ Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
December 31, 2011
Level 1

Level 2

Total

Level 3

Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments

$

Contingent consideration payable
Unitholders’ liabilities

‐

$

6,089

$

‐

$

6,089

‐

‐

6,472

6,472

1,429

‐

‐

1,429

December 31, 2010
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments

$

Contingent consideration payable
Unitholders’ liabilities

‐

$

5,181

$

‐

$

5,181

‐

‐

6,948

6,948

36,738

‐

‐

36,738

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

January 1, 2010
Total

Liabilities:
Derivative financial instruments
Contingent consideration payable
Unitholders’ liabilities

$

‐

$

577

$

‐

$

577

‐

‐

11,717

11,717

34,745

‐

‐

34,745

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.
Unitholders’ liabilities are recorded in Level 1 and are measured at fair value using the quoted
market price of the Company’s own shares.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2. Derivative financial
instruments are recorded in Level 2. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present
value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves. The valuation of
derivative instruments linked to the Canadian convertible debentures are related to quoted market
prices under certain estimated future options.
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in Level 3. Contingent consideration payable is the only instrument recorded as Level 3 as
the amount payable is not based on observable inputs. Contingent consideration is measured using a
discounted cash flow analysis of expected payment in future periods. The discount rates used,
ranging from 9% to 10%, are based on management’s estimate of credit and other risk factors.
Contingent
Consideration Payable
(Discounted)
Balance as at January 1, 2010

$

Contingent arrangements entered during the year

11,717
6,228

Change in expected payment recorded through profit or loss

(12,858)

Unwinding of discount (Note 10)

1,946

Settlements

(480)

Exchange differences
Balance as at December 31, 2010

395
$

Contingent arrangements entered during the year

‐

Change in expected payment recorded through profit or loss

69

Unwinding of discount (Note 10)

652

Settlements

(1,349)

Exchange differences
Balance as at December 31, 2011

6,948

152
$

6,472

A 1% increase or decrease in the discount rate could decrease or increase the Company’s
determination of fair value by approximately $90, respectively.
The estimated, nominal contractual amount of contingent consideration as at December 31, 2011 is
$7,362 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $8,474).
Cash and cash equivalents, trade and receivables (excluding prepayments and lease inducements)
and trade and other payables (excluding lease inducements, deferred revenue and contingent
consideration payable), due within one year, are all short‐term in nature and, as such, their carrying
values approximate fair values. The fair value of non‐current trade and other payables (excluding
lease inducements, deferred revenue and contingent consideration payable) is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the cost of money to the Company, which is equal to
its carrying value.
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
The fair values of the credit facilities and finance lease liabilities approximate their carrying values, as
these instruments bear interest at rates comparable to current market rates. The applicable interest
rates are disclosed in Note 19. The fair value of the Canadian convertible debentures as at December
31, 2011 was approximately $33,750, based on the published trading prices on the Toronto Stock
Exchange. The fair value of the US convertible debentures as at December 31, 2011 was
approximately $48,722, calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at estimated
prevailing interest rates applicable to the Company.
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate
risk, currency risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s overall risk
management program seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial
performance.
The Company does not enter into derivative financial instrument arrangements for speculative
purposes.
(a) Market Risk
Interest rate risk
The Company is exposed to interest rate risk in the event of fluctuations in the Canadian Prime rate,
Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate, US Base rate or LIBOR rate as the interest rates on the Revolving
Operating Facility, Revolving Term Facility and Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility fluctuate
with changes in the Canadian Prime rate, Canadian Bankers’ Acceptance rate, US Base rate or LIBOR
rate.
In order to limit interest rate exposure, the Company has entered into floating‐to‐fixed interest rate
swap agreements associated with its bank credit facilities. These interest rate swaps have the
economic effect of converting borrowings from floating rates to fixed rates. Under the interest rate
swaps, the Company agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference
between fixed contract rates and floating‐rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed
notional amounts. The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts as
at December 31, 2011 were $110,000 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $87,500).
The Company monitors its interest rate exposure and its hedging strategy on an ongoing basis.
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
Fluctuations in applicable interest rates will impact profit or loss. For the year ended December 31, 2011,
every 1% increase or decrease in the applicable Revolving Operating Facility, Revolving Term Facility
and Non‐revolving Reducing Term Facility interest rate results in a corresponding $236 decrease or
increase in the Company’s profit (loss), respectively (year ended December 31, 2010 ‐ $441).
Currency risk
The Company has operations in Canada, US, UK, Australia and in other countries across Asia and,
therefore, has exposure to currency risk. The Canadian operations have an insignificant amount of
foreign denominated monetary assets and liabilities, resulting in minimal exposure. There is,
however, significant exposure to foreign exchange translation risk on the consolidation of the
Company’s foreign subsidiaries. Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated at the
period end exchange rate and, therefore, have different values depending on exchange rate
fluctuations. As provided by the accounting standards adopted, the effects of such variations are
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).
The statement of comprehensive income (loss) of the foreign operations are translated into Canadian
Dollars using the period’s average exchange rate and, accordingly, exchange rate fluctuations impact
revenues and profit or loss, denominated in Canadian Dollars.
The Company monitors its foreign exchange exposure and its hedging strategy on an ongoing basis.
The following table summarizes the effect of a 10% strengthening of the Canadian Dollar on the
Company’s profit (loss) as a result of translating the statement of comprehensive income (loss) of
foreign operations, assuming all other variables remain unchanged:
Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

Currency risk:
US

$

(72)

$

(74)

UK

276

(412)

Australia

702

229

Asia

736

1,143

A 10% weakening of the Canadian Dollar would have an equal but opposite effect on the above
currencies to the amounts shown above, assuming all other variables remain unchanged.
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
Price Risk
The Company is exposed to price risk because the unitholders’ liabilities held by the Company are
classified as fair value through profit or loss, and linked to the price of the Company’s own common
shares. If the market price of the Company’s common shares had increased by 5% with all other
variables held constant, the impact on profit (loss) would be a decrease of $71. A 5% decrease in the
market price of the Company’s common shares would have an equal but opposite effect on profit
(loss), assuming all other variables remain unchanged.
(b) Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk with respect to its cash and cash equivalents and trade and
other receivables, and more specifically its trade receivables. Credit risk is not concentrated with any
particular customer. In certain parts of Asia, it is often common business practice to pay invoices over
an extended period of time and/or at the completion of the project. This practice increases the risk
and likelihood of future bad debts. In addition, the risk of non‐collection of trade receivables is
greater in Asia Pacific compared to North American or European countries. Trade receivables are
monitored on an ongoing basis with respect to their collectability and, where appropriate, a specific
reserve is recorded.
Movement in the Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts is as follows:
Amount
As at January 1, 2010

$

Charges during the year

5,860
2,813

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible

(3,026)

Exchange differences

(72)

As at December 31, 2010

5,575

Charges during the year

6,377

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible

(2,606)

Exchange differences
As at December 31, 2011

7
$

9,353

The creation and release of the allowance for doubtful accounts has been included in office and other
operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income (loss). Amounts charged to the
allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional
cash. As at December 31, 2011, amounts of trade receivables past due which are outstanding over 60
days but not considered impaired are estimated at $2,853 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $4,304; January 1, 2010
‐ $3,329).
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date, assuming no mitigating
factors, is the carrying value of its cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables. The
Company does not hold any collateral as security. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with
high‐quality financial institutions and the Company does not expect any of the counterparties to fail
to meet their obligations.
(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Company manages liquidity risk through the management of its capital structure and
financial leverage. It also manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring actual and projected
cash flows, taking into account the seasonality of the Company’s revenues and receipts and maturity
profile of financial assets and liabilities. The Board of Directors review and approve the Company’s
operating and capital budgets, as well as any material transactions out of the ordinary course of
business, including proposals on mergers, acquisitions or other major investments.
Management believes that funds generated by operating activities and available credit facilities will
allow the Company to satisfy its requirements for purposes of working capital, investment and debt
repayment at maturity.
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based
on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. Derivative
financial liabilities are included in the analysis if their contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
December 31, 2011
Carrying Contractual
amount
cash flows
Trade and other payables
(excluding lease
inducements, deferred
revenue and contingent
consideration payable)
Contingent consideration
payable
Borrowings (excluding
finance lease liabilities
and convertible
debentures)

$

55,219

$

55,221

Less than
1 year

$

52,523

Between
2 and 3
years

$

2,513

Between
4 and 5
years

$

62

Over
5 years

$

123

Total

$

55,221

6,472

7,362

417

6,945

‐

‐

7,362

133,782

133,871

9,162

16,148

108,427

134

133,871

94,205

100,418

‐

50,418

‐

50,000

100,418

Finance lease liabilities

301

328

210

118

‐

‐

328

Derivative financial
instruments – interest
rate swaps

6,089

26,502

7,034

14,068

5,400

‐

26,502

Unitholders’ liabilities

1,429

1,429

‐

‐

‐

1,429

1,429

Convertible debentures

(1)

(1)

Includes both the Canadian and US convertible debentures.
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31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
December 31, 2010
Carrying Contractual
amount
cash flows
Trade and other payables
(excluding lease
inducements, deferred
revenue, contingent
consideration payable
and share‐based
payments (1))
Contingent consideration
payable
Borrowings (excluding
finance lease liabilities
and convertible
debentures)
Convertible debentures (2)
Finance lease liabilities
Derivative financial
instruments – interest
rate swaps
Unitholders’ liabilities
(1)

(2)

$

30,784
6,948

$

30,854

Less than
1 year

$

30,387

Between
2 and 3
years

$

338

Between
4 and 5
years

$

49

Over
5 years

$

80
‐

Total

$

30,854
8,474

8,474

1,262

7,212

‐

88,615

90,462

227

89,921

122

192

90,462

43,019

50,000

‐

‐

‐

50,000

50,000

399

426

264

162

‐

‐

426

547

17,862

3,373

7,905

6,584

‐

17,862

36,738

36,738

‐

‐

‐

36,738

36,738

As discussed in Note 3, prior to the Corporate Conversion, obligations to deliver units in settlement of the Unit Option
Plan and Deferred Performance Plan were recorded as liabilities within trade and other payables. As these liabilities were
reclassified to contributed surplus on January 1, 2011, they have been excluded above.
Includes the Canadian convertible debentures.

154

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
31. Financial Instruments and Fair Values, cont’d
January 1, 2010
Carrying Contractual
amount
cash flows
Trade and other payables
(excluding lease
inducements, deferred
revenue, contingent
consideration payable
and share‐based
payments (1))

$

31,646

$

31,709

Less than
1 year

$

30,060

Between
2 and 3
years

$

1,539

Between
4 and 5
years

$

42

Over
5 years

$

68

Total

$

31,709

Contingent consideration
payable

11,717

14,537

1,438

13,099

‐

‐

14,537

Borrowings (excluding
finance lease liabilities)

70,029

72,334

226

71,742

116

250

72,334

Finance lease liabilities

551

596

249

347

‐

‐

596

Derivative financial
instruments – interest
rate swaps

577

1,016

745

271

‐

‐

1,016

34,745

34,745

‐

‐

‐

34,745

34,745

Unitholders’ liabilities
(1)

As discussed in Note 3, prior to the Corporate Conversion, obligations to deliver units in settlement of the Unit Option
Plan and Deferred Performance Plan were recorded as liabilities within trade and other payables. As these liabilities were
reclassified to contributed surplus on January 1, 2011, they have been excluded above.

32. Capital Management
The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure that adequate resources are available to
fund organic growth and to enable it to undertake strategic acquisitions while continuing as a going
concern. The Company’s capital is composed of net‐debt, unitholders’ liabilities and
shareholders’/unitholders’ equity.
Operating cash flows are used to provide sustainable cash dividends/distributions to
shareholders/unitholders and fund capital expenditures in support of organic growth. In addition,
operating cash flows, supplemented throughout the year with the Revolving Operating Facility, are
used to fund working capital requirements.
The Revolving Term Facility and equity are used to finance controlling interest in strategic
acquisitions. Additionally, vendors of acquired businesses are required to receive a portion of the
purchase price in equity in the acquiring operating entities of Altus.
Unitholders’ liabilities relates to the UK LLP Class B and D limited liability partnership units and the
Altus LP Series 2 Class B limited partnership units (prior to the Corporate Conversion).
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32. Capital Management, cont’d
The Company’s capitalization is summarized in the following chart:
December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010
Borrowings (Note 19)

$

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 12)
Net‐debt
Unitholders’ liabilities (Note 22)
Shareholders’/unitholders’ equity
Total capitalization

$

223,917

$

132,033

January 1, 2010
$

70,580

6,590

42,627

9,042

217,327

89,406

61,538

1,429

36,738

34,745

150,993

142,365

169,706

369,749

$

268,509

$

265,989

The Company monitors certain ratios in line with its credit facilities agreement. The financial
covenant limits are summarized below:




Funded debt to EBITDA ratio: maximum of 3.35:1, reduced over the term of the agreement to
2.75:1 for the quarter ending December 31, 2012 and subsequent periods
Minimum fixed charge coverage ratio: minimum of 1.20:1
Maximum funded debt to capitalization ratio: maximum of 55%

After December 31, 2012, the agreement permits a maximum funded debt to EBITDA ratio of 3.00:1
for two consecutive quarters should funded debt increase due to a draw–down of the Revolving
Term Facility.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company is in compliance with the financial covenants of the credit
facilities as illustrated below:
December 31, 2011
Funded debt (1) to EBITDA (maximum 3.35:1)

2.94:1

Minimum fixed charge coverage ratio (minimum 1.20:1)

2.51:1

Maximum funded debt to capitalization ratio (maximum 55%)
(1)

42%

Funded debt includes total borrowings, excluding deferred financing fees and the Canadian and US convertible
debentures, less cash and cash equivalents on hand to a maximum of $5,000.

156

Altus Group Limited
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2011 and 2010
(Expressed in Thousands of Dollars, Except for Shares/Units and Per Share/Unit Amounts)
33. Commitments and Contingencies
The Company leases various offices and equipment under non‐cancellable operating lease
agreements. The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non‐cancellable operating leases
are as follows:
December 31, 2011
No later than 1 year

$

$

24,141

Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years
$

51,819

7,104
18,154

17,502

Later than 5 years
Total

10,176

December 31, 2010

18,939
$

44,197

The future aggregate minimum sublease payments to be received under non‐cancellable subleases as
at December 31, 2011 was $3,257 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $1,219).
As at December 31, 2011, the Company provided letters of credit of approximately $877 to its lessors
(December 31, 2010 ‐ $266 to its lessors).
From time to time, the Company or its subsidiaries are involved in legal proceedings, claims and
litigation in the ordinary course of business with customers, former employees and other parties.
Although it is not possible to determine the outcome of such matters, based on all currently available
information, management believes that liabilities, if any, arising from pending litigation will not have
a material adverse effect on the financial position or results of operation of the Company, other than
those that have been accrued in the consolidated financial statements (Note 21).
34. Related Party Transactions
The Company had the following transactions with related parties during the period, which were in
the normal course of operations and measured at the exchange amount.
Year ended
December 31, 2010

Year ended
December 31, 2011
Rent remitted to entities controlled by employee shareholders

$

475

$

501

The Company entered into a consulting agreement with the principals of one of the original entities,
Altus Québec, pursuant to which the principals agreed to provide consulting services for a period of
10 years in respect of certain information technology developed by the principals and acquired by the
Company on May 19, 2005. In consideration for providing the consulting services, the principals are
entitled to a fee, payable only to the extent that earnings exceed certain thresholds. A total of $347 was
payable in respect of the year ended December 31, 2011 (year ended December 31, 2010 ‐ $151).
Included in trade and other payables as at December 31, 2011 was $304 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $151;
January 1, 2010 ‐ $Nil).
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34. Related Party Transactions, cont’d
The Company entered into a consulting agreement with the former owner of the business assets of
InSite Real Estate Information Systems Inc. (“Altus InSite”) pursuant to which the former owner
agreed to provide certain services, related to the business of Altus InSite, for a period of six years. The
agreement provides that the former owner will be reimbursed, with no mark‐up, for all reasonable
third‐party costs incurred in connection with the provision of the services. In consideration for
providing the services, the former owner is entitled to a fee in years two through six of the agreement.
The fee is payable only to the extent that earnings exceed certain thresholds. $432 was payable in
respect of the year ended December 31, 2011 (year ended December 31, 2010 – $Nil). Included in trade
and other payables as at December 31, 2011 was $432 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $Nil; January 1, 2010 ‐
$Nil).
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded expenses of $522, as per the
Referral and Services Agreement between Altus Residential Limited and Real Matters (year ended
December 31, 2010 ‐ $394). As part of the Referral and Services Agreement, the Company has paid a
sales and account management fee of $3,500 with respect to services to be performed over the 20 year
agreement ending April 2029. This amount has been included with trade and other receivables and is
being amortized on a straight‐line basis over the term of the contract. Included in trade and other
payables was $174 as at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $153; January 1, 2010 ‐ $48). Included
in trade and other receivables was $221 as at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 ‐ $123; January 1,
2010 ‐ $75).
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded revenues of $16 for appraisal
services provided to Real Matters (year ended December 31, 2010 ‐ $41).
During the three months ended June 30, 2011, the Company exercised its option to convert the $1,000
convertible note receivable issued by Real Matters into common shares of Real Matters at the
predetermined price of $1.7848 per share.
Key Management Compensation
Key management includes the Board of Directors, officers and business unit presidents. The
compensation paid or payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

Salaries and other short‐term employee benefits

Year ended
December 31, 2011

Year ended
December 31, 2010

$

$

Termination benefits
Share‐based payments
Other long‐term benefits
$

6,483

6,541

5,536

‐

226

‐

‐

1,771

12,245

$

8,312
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34. Related Party Transactions, cont’d
Controlled Entities
Altus Group Limited is the ultimate parent company. The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and the subsidiaries listed in the following table:
Entity’s Name

December 31, 2011

Entities directly or indirectly controlled by Altus Group Limited:
Altus Geomatics Limited Partnership
Altus Geomatics General Partner Corporation

100%
(1)

Altus Group Asia Pacific Limited

49%
100%

Altus Residential Limited

100%

Altus Group U.S. Inc.

100%

Altus Group Advisory Services Limited

100%

Altus Group (UK) Limited

100%

2262070 Ontario Limited

100%

Altus Group Latin America Inc.

100%

Altus Group (Ireland) Professional Consulting Limited

100%

Entities directly or indirectly controlled by Altus Group Asia Pacific Limited:
Altus Group (Vietnam) Limited

100%

Altus Group (India) Limited

99.9%

(2)

Altus Group (Singapore) Private Limited
Altus Egypt LLC

(3)

100%
85%

Altus Group (Hong Kong) Limited

100%

Altus Construction Consultancy (Shanghai) Limited

100%

Altus Group Consulting (Thailand) Company Limited (4)

99.96%

Altus Group Management Holdings (Thailand) Company Limited (4)

99.96%

Altus Group Services (Thailand) Company Limited

100%

Altus Group Construction Professionals (Thailand) Company Limited

100%

Altus Group Australia Pty Limited

100%

Altus Group (ACT) Pty Limited

100%

Altus Group Consulting Pty Limited

100%

Page Kirkland Queensland Pty Limited

100%

Altus Group Cost Management Pty Limited
Altus Page Kirkland Dubai Partnership (5)

100%
99.99%
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34. Related Party Transactions, cont’d
Entity’s Name

December 31, 2011

Entities directly or indirectly controlled by Altus Group U.S. Inc.:
Physical Planning Technologies Ltd.

100%

Altus Group (Hawaii) Inc.

100%

Altus Group ULC

100%

Altus Group LLC

100%

Realm Solutions Inc.

100%

Argus Software Inc.

100%

Realm International Holdings, Inc.

100%

Argus Software (Asia) Pte. Ltd.

100%

Circle Software Acquisition Limited

100%

Argus Software (UK) Limited

100%

Circle Software International Limited

100%

Argus Software (Canada) Inc.

100%

Argus Software (Oceanic) Pty Ltd.

100%

Argus Software (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

100%

Entities controlled by Altus Group (UK) Limited:
Altus UK LLP

100%

Altus Group (UK2) Limited

100%

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Two land surveyors, who are employees of Altus Geomatics Limited Partnership and registered with Land Surveyor’s
Association (Alberta), own 51% of the remaining shares.
Altus Group Limited owns 0.1% of the remaining shares.
An Egyptian national owns 15% of the remaining shares.
Each of Altus Group Limited and 2262070 Ontario Limited own 0.02% of the remaining shares.
Page Kirkland Pty Limited owns 0.01% of the remaining shares.

Altus Group Tax Consulting Paralegal Professional Corporation, Altus Geomatics (Manitoba)
Professional Land Surveyors and Altus Geomatics Land Surveying BC Limited are special purpose
entities and have been consolidated in the Company’s financial statements.
Altus Group Limited also owns a 24.16% equity interest in Real Matters Inc.
35. Events After the Reporting Period
The December 31, 2011 consolidated financial statements of the Company were approved by the
Board of Directors on March 14, 2012.
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